

Reconstitution of the Final Step of Peptidoglycan Assembly in Staphylococcus aureus

Citation

Qiao, Yuan. 2016. Reconstitution of the Final Step of Peptidoglycan Assembly in Staphylococcus aureus. Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University, Graduate School of Arts & Sciences.

Permanent link

http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:33493392

Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#LAA

Share Your Story

The Harvard community has made this article openly available. Please share how this access benefits you. <u>Submit a story</u>.

Accessibility

Reconstitution of the Final Step of Peptidoglycan Assembly in Staphylococcus aureus

A dissertation presented

by

Yuan Qiao

to

The Committee on Higher Degrees in Chemical Biology

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in the subject of

Chemical Biology

Harvard University

Cambridge, Massachusetts

April 2016

© 2016 – Yuan Qiao All rights reserved.

Reconstitution of the Final Step of Peptidoglycan Assembly in *Staphylococcus aureus* Abstract

Bacterial peptidoglycan (PG) is an exoskeleton structure that maintains cell shape and protects cells from lysis. Peptidoglycan is essential in bacteria but is not found in mammalian cells. Therefore, it is the target for several classes of antibiotics, including the beta-lactam family. Beta-lactams target the transpeptidase (TP) domain of penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs), the enzymes responsible for the final step of peptidoglycan biosynthesis. Mutations of transpeptidases in *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) have been implicated in beta-lactam resistance in the clinic (commonly known as MRSA infections). Despite the fact that PBPs are important antibiotic targets, there have been no direct assays to monitor their enzymatic activity, primarily due to inaccessibility to appropriate substrates. The PG precursor, Lipid II, is required to study transpeptidase activity. Lipid II contains a glycopeptide attached to a pyrophosphate lipid containing 55 carbons. It has poor physical properties and is present in low abundance in bacteria.

This thesis describes the reconstitution of peptidoglycan assembly in *Staphylococcus aureus* by the essential Class A PBP, PBP2. This was enabled by several key advances, which are also described. The first advance is the discovery that PBP4, a low-molecular weight PBP in *S. aureus*, can use a Lipid II analogue as a transpeptidation substrate. It can incorporate biotin-D-Lys (BDL) and other non-canonical D-amino acids into the terminal position of the stem peptide in Lipid II. BDL labeling of Lipid II with *S. aureus* PBP4 has enabled the second advance: the direct detection of native Lipid II extracted from bacteria. This has facilitated elucidation of

iii

cellular mechanisms of antibiotics that target cell wall biosynthesis. The third advance is a general strategy to accumulate and isolate native Lipid II in bacteria in useful quantities. Access to substantial quantities of native *S. aureus* Lipid II has enabled reconstitution of PBP2 transpeptidase activity, as well as characterization of several beta-lactam antibiotics by monitoring enzymatic inhibition.

In sum, this work establishes important tools for studying enzymatic mechanisms of bacterial transpeptidases and for characterizing inhibitors that target bacterial peptidoglycan biosynthesis.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Table of contents	v
List of Figures	viii
List of Table	xii
List of Schemes	xii
Glossary of Abbreviations	xiii
Acknowledgements	XV

Chapter One: Introduction to peptidoglycan biosynthesis in *Staphylococcus aureus*

1.1 Penicillin, the wonder drug	2
1.2 The bacterial cell wall pathway1.2.1 Formation of the Park nucleotide1.2.2 Formation of the lipid-linked intermediates1.2.3 Peptidoglycan (PG) assembly	3 5 7 13
1.3 The cellular roles of S. aureus penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs)	17
 1.4 Resistance in methicillin-resistant <i>S. aureus</i> (MRSA) 1.4.1 An acquired resistant PBP, PBP2a in MRSA 1.4.2 Factors influencing methicillin resistance 1.4.3 Chemical genetic approaches to combat MRSA 	22 22 25 27
 1.5 Lipid II is required for enzymatic studies of PBPs 1.5.1 Current approaches of Lipid II preparation 1.5.2 Mechanistic insights into peptidoglycan glycosyltransferase (PGT) activities 1.5.3 Existing knowledge on PBP transpeptidase (TP) activities 	27 28 32 35
1.6 Perspectives	36
1.7 References	38

Chapter Two: Exploiting the transpeptidase activity of PBP4 to detect peptidoglycan precursors in cells and to elucidate the mechanism of antibiotics that target cell wall biosynthesis

2.1 Introduction	59
2.1.1 S. aureus PBP4, a peculiar PBP	59
2.1.2 Challenges with studying the cellular pools of Lipid II in bacteria	62
2.2 Purification and characterization of S. aureus PBP4	64
2.3 Assessment of S. aureus PBP4 in vitro activity	65
2.4 Assessment of S. aureus PBP4 in vivo activity	67
2.5 Analysis of S. aureus PBP4 substrate specificity in vitro	69

2.6 Detection of the cellular levels of Lipid II in bacteria	73
2.7 Elucidation of the cellular mechanism of action for lysobactin	75
2.8 Conclusion	77
2.9 Materials and Methods	
2.9.1 Materials	79
2.9.2 General methods	80
2.9.3 Plasmid construction	80
2.9.4 Overexpression and purification of S. aureus PBP4 and mutant	81
2.9.5 Bocillin-FL binding assay	82
2.9.6 LC/MS protocol for muropeptide analysis	82
2.9.7 Microscopy imaging analysis	84
2.9.8 Preparation of BDL probe	84
2.9.9 Incorporation of functionalized D-amino acids into Lipid I and Lipid II	84
2.9.10 Western blot detection of BDL-Lipid II in vitro	86
2.9.11 Extraction of cellular lipid-linked PG precursors and Western blot detection	86
2.10 References	88
Chapter Three: Properties of native Stankylococcus aurous Linid II	
Chapter Three. Treparation of harve Stuphylococcus unreus Lipid II	
3.1 Introduction	97
3.2 Chemical synthesis of S. aureus Lipid II	
3.2.1 Synthesis of stem pentapeptide containing variable glycine branches	99
3.2.2 Coupling reactions to make Lipid I and Lipid II variants	104
3.3. A facile method to obtain native <i>S aureus</i> Lipid II	106
3.3.1 Estimation of <i>S. aureus</i> Lipid II quantity	111
3.4 A general approach to obtain bacterial Linid II	112
	112
3.5 Conclusion	114
3.6 Materials and Methods	
3.6.1 Experimental details of synthesis	115
3.6.2 Small-scale extraction of S. aureus Lipid II	130
3.6.3 Large-scale extraction of S. aureus Lipid II	131
3.6.4 Thin layer chromatography analysis of phospholipids	132
3.6.5 Western blot analysis of BDL-labeled Lipid II	133
3.6.6 LC/MS analysis of delipidated S. aureus Lipid II	133
3.6.7 Quantifications of delipidated S. aureus Lipid II	134
3.7 References	135

Chapter Four: Reconstitution of peptidoglycan assembly by Staphylococcus aureus PBP2

4.1 Introduction	139
4.1.1 PBP2 is the essential Class A PBP in S. aureus	139
4.1.2 Traditional competition binding assays to study beta-lactams	142

4.2 Purification of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2	143
4.3 Reconstitution of the PGT and TP activities of S. aureus PBP2	145
4.4 Assessing the inhibitory effects of beta-lactams	148
4.5 Investigating the substrate specificity of S. aureus PBP2	151
4.6 Conclusion and future studies	152
 4.7 Materials and methods 4.7.1 General methods 4.7.2 Cloning of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2[M59-S716] and mutants 4.7.3 Overexpression and purification of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2 and mutants 4.7.4 LC/MS assay analysis of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2 activity <i>in vitro</i> 4.7.5 Degradation of isolated <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2 TP activity 4.7.6 Western blot analysis of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2 TP activity 4.7.7 Studies on beta-lactam inhibition of PBP2 TP activity 	154 154 155 156 157 158 159
4.8 References	160
Appendix One: Mass spectrometry (MS) analysis for studies in Chapter Two	164
Appendix Two: NMR and MS data for compounds in Chapter Three	170
Appendix Three: MS data and Western blot analysis for studies in Chapter Four	192

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. General structure of the penicillin family of antibiotics.	2
Figure 1.2. Structure of the Park nucleotide in S. aureus.	6
Figure 1.3. Structure of Lipid I and Lipid II intermediates identified in the	
cell-free system using the particulate enzymes from S. aureus.	8
Figure 1.4. The complete Lipid II structure in S. aureus.	11
Figure 1.5. Schematic showing pepetidoglycan (PG) biosynthesis in S. aureus.	15
Figure 1.6. The proposed mechanisms of transpeptidation (and hydrolysis) by PBPs	
and penicillin inhibition.	16
Figure 1.7. Beta-lactams show selective binding to S. aureus PBPs.	18
Figure 1.8. An allosteric regulation of S. aureus PBP2a activity is proposed.	25
Figure 1.9. The synthetic route to make Lipid I by Tsukamoto and Kahne.	30
Figure 2.1. Schematic of carboxypeptidase and transpeptidase activities	
in S. aureus PG assembly and Lipid II substrates.	60
Figure 2.2. Protein sequence alignments of representative LMW PBPs.	61
Figure 2.3. S. aureus PBP4 protein is purified to homogenity.	65
Figure 2.4. S. aureus PBP4 demonstrates TP activity in vitro.	67
Figure 2.5. S. aureus PBP4 has TP activity in vivo.	68
Figure 2.6. S. aureus PBP4 exhibits promiscuous TP activity in vitro.	70
Figure 2.7. LC/MS analysis of S. aureus PBP4-mediated D-amino acid exchange	
in Lipid II.	72
Figure 2.8. Schematic showing the versatility of PBP4 TP activity.	73
Figure 2.9. S. aureus PBP4 enables a simple assay to detect cellular Lipid II in bacteria.	75

Figure 2.10. Lysobactin treatment accumulates Lipid II in S. aureus.	77
Figure 3.1. Moenomcyin treatment accumulates Lipid II by 10-fold in <i>S. aureus</i> .	108
Figure 3.2. Preparative quantities of the native S. aureus Lipid II can be obtained via	
a two-step accumulation and extraction procedure.	109
Figure 3.3. Structural confirmation of isolated S. aureus Lipid II.	111
Figure 3.4. Structures of deplidated Lipid II species.	112
Figure 3.5. Structures of Lipid II species isolated from different bacteria.	114
Figure 4.1. Schematic depiction of S. aureus PG biosynthetic pathway.	140
Figure 4.2. Purification of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2[M59-S716] construct and mutants.	144
Figure 4.3. S. aureus PBP2 uses native Lipid II to make cross-linked PG in vitro.	146
Figure 4.4. Beta-lactams inhibit S. aureus PBP2 TP activity.	150
Figure 4.5. S. aureus PBP2 demonstrates substrate specificity in transpeptidation.	152
Figure App1.1. S. aureus PBP4 shows TP activitiy in vitro.	165
Figure App1.2. S. aureus PBP4 shows TP activitiy in vitro.	166
Figure App1.3. Analysis of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP4 activities at varying concentrations of D-Ty nucelophile.	r 167
Figure App1.4. S. aureus PBP4 efficiently incorproate D-amino acids into	
<i>m</i> -Dap-Lipid II and Lys-Lipid II <i>in vitro</i> .	168
Figure App1.5. S. aureus PBP4 incorporates functionalized D-amino acids into	
Lys-Lipid I and Lys-Lipid II in vitro.	169
Figure App2.1. ¹ H NMR of Boc-L-Ala-D- <i>iso</i> Gln-OH.	171
Figure App2.2. ¹ H NMR and LRMS of Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-	
D-Ala-OMe (1).	172
Figure App2.3. ¹ H NMR and LRMS of Boc-L-Ala-D- <i>iso</i> Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-	

D-Ala-OMe (3).	173
Figure App2.4. ¹ H NMR and LRMS of Boc-L-Ala-D- <i>iso</i> Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-	
D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (4).	174
Figure App2.5. ¹ H NMR and LRMS of Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-	
TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (5).	175
Figure App2.6. ¹ H NMR and LRMS of Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-	
Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (6).	176
Figure App2.7. ¹ H NMR and LRMS of Boc-L-Ala-D- <i>iso</i> Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-	
Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (7).	177
Figure App2.8. ¹ H NMR and LRMS of Cbz-D- <i>iso</i> Gln(Trt)-OH.	178
Figure App2.9. ¹ H NMR of Boc-L-Ala-D- <i>iso</i> Gln(Trt)-L-Lys(-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-	
OMe (9).	179
Figure App2.10. ¹ H NMR and LMRS of Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-NH ₂)-	
D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (10).	180
Figure App2.11. ¹ H NMR and LMRS of Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-	
D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (11).	181
Figure App2.12. LRMS of protected Gly-Lipid I.	182
Figure App2.13. LRMS of Gly-Lipid I (12).	182
Figure App2.14. HRMS of Gly-Lipid I (12).	183
Figure App2.15. LRMS of protected Gly ₃ -Lipid I.	184
Figure App2.16. LRMS of Gly ₃ -Lipid I (13).	184
Figure App2.17. HRMS of Gly ₃ -Lipid I (13).	185
Figure App2.18. LRMS of protected Gly ₅ -Lipid I (14).	186
Figure App2.19. HRMS of Gly-Lipid II (15).	187

Figure App2.20. HRMS of Gly ₃ -Lipid II (16).	188
Figure App2.21. LC/MS/MS of delipidated S. aureus Lipid II.	189
Figure App2.22. Estimation of the amount of <i>S. aureus</i> Lipid II isolated from cells.	190
Figure App2.23. LC/MS analysis of delipidated Lipid II from different bacteria.	191
Figure App3.1. The TP domain of <i>S. aureus</i> PBP2 is responsible for PG cross-linking.	193
Figure App3.2. Beta-lactams inhibit S. aureus PBP2 TP activity in vitro.	194

List of Table

21

 Table 1.1. Classification of PBPs in S. aureus.

List of Schemes	
Scheme 3.1. Synthetic route of Gly_1 -pentapeptide (3), Gly_3 -pentapeptide (5),	
Gly ₅ -pentapeptide (7).	102
Scheme 3.2. Alternative routes attempted to avoid complication by the carboxamide	
in the stem pentapeptide.	104
Scheme 3.3. The general reaction sequence to afford Lipid I and Lipid II variants.	106

Glossary of Abbreviations

6-APA	6-aminopeicillanic acid
Ala	alanine
Bac	bacitracin
BDL	biotinylated-D-lysine
Bo-FL	Bocillin-FL
C35	heptaprenyl
C55	undecaprenyl
ACN	acetonitrile
CDI	1,1-carbonyldiimidazole
CHAPS	3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate
СР	carboxypeptidase
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DMTMM	dimethoxytriazine-N-methylmorpholinium chloride
ECA	enterobacterial common antigen
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FDL	fluorescent-D-lysine
Fos	fosfomycin
Gal	galactose
GlcNAc	N-acetyl-glucosamine
Gln	glutamine
Glu	glutamic acid

Gly	glycine
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
His	histidine
HMW	high-molecular weight
HPLC	high pressure liquid chromatography
Kan	kanamycin
LC/MS	liquid chromatography mass spectrometry
LDAO	N,N-dimethyldodecylamine N-oxide
LMW	low-molecular weight
LPII	Lipid II
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LTA	lipoteichoic acid
Lys	lysine
Lyso	lysobactin
<i>m</i> -Dap	meso-diaminopimelic acid
MmA	moenomycin
MS	mass spectrometry
MS/MS	tandem mass spectrometry
MurNAc	N-acetyl-muramic acid
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
PBP	penicillin-binding protein
penG	penicillin G
PEP	phosphoenolpyruvate

PG	peptidoglycan
PGT	peptidoglycan glycosyltransferase
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
Tar	targocil
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid
TLC	thin layer chromatography
ТМ	transmembrane
TP	transpeptidase
Tris	tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
UDP	uridine diphosphate
UnP	undecaprenyl phosphate
Vanco	vancomycin
wt	wildtype
WTA	wall teichoic acid

Acknowledgements

Looking back, I feel graduate school has been a swift five-year journey, although there were moments that it had felt like never-ending. I am thankful to a lot of people who have helped me in various ways on this journey. I am very fortunate to have Dan Kahne and Suzanne Walker as my advisors, who have helped me grow as a scientist over the years but also truly care about us on a personal level. From every conversation with them, no matter short or long, I can always gain great insights into my projects, and more often than not, I receive some words of wisdom on life and marriage as well! Dan and Suzanne have always been a source of inspiration for me. I admire their passion and enthusiasm in scientific pursuits, their optimistic and open-minded attitude towards challenges, and even their commitments to daily workout amid the busy schedule.

My committee members, JoAnne Stubbe and Emily Balskus, have provided invaluable advice during my PhD. I have always enjoyed my annual committee meeting with them; our discussions have always challenged me to think about my research in greater depth and breadth. I see both of them as my female scientist role models.

There are also many people in the Kahne and Walker labs I need to acknowledge. Tania Lupoli and Matthew Lebar were my two awesome mentors as I began graduate school. Tania taught me a lot about biochemistry, while Matt was my go-to person for any synthesis problems. Their cheerfulness and good humor were very contagious. Both of their work has laid important foundations for my projects. Early on, Yuriy Rebets helped me with protein purifications to get me started with my projects. Kathrin Schirner offered invaluable help on the PBP4 project and made a head start on a key experiment. I would also like to thank Christian Gampe, from whom I

xvi

inherited the drug discovery project. Our short business trip together to Germany (Christian's home country) and England had strengthened our friendship.

For the most time in graduate school, I have been working closely with Katie Schaefer, Jeep Veerasak Srisuknimit, Wonsik Lee, Fred Rubino, and Jonathan Cheng in the cell wall subgroup in the Kahne and Walker labs. Katie and I got to know each other really well through many collaborations. It is always a pleasure to talk to her (about anything)! Jeep has been a great help with my project, his keen observation has opened up new directions for our research. Fred's meticulousness and thoughtfulness in research has never ceased to amaze me. Wonsik and Jonathan (a former postdoc) in the Walker lab have made important contributions to the subgroup and are fun to work with. Alan Yang and Akeem Pinnock, who worked with Jeep and I over the past summer, had not only contributed to the progress regarding the PBP2 project, but also imparted youthful enthusiasms that are much needed in lab. I also appreciate the hard work of Helen Correiro and Mike Quinn for making sure the lab runs smoothly every day.

Last but not least, I want to thank my family for their unconditioned love and support. My husband, Xian Wang, has supported me in every way possible in my graduate school journey as well as our marriage journey together. He cheers me up and listens to me. My parents, although far away in China, have never failed to make me feel their presence and love over the years. I could not have made this far without the selfless and supportive parents that I have.

xvii

Chapter One: Introduction to peptidoglycan biosynthesis in Staphylococcus aureus

1.1 Penicillin, the wonder drug

The story of penicillin discovery is not an unfamiliar one. In 1928, Alexander Fleming made a serendipitous observation that a *penicllium* mold contamination on a petri dish containing Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) inhibited the growth of the bacteria.^{1,2} The term, penicillin, was thus coined for the antibacterial substance produced by the *penicillium* mold.³ Subsequent work by Howard Florey, Ernst Chain^a and Norman Heatley contributed to the extraction and purification of penicillin from mold culture for systematic application.⁴ Despite a lack of knowledge on its structure and mechanism of action at the time, penicillin's phenomenal antibacterial activity had been realized and harnessed by the 1940s, leading to its medicinal use as an important class of antibiotics in man.^{5,6} The expeditious development of penicillin deemed extremely beneficial in those days when bacterial infection was the leading cause of deaths in the general population. Juxtaposed with the World War II, penicillin, produced in large quantities by several pharmaceutical companies in the United States, made an indelible mark in human history by saving lives of numerous people that were afflicted with wound infections in the battlefield. ^{1,7} The enormous demand of the antibiotic culminated during the war and led to a staggering annual production of penicillin of over 600 billion units per month.^{8b} Penicillin has revolutionized modern medicine.



Figure 1.1. General structure of the penicillin family of antibiotics.

^a Together with Fleming, Florey and Chain shared the Nobel Prize in Medicine in 1945 for the discovery of penicillin and its curative effect in various infectious diseases.

^b One unit is equivalent to 0.6 µg of penicillin.

Shortly after the widespread use of penicillin in the general public, the chemical structure of penicillin was determined in 1945,^{9,10} which in turn greatly facilitated the chemical syntheses of penicillin and its derivatives for activity optimization (Figure 1.1).¹¹ Semi-synthetic approaches making use of the natural precursor, 6-aminopenicillanic acid (6-APA), were also widely used to prepare diverse beta-lactam structures.¹²⁻¹⁴ Penicillin is the founding member of the beta-lactam family, which represents the oldest yet the most successful class of antibiotics in history. Currently, beta-lactam drugs comprise more than half of the commercially available antibiotics in the market.¹⁵

1.2 The bacterial cell wall pathway

In addition to its glory as a miracle drug, penicillin has been a successful chemical probe in illuminating our understanding of bacterial physiology. In the extended efforts to understand the mechanism of penicillin, the cell wall biosynthesis--- a major metabolic pathway in bacteria was elucidated. In 1940, Gardner A. D. first noticed the striking morphological changes in a variety of bacteria when grown in dilute concentrations of penicillin.¹⁶ Rod-shaped bacteria such as *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) became filamentous and grotesquely swollen, while *S. aureus* cells became spherically enlarged.^{17,18} Such swelling and bulging in bacteria as a result of penicillin treatment led Duguid J. P. (1946) to predict that penicillin disrupts the formation of a cell surface structure that supports the cell,¹⁹ even before the identification of the bacterial cell wall. In addition, the site of action of penicillin in bacteria was proposed to be on the cytoplasmic membrane, since exposing bacteria to radioactive penicillin resulted in strongly radiolabeled membranes.²⁰⁻²²

With the development of electron microscopic techniques in the 1940s, bacterial cell wall was shown as an encasing structure outside of the cytoplasmic membrane in bacteria.²³⁻²⁵ Based on the observations that the isolated cell wall maintained bacterial shape, and that bacteria became spherical protoplasts after lysozyme^c treatment in hypertonic sucrose solution, it was proposed that the bacterial cell wall is a rigid structure protecting the cell from rapturing under the high internal osmotic pressure.²⁶⁻²⁹ In Gram-positive bacteria such as *S. aureus*, the cell wall is considerably thicker (~20 nm),³⁰ while Gram-negative bacteria have a much thinner cell wall (5 nm) in the periplasmic space.³¹ Analysis of the cell wall composition revealed unusual features such as D-amino acids and N-acetyl-muramic acids (MurNAc), which were not observed in other metabolic processes in bacteria.³² In general, the cell wall, also referred to as peptidoglycan (PG), is composed of glycan strands made of alternating N-acetyl-glucosamine (GlcNAc) and N-acetyl-muramic acid (MurNAc) units, with a stem peptide attached on each MurNAc residue.³³ The identity of the peptide moiety varies in each organism.³¹ In *S. aureus* cell wall, the stem peptides (L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala) from adjacent glycan polymers are cross-linked via a pentaglycine bridge.³³ The cross-link is a peptide bond formed between the amino terminus of the pentaglycine branch on one stem peptide to the carboxylate end of the penultimate D-Ala residue on another. The cross-links impart strengths to PG as a protective layer. In S. aureus and other Gram-positive species, PG also serves as a scaffold for covalent attachment of cell surface oligosaccharide polymers such as wall teichoic acids (WTAs) and capsular polysaccharides, as well as a number of proteins.³⁴

The biosynthesis of PG is a multi-step process. Much of our understanding of the reaction sequence in the pathway was revealed in conjunction with studies on penicillin's mechanism of

^c Lysozyme, another significant discovery of Alexander Fleming, is a substance found in human body fluids that acts as a glycosidase to kill bacteria by hydrolyzing the bacterial cell wall.

action in bacteria in the 1950s-1970s. The following sections summarize the three stages of PG biosynthesis using *S. aureus* as the primary example, while many of the steps are conserved in all bacteria.³⁴

1.2.1 Formation of the Park nucleotide

In 1949, Park J. T. made a curious but seminal observation that several related nucleotide species were strongly accumulated in S. aureus treated with a non-lethal concentration of penicillin.³⁵ The principal species, which was identified as uridine-5'-pyrophspho-N-acetylmuramyl-L-alanyl-D-glutamyl-L-lysl-D-alanyl-D-alanine (UDP-MurNAc-pentapeptide), was later named the Park nucleotide (Figure 1.2), while the other species contain incomplete peptide moieties.³⁶⁻³⁸ The accumulation of the Park nucleotide in S. aureus was not irreversible, since removal of penicillin from the culture led to its reduction. The Park nucleotide was also present at a low level in untreated S. aureus as well, thus excluding its possibility as a toxic byproduct due to penicillin treatment. Instead, the rapid accumulation of the Park nucleotide in penicillintreated S. aureus reflected its high flux under normal conditions, suggesting its involvement in a major metabolic pathway in cell.³⁹ The striking structural similarity between the Park nucleotide and S. aureus PG led Strominger J. L. and coworkers in 1959 to proposes that the Park nucleotide is a biosynthetic precursor of the cell wall, and the accumulation of the Park nucleotide is a direct effect of penicillin inhibition.³³ They further established that the related nucleotides containing shorter peptides were intermediates in the formation of the Park nucleotide in S. aureus. 40-42

It wasn't until the early 1990s that the individual enzymes involved in the formation of the Park nucleotide were characterized, owing to the ability to overexpress and purify candidate

proteins. The first committed step in the pathway is the conversion of UDP-GlcNAc to UDP-MurNAc by MurA and MurB enzymes in the cytoplasm. MurA transfers phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) to UDP-GlcNAc, generating an intermediate that is further reduced by MurB reductase using NADPH.^{43,44} MurA is the target of fosfomycin (fos), a natural product inhibitor that is a structural analogue of PEP, which can covalently bind to the active site cysteine residue in MurA.⁴⁵ In the subsequent steps, Mur ligases (MurC–F), which all belong to the ATP-dependent amide bond-forming enzyme family, catalyze the sequential attachment of L-Ala, D-isoGlu, L-Lys (or meso-diaminopimelic acid (m-DAP) in most Gram-negative bacteria) and D-Ala-D-Ala onto the C3-lactoyl moiety of UDP-MurNAc to yield UDP-MurNAc-pentapeptide precursor (the Park nucleotide). The D-Ala-D-Ala dipeptide is synthesized by the D-Ala-D-Ala ligase (Ddl), another specific ATP-dependent ligase, which condenses two molecules of D-Ala.⁴⁶ Vancomycin (vanco), an important glycopeptide antibiotic that is considered as a 'last-resort' antibiotic in the clinic, acts by specifically binding to the D-Ala-D-Ala termini in PG to kill bacteria. In vancomycin-resistant bacterial strains, MurF incorporates D-Ala-D-Lac^d depsipeptide (a product of the Van ligase) into the Park nucleotide.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ Strains that use altered peptide termini in PG in place of the normal peptide can effectively evade vancomycin sequestration.



Figure 1.2. Structure of the Park nucleotide (UDP-MurNAc-pentapeptide) in S. aureus.

^d Lac refers to a lactate residue.

1.2.2 Formation of the lipid-linked intermediates

The involvement of the Park nucleotide in bacterial cell wall synthesis was validated by several labs (1964) using S. aureus or Micrococcus luteus particulate enzymes in vitro.^{41,50} The particulate enzymes, which were crude preparations of membrane proteins, could utilize the radioactive Park nucleotide and UDP-GlcNAc to yield an insoluble radiolabeled product that was lysozyme-sensitive. The product was characterized as a linear polymer made of alternating GlcNAc and MurNAc units, resembling the glycan backbone in bacterial cell wall.⁴⁹ Strominger and coworkers uncovered the complexity of the bacterial cell wall pathway when they analyzed in vitro reaction mixture on paper chromatography using isobutyric acid-ammonia eluent, which is the prototype of *in vitro* PG synthesis assay that is still prevalent today.^{51,52} In the paper chromatogram, the radiolabeled polymeric PG product was immobile and retained at the origin, while the soluble nucleotide migrated slightly up from the baseline. However, a third fastmoving radioactive spot appeared near the top of the paper, which was identified as a mixture of two species, one containing MurNAc-pentapeptide, and the other containing MurNAcpentapeptide and GlcNAc. The high mobility of both species on paper chromatography in the organic eluent implied they were lipid-linked, while their occurrence in the reaction was consistent with them being the reaction intermediates. These lipid-linked intermediates were quantitatively extracted from the reaction mixture using organic solvents of pyridinium acetate/n-butanol, while mild acid hydrolysis of the isolated intermediates yielded two soluble products, GlcNAc-MurNAc-pentapeptide and MurNAc-pentapeptide, where the composition of the pentapeptide was identical to that of the Park nucleotide.⁵¹ In each intermediate, a pyrophosphate linkage was identified connecting the reducing end of the MurNAc unit to a lipid moiety. While the general structures of the intermediates, MurNAc-(pentapeptide)-P-P-lipid

(known as Lipid I) and GlcNAc-MurNAc-(pentapeptide)-P-P-lipid (known as Lipid II) were determined, elucidation of the nature of the lipid moiety was complicated by the low availability of these materials. Remarkably, Higashi *et al.* managed to scale up the particulate enzyme reaction by nearly 100,000-fold to achieve approximately 4 µmoles of the purified Lipid II^e that permitted structural studies.⁵³ After removal of the soluble fragment on Lipid II by acid hydrolysis, the lipid moiety was purified and conclusively identified as undecaprenol (Und) by mass spectrometry. The Und lipid contains eight *cis-*, two *trans-*, and one terminal isoprene units, as characterized in nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) studies.^{53,54} The chemical structures of Lipid I and Lipid II intermediates are shown in Figure 1.3, while the reactions leading to their formation are summarized below:

UDP-MurNAc-pentapeptide + Und-P → UMP + MurNAc-(pentapeptide)-P-P-Und [Lipid I] Lipid I + UDP-GlcNAc → UDP + GlcNAc-MurNAc-(pentapepitde)-P-P-Und [Lipid II]



Figure 1.3. Structures of Lipid I and Lipid II intermediates identified in the cell-free system using the particulate enzymes from *S. aureus*.

The essential *mraY* and *murG* genes, which encode the enzymes in Lipid I and Lipid II synthesis, were identified in 1991.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁸ In the first step, MraY, which belongs to the polyprenylphosphate *N*-acetyl hexosamine 1-phophate-transferase (PNPT) superfamily, transfers

^e 4 µmoles of Lipid II is equivalent of 8 mg.

the phospho-MurNAc-pentapeptide moiety from the Park nucleotide to the Und-P acceptor in the cytoplasmic face of the membrane to form Lipid I.⁵⁹ Early work by Anderson *et al.* using particulate enzymes had demonstrated that Lipid I formation was reversible *in vitro*.⁵¹ Unfortunately, the complex transmembrane architecture of MraY has posed a challenge to its enzymatic studies. In 2004, Bouhss *et al.* reported the first purification of the *Bacillus subtilis* (*B. subtilis*) MraY protein to homogeneity in milligram quantities, which opened ways for its biochemical characterizations.⁶⁰ Chung *et al.* (2013) recently solved the crystal structure of *Aquifex aeolicus* (*A. aeolicus*) MraY (MraY_{aa}), which represents the first structure of the PNPT protein superfamily.⁶¹ In the MraY_{aa} structure, a number of invariant residues were identified near the active site cleft, in which a Mg²⁺ was bound. Interestingly, a hydrophobic groove connected to the MraY_{aa} active site was observed, which was proposed to be the binding site for Und-P substrate.⁶¹ In addition, MraY demonstrates promiscuous substrate specificity to lipid lengths and configurations in the *in vitro* syntheses of Lipid I analogues.^{62,63}

In the second reaction, the glycosyltransferase MurG catalyzes the addition of GlcNAc from UDP-GlcNAc donor to the C4 hydroxyl of Lipid I to yield Lipid II. Using synthetic Lipid I analogues containing variable lipid moieties, Walker and coworkers reconstituted MurG activity in 1998, and further established its intrinsic lipid preference (see Section 1.5).⁶⁴ MurG reaction proceeds via an ordered Bi-Bi mechanism in which UDP-GlcNAc binds first, prior to the formation of a ternary complex.⁶⁵ Consistent with the proposed mechanism, crystal structures of apo-MurG as well as MurG in complex with UDP-GlcNAc have been obtained.^{66,67} Notably, in Lipid II formation, the α -anomeric configuration of UDP-GlcNAc is inverted to the β -(1-4)-glycosidic linkage in Lipid II.⁶⁴ In bacteria, MurG is believed to rapidly turn over Lipid I to Lipid II, based on the observation that Lipid II is always in excess of Lipid I in bacteria.⁶⁸

In addition to the conserved MraY and MurG reactions, additional modifications on Lipid II occur in most Gram-positive bacteria. The complete S. aureus Lipid II structure (Figure 1.4) was deduced by Strominger and coworkers in the late 1960s, based on the observation that the linear PG product formed *in vitro* differs from the isolated S. aureus cell wall in two aspects: one is amidation on the α -carboxylate group of D-isoGlu, the other is the attachment of a pentaglycine branch to the ε -amino group of L-Lys in the pentapeptide.⁶⁹⁻⁷¹ The enzymes responsible for these additional modifications in S. aureus Lipid II have been revealed and characterized recently. Three enzymes, FemXAB, which belong to the non-ribosomal peptidyltransferase enzyme family, sequentially assemble the complete pentaglycine branch using glycyl-tRNA as donors, such that FemX adds the first, FemA adds the second and third, and FemB add the last two glycines.⁷¹ Enzymatic studies of the Fem proteins showed that they are highly specific to the respective acceptor substrates (i.e. Lipid II for FemX, Gly-Lipid II for FemA and Gly₃-Lipid II for FemB).^{72,73} The activity of each Fem protein does not require the presence of the other ones, but the formation of the complete pentaglycine branch is delayed *in vitro* when all three proteins are present, implying that competitive, non-productive binding occurs between non-cognate protein and acceptor pairs.⁷³ While FemX is essential, FemA and FemB are dispensable in *S. aureus* but are critical for resistance in methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) strains (see Chapter 1.4). Homologues of Fem proteins are present in other Grampositive species for branch peptide formation. For instance, bppA1 and bppA2 transferases are responsible for the L-Ala-L-Ala branch in Enterococcus faecalis (E. faecalis), MurM transferases form the L-Ser-L-Ala (or L-Ala-L-Ala) branch in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (S. pneumoniae).⁷² On the other hand, Lipid II in Gram-negative bacteria commonly has an *m*-Dap at the third position of the stem peptide and does not have a branch peptide.⁷²

Amidation of the α -D-isoGln in Lipid II is a common feature in *Staphylococci*,

Streptococci and *Mycobacteria*, but is not observed in many Gram-negative bacteria.⁷² In *S. aureus*, Lipid II amidation is catalyzed by two enzymes, a glutaminase GatD and an amidotransferase MurT, in an ATP- and ammonia-dependent reaction.⁷⁴ A decrease in the amidation content in PG in MRSA reduces methicillin resistance (see Chapter 1.4). In addition, bacterial PG amidation is shown to reduce the activation of host immune response, which may provide a survival advantage to bacteria during infection.^{75,76} Nevertheless, the *in vivo* sequence of these additional modifications on *S. aureus* Lipid II (i.e. pentaglycine branch and amidation) is yet to be determined, since both FemXAB and GatT/MurT enzymes are capable of modifying Lipid II independently *in vitro*.^{73,74}



Figure 1.4. The complete Lipid II structure in *S. aureus*. The moieties in red indicate additional modifications on Lipid II precursor. The pentaglycine branch is unique to *S. aureus* Lipid II.

Around the time when the existence of lipid-linked intermediates (Lipid I and Lipid II) in *S. aureus* PG synthesis was first established in the mid-1960s, the involvement of lipid-linked oligosaccharide intermediates in the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) pathway in *Salmonella* was revealed as well.⁷⁷ Indeed, the use of Und lipid-linked substrates is a common strategy in the

biosynthesis of many bacterial cell surface polysaccharides,^f such as LPS *O*-antigen, enterobacterial common antigen (ECA), WTA and capsular polysaccharide.⁷⁸ In eukaryotes, the dolicol-linked oligosaccharides are precursors in the *N*-linked protein glycosylation in endoplasmic reticulum (ER).⁷⁹ The membrane-bound lipid carriers provide a mean to translocate hydrophilic precursors across the hydrophobic cytoplasmic membrane for processes in the extracellular face of the membrane (or in the ER lumen in the case of the eukaryotic dolicol pathway). Thus, the involvement of a translocase or flippase in the membrane was envisioned to facilitate the energetically unfavorable translocation process. However, the translocation step in bacterial PG biosynthesis is poorly understood and has remained elusive, until recently, several candidates of Lipid II flippase in bacteria are proposed.

In 2008, Ruiz N. first proposed MurJ (formerly MviN), an essential inner membrane protein in *E. coli*, is the Lipid II flippase.⁸⁰ MurJ is conserved in PG-producing endosymbiotic bacteria that have lost most of their non-essential genes, but it is absent in bacteria that lack PG. Depletion of MurJ in *E. coli* results in an accumulation of PG precursors and induces cell rounding and blebbing, reminiscent to the morphological observations of penicillin-treated bacteria by Gardner and others in the 1940s that were indicative of PG synthesis inhibition.¹⁶ In addition, MurJ belongs to the <u>multidrug/o</u>ligo-saccharidyl-lipid/polysaccharide (MOP) exporter superfamily, which also encompasses other polysaccharide transporters (PSTs) such as WzxE, the flippase for ECA lipid-linked precursors, and WzxB, the LPS *O*-antigen flippase, as well as the oligosasaccharidyl-lipid flippase (OLF) Rtf1p, the proposed flippase in the dolicol-pathway.⁸¹ Since its discovery, many lines of evidence have given credence to MurJ as the Lipid II flippase. For instance, MurJ is predicted to have a hydrophilic cavity based on topological studies (such cavities are present in many multidrug exporters in the MOP family); chemical

^f Mycobacteria are known to use decaprenyl-lipid carriers instead.

blockage of this cavity in MurJ leads to accumulation of Lipid II in the inner membrane in *E. coli*.⁸²⁻⁸⁴ In addition, the *murJ* orthologue, *ygtP* is found to be essential in *S. aureus* and *S. pneumonia*,⁸⁵ whereas *B. subtilis* possesses multiple *ygtP* homologues that are non-essential, yet an unrelated *amJ* gene can substitute the Lipid II flipping activity in *B. subtilis*.⁸⁶ Controversially, another flippase candidate, FtsW has been proposed in *E. coli*, which is an essential protein for cell division that belongs to the shape, elongation, division and sporulation (SEDS) family.⁸⁷ FtsW is shown to translocate Lipid II as well as phospholipids *in vitro* using vesicle assays, but its role as a flippase has not been validated *in vivo*.⁸⁸

1.2.3 Peptidoglycan (PG) assembly

After translocation of Lipid II to the outer leaflet of the cytoplasmic membrane, it is polymerized by peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases (PGTs) to form long glycan strands that contain β -(1,4)-glycosidic linkages between the C4 of GlcNAc and the C1 of MurNAc units. The formation of linear PG polymers has been demonstrated in early works on PG synthesis.^{41,50} However, unlike the nascent PG product *in vitro*, the isolated *S. aureus* cell wall is a highly cross-linked material, in which the amino end of the pentaglycine branch on one stem peptide is attached to the carboxylate group of the penultimate D-Ala residue on another. Thus, it was interpreted that nascent PG must undergo a transpeptidation reaction in the final stage of PG assembly, the enzymes that carry out this step are named transpeptidases (TPs).⁸⁹ The major steps in *S. aureus* PG biosynthesis are shown in Figure 1.5. However, due to the difficulties in obtaining the complete *S. aureus* Lipid II (see Chapter 1.5), transpeptidation in *S. aureus* has not been demonstrated *in vitro*.

With the recognition of the complete reaction sequence in PG biosynthesis, penicillin's mechanism of action was visited by Tipper and Strominger in 1965.⁸⁹ Since penicillin did not inhibit the formation of nascent PG in the particulate cell-free reactions, its involvement in the final transpeptidation reaction was highly likely. Based on the structural similarities between the 6-APA core of penicillin (which is in essence an acylated cyclic dipeptide of L-Cys and D-Val) and the D-Ala-D-Ala terminus in PG, Tipper and Strominger proposed that penicillin inhibits transpeptidation by acting as a substrate analogue.^{89,90} It was postulated that in the transpeptidation step, a TP recognizes the D-Ala-D-Ala terminus of the stem peptide and cleaves the terminal D-Ala residue to form an acyl-enzyme intermediate, then the incoming pentaglycine branch attacks the covalent intermediate to form a cross-link, thus freeing the TP enzyme (Figure 1.6). Transpeptidation does not require any ATP input, consistent with a lack of ATP in the extracytoplasmic space in bacteria. Penicillin contains a highly reactive amide bond in the betalactam ring that could be viewed as the equivalence of the amide bond in D-Ala-D-Ala terminus. Thus, when the TP enzyme attacks the beta-lactam ring in penicillin instead, a penicilloylenzyme adduct is yielded, inactivating the TP enzyme (Figure 1.6). Consistent with the proposed mechanism of penicillin, uncross-linked nascent PG polymers were significantly accumulated in penicillin-treated S. aureus.⁹⁰



Figure 1.5. Schematic showing peptidoglycan (PG) biosynthesis in S. aureus. The process occurs in three main stages: 1) formation of the Park nucleotide in the cytoplasm, 2) formation of lipid-linked intermediates (i.e. Lipid I and Lipid II) in the inner leaflet of the cytoplasmic membrane, and 3) PG assembly at the outside of the membrane in which Lipid II is polymerized and cross-linked.



Figure 1.6. The proposed mechanisms of transpeptidation (and hydrolysis) by PBPs and penicillin inhibition. In this model, the beta-lactam ring in penicillin (highlighted in brown) resembles the conformation of the D-Ala-D-Ala terminus in a stem pentapeptide (in crimson color). In PG assembly, PBPs reacts with the D-Ala-D-Ala terminus on a donor strand to form an acyl-enzyme intermediate, with the concomitant release of the terminal D-Ala. The intermediate is attacked by the pentaglycine branch on an acceptor strands to form a cross-link (transpeptidation). Alternatively, in the case of carboxypeptidase, the acyl-enzyme intermediate is resolved by water. Penicillin inhibits PG biosynthesis by covalently acylating the PBP active site.

In efforts to identify the cellular target(s) of penicillin in bacteria, the old observation of penicillin binding to bacterial membrane was examined in greater detail in the 1960s-1970s. The intricacy of the biosynthetic enzymes in the final step of bacterial PG assembly was then revealed.^{91,92} Multiple penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs), defined as proteins that covalently interact with penicillin, were detected when the radiolabeled penicillin was incubated with either whole cells or particulate membranes from bacteria. Radiolabeled PBPs, which could be separated on sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) gel electrophoresis and detected by fluorography, were numbered in order of descending molecular weights in each organism.⁹³⁻⁹⁷ In *S. aureus*, there are four native PBPs, PBP1-4, while MRSA has acquired an additional one, PBP2a (see Chapter 1.4).^{93,97} PBPs can also be classified into high-molecular weight (HMW) Class A and

Class B PBPs, and low molecular weight (LMW) PBPs. HMW Class A PBPs, such as *S. aureus* PBP2, contain both TP and PGT domains, while HMW Class B PBPs, such as *S. aureus* PBP1, 2a and 3, contain TP domain and an N-terminal domain of unknown function. In *S. aureus*, PBP4 is the only LMW PBP.⁹⁸ In addition, *S. aureus* also contains two nonessential monofunctional PGTs, SgtA and SgtB.⁹⁹

1.3 The cellular roles of S. aureus penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs)

The detection of multiple PBPs in bacteria unequivocally validated the proposed inhibition mechanism of penicillin, in which a stable penicilloyl-enzyme adduct is formed.⁸⁹ However, the observation also raised several questions: which of the PBPs are the lethal targets of penicillin? How do the activities of multiple PBPs differ in bacteria and what are their cellular roles? It was soon realized that PBPs in a given organism display widely different sensitivities to penicillin and other beta-lactams.¹⁰⁰ In general, LMW PBPs appear less sensitive to penicillin, and are capable of releasing the bound penicillin either spontaneously or by exogenous hydroxylamine nucleophiles, while HMW PBPs are relatively more sensitive. The binding affinity of a non-radiolabeled beta-lactam for PBPs is usually assessed in a competition assay, in which the concentration of the beta-lactam required to block the binding of labeled penicillin is determined.^{95,96} However, quantitative analysis of binding affinity depends on many variables such as temperature, incubation time, and protein concentrations of the assay.^{100,101} Beta-lactams that selectively bind to individual PBPs in *S. aureus* have been identified. For instance, as reported by Okonog et al. and shown in Figure 1.7, cloxacillin, ceftizoxime, cephalexin and cefoxitin are specific binders to S. aureus PBP1, PBP2,^g PBP3, and PBP4 respectively at

^g The binding of ceftizoxime to PBP2 was not complete at concentrations used in the experiment (ref. 102).

concentrations that do not affect other PBPs.¹⁰² Together with genetic approaches, studies using beta-lactams as chemical probes to inhibit specific PBPs have shed light on the physiological roles of individual PBPs in bacteria.



Figure 1.7. Beta-lactams show selective binding to *S. aureus* PBPs. Figure a) is modified from ref.102. Briefly, growing *S. aureus* cells were incubated with cloxacillin (0.06 μ g/mL) (i), ceftizoxime (0.1, 0.6 μ g/mL) (ii-iii), cephalexin (0.08 μ g/mL) (iv), and cefoxitin (0.05 μ g/mL) (v), or in the absence of an antibiotic (vi). The cells were disrupted and incubated with ¹⁴C-penicillin G, and were subjected to SDS-PAGE and fluorography. The concentrations of the beta-lactams in use were above the *in vitro* inhibitory concentrations. b) Structures of beta-lactams used are shown.

S. aureus PBP1 is an essential HMW Class B PBP,¹⁰³ whose function was initially elucidated by Okonog *et al.* using cloxacillin as a probe.¹⁰² Selective inhibition of PBP1 by cloxacillin caused *S. aureus* cells to swell and become irregularly shaped, while manifesting aberrant septum formation. Similar abnormal septa formation was observed in a PBP1-deficient MRSA mutant, in which the expression of PBP1 was under the control of an inducible promoter.¹⁰⁴ Thus, *S. aureus* PBP1 is proposed to play an essential role in regulating cell division. Subsequently, the specific function of the PBP1 TP domain was addressed by Pereira *et al.*, using a *S. aureus* mutant strain in which the TP catalytic residue of PBP1 was specifically mutated.¹⁰⁵ The strain was viable but showed separation defects after a few rounds of normal cell divisions, and demonstrated decrease in PG cross-linking. Taken together, the TP activity of *S*.
aureus PBP1 is not essential for viability, but is required for cell separation at the end of division.¹⁰⁵ PBP1 was proposed to be part of a regulatory circuit that ensures proper PG synthesis and degradation in *S. aureus*, although the underlying mechanism remains elusive.¹⁰⁵

S. aureus PBP2 is a HMW Class A PBP that has both PGT and TP domains. Using genetic strategies to selectively inactivate the catalytic residue in PBP2 PGT or TP domain, Pinho et al. investigated the essentiality of each domain in PBP2.^{106,107} The TP domain, which is essential in methicillin-susceptible S. aureus (MSSA), becomes dispensable in MRSA in the presence of an additional PBP2a (see Chapter 1.4).¹⁰⁶ On the other hand, the inactivation of PBP2 PGT domain does not normally affect S. aureus viability, but strongly sensitizes MRSA to beta-lactams.¹⁰⁷ Taken together, these observations imply that PBP2 is the major TP for PG cross-linking in S. aureus, but it can be replaced by PBP2a in MRSA; whereas PBP2 PGT activity is required to cooperate with PBP2a to maintain PG synthesis in MRSA in the face of beta-lactams. However, when grown in the absence of beta-lactams, S. aureus PBP2 PGT activity can be replaced by the monofunctional PGT, SgtB.^{108h} S. aureus PBP2 is the lethal target of moenomycin, a natural product PGT inhibitor, since a resistant mutant that bears a point mutation in the PBP2 PGT active site cleft has been isolated. The mutant displays an increase in moenomycin resistance by 25-fold.¹⁰⁹ In addition, the TP domain of PBP2 was thought to be responsible for its localization at the division septum in S. aureus by interacting with the D-Ala-D-Ala termini in PG, since either acylation of PBP2 TP domain by oxacillin or modification of the PG termini by D-cycloserine and vancomycin results in delocalization of PBP2.¹¹⁰ In

^h *S. aureus* has two monofunctional PGTs, SgtA and SgtB, both of which are nonessential when PBP2 is present. However, only SgtB can compensate the PGT activity when PBP2 PGT domain is mutated (ref. 108). The transglycosylase activity of SgtB has been reconstituted in vitro (ref. 171), but the activity of SgtA has not been reconstituted in vitro.

addition, a spontaneous ceftizoxime-resistant mutant of *S. aureus* was identified with a point mutation in the PBP2 TP domain, suggesting that PBP2 is the lethal target of ceftizoxime.¹¹¹

S. aureus PBP3 is another HMW Class B PBP, which can be deleted without causing detectable change in *S. aureus* cell growth or PG composition,¹¹² contrary to the previous interpretation that PBP3 is essential in the competition binding assays.¹¹³ However, treating the *S. aureus* Δ PBP3 mutant with a sub-lethal concentration of methicillin results in abnormal cell shape and size, indicating that inhibition of other PBPs in the absence of PBP3 is deleterious to *S. aureus* cell morphology.¹¹²

Aside from the HMW PBPs in S. aureus, PBP4 is the only LMW PBP. Because of its reversibility in penicillin binding by hydroxylamine, S. aureus PBP4 was purified and characterized by Kozarich and Strominger in 1978.¹¹⁴ PBP4 did not only hydrolyze the terminal D-Ala in the Ac₂-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala tripeptide, indicating its carboxypeptidase activity, but also incorporated Gly or hydroxylamine acceptors in place of the terminal D-Ala, demonstrating TP activity. Under prolonged incubation with a high amount of penicillin, S. aureus PBP4 also demonstrated penicillinase activity *in vitro*, although it was not considered physiologically relevant.¹¹⁴ Its dual activities as a CP and TP *in vitro* were quite perplexing. Like other LMW PBPs, S. aureus PBP4 is non-essential for cell viability, thus it is not a lethal target of penicillin.¹¹⁵ However, S. aureus \triangle PBP4 mutant manifests a drastic reduction in the level of PG cross-linking, suggesting the cellular role of PBP4 in PG secondary cross-linking.¹¹⁶ S. aureus PBP4 and PBP2 are proposed to cooperate in vivo to produce the highly cross-linked cell wall in S. aureus.¹¹¹ The inactivation of PBP4 in S. aureus causes intermediate vancomycin resistance in several laboratory and clinical isolates,^{117,118} while an overproduction of PBP4 in certain *S*. *aureus* strains leads to an increase in beta-lactam resistance.¹¹⁹⁻¹²¹ However, the effect of S.

aureus PBP4 on antibiotic resistance can be variable depending on the strain background.¹²² In the community-acquired MRSA (CA-MRSA) strains, PBP4 is essential for the expression of beta-lactam resistance.¹²³ Inactivation of PBP4 strongly sensitized the CA-MRSA to oxacillin and nafcillin. Cefoxitin, a selective inhibitor of *S. aureus* PBP4, strongly synergizes with oxacillin at killing CA-MRSA, which may provide a potential therapeutic strategy against CA-MRSA infections. Furthermore, WTAs are proposed to ensure proper localization of PBP4 at the division septum in *S. aureus*,¹²⁴ although recently, it is shown that *S. aureus* PBP4 can display extraseptal cross-linking activity as well.¹²⁵

S. aureus PBPs	Class	Cellular roles	Essentiality	Biochemical characterization
PBP1	HMW (Class B)	Cell division; PG cross-linking	Yes (but not the TP domain)	No
PBP2	HMW (Class A)	Major PBP in PG polymerization and cross-linking	PGT not essential if SgtB is present; TP is essential, but can be replaced by PBP2a in MRSA	Only PGT ¹²⁶ , not TP
PBP2a (MRSA)	HMW (Class B)	Confers resistance	Requires PBP2 PGT domain to function	No
PBP3	HMW (Class B)	Unclear	Not essential	No
PBP4	LMW PBP	Secondary PG cross-linking	Not essential, but is required for resistance in CA- MRSA	CP/ TP/ beta- lactamase

Table 1.1. Classification of PBPs in *S. aureus*. PBP1-4 are native PBPs in *S. aureus*, PBP2a is an acquired PBP in MRSA.

A combination of genetic, microscopic and chemical approaches has been useful to dissect the cellular roles of individual PBPs in *S. aureus*. However, their TP activities have not

been demonstrated *in vitro* (Table 1.1). This thesis focuses on the development of tools to study TP activities of two *S. aureus* PBPs (PBP4 and PBP2). Biochemical characterizations of bacterial PBPs will not only contribute to our understanding of their redundant and interdependent activities, but also may facilitate the discovery of potential antibiotics.

1.4 Resistance in methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA)

Since the first introduction of penicillin in the 1940s, which marks the dawn of an antibiotic era, antibiotics have been frequently misused and overused. As a result, antibiotic resistance in bacteria has emerged rapidly and has become alarming in recent years. CDC estimated that at least two million people are infected with resistant bacteria each year and at least 23,000 people die as a direct result of such infections in the United States.¹²⁷ At the current rate, it is projected that 10 million deaths worldwide will be attributed to resistant bacterial infections each year by 2050.¹²⁸ Among the most threatening resistant pathogens, MRSA is one that is widespread and causes the most number of deaths each year.¹²⁹ Although new antibiotics have been developed to target MRSA, including the fourth and fifth generations of cephalosporins, resistance against these new drugs has also emerged.¹³⁰ In order to develop new strategies to combat MRSA, understanding the mechanism of resistance in MRSA is of paramount importance.

1.4.1 An acquired resistant PBP, PBP2a in MRSA

A defining characteristic of MRSA is the presence of <u>staphylococcal cassette</u> chromosome *mec* (*SCCmec*) in the chromosome.ⁱ *SCCmec* is a mobile genetic element about 40-

ⁱ In some cases, *S. aureus* strains may have other genetic determinants for low-level resistance in the absence of the *mecA* gene.

60 kb in length and includes a *mecA* gene.¹³¹ The transcription of *mecA* is normally repressed by the regulatory elements *mecI* and *mecRI* that are also part of the *SCCmec*, its repression can be alleviated by certain beta-lactams.¹³² However, many clinical MRSA isolates have mutations in the regulatory elements such that *mecA* is constitutely expressed.¹³³ *SCCmec* is proposed to originated from *Staphylococcus sciuri* (which contains homologous genes), but the mechanism of acquisition is not clear.¹³⁴ The MRSA *mecA* gene encodes PBP2a, a HMW Class B PBP, which displays low affinity to penicillin and other beta-lactams in the competition binding assay.^{135,136} PBP2a is assumed to continue PG cross-linking in MRSA under conditions that native PBPs are inhibited by beta-lactams. However, MRSA manifests a decrease in PG cross-linking when grown in the presence of beta-lactams.¹⁰⁷ This observation implies that PBP2a activity cannot entirely compensate for other native PBPs but is enough for MRSA survival in the face of beta-lactam inhibition.

Kinetic binding studies have shed light on the intrinsic resistance of PBP2a against betalactams. *S. aureus* PBP2a displays a slow acylation rate (k_2) and a low affinity to most betalactams (high K_d) (Figure 1.8a), both of which work in concert to contribute to its intrinsic resistance.^{137,138} The poor acylation rate (k_2) of *S. aureus* PBP2a by beta-lactams can be rationalized by its having a distorted TP active site that needs to undergo an unfavorable conformational change for acylation, as perceived in the apo- and acylated-PBP2a crystal structures.¹³⁹ Cephalosporins, which possess extended substituents on the beta-lactam core, can make significant Van der Waal interactions in the narrow active site groove of PBP2a. Such noncovalent interactions are thought to contribute to cephalosporins' enhanced affinity to PBP2a (reduced K_d) and hence potent antibacterial activities. In light of this, non-covalent inhibitors that exhibit strong affinity to PBP2a may represent promising anti-MRSA strategies.¹³⁹

S. aureus PBP2a's intrinsic resistance to acylation offers MRSA an advantage to betalactam inhibition. However, it must be overcome during transpeptidation, in which PBP2a presumably forms an acyl-enzyme intermediate with the stem peptide in PG. Mobashery and coworkers established that the presence of cell wall fragments can stimulate beta-lactam acvlation of PBP2a *in vitro*.¹⁴⁰ In the recent crystal structures of *S. aureus* PBP2a by the same group, ligands (i.e. muramic acid, cell wall fragment or ceftaroline) bound in a location 60 Å distal from the TP active site in PBP2a were identified (Figure 1.8b).¹⁴¹ This observation led to the proposal of an allosteric regulation in S. aureus PBP2a TP activity: binding of a ligand in the allosteric domain in PBP2a may allow the TP active site to open up for catalysis.¹⁴¹ The allosteric model awaits validation in a TP activity assay of S. aureus PBP2a. Nevertheless, such allostery may have been exploited by ceftaroline, the recently approved fifth-generation cephalosporin, to re-sensitize S. aureus PBP2a to beta-lactam inhibition.^{142,143} Ceftaroline's interaction with PBP2a allosteric domain in addition to acylation of the TP active site suggest an unprecedented inhibitory mechanism.¹⁴¹ Binding of ceftaroline in the allosteric site is thought to trigger a series of salt bridge interactions in PBP2a that spans from the allosteric to the TP domain, predisposing the TP active site for acylation. In the clinical isolates of ceftarolineresistant MRSA, several point mutations in the allosteric site of PBP2a have been identified.¹⁴⁴ These mutations were shown to disrupt the interaction network in the allosteric site responsible for the stimulation of the TP active site, leading to resistance.¹⁴⁴ However, such mutations are expected to disturb PBP2a TP activity as well. The TP activities of PBP2a and its variants are yet to be demonstrated. In addition, a similar allosteric domain is present in the crystal structure of Enterococcus faecium PBP5, but whether allosteric regulation applies is yet to be determined.¹⁴¹



Figure 1.8. An allosteric regulation of *S. aureus* PBP2a is proposed. a) The equation representing the chemical reaction of beta-lactam acylation of PBP and release. E represents PBP, EI is the non-covalent pre-acylation complex, E-I is the covalent acyl enzyme species, and P denotes the product of hydrolysis of the beta-lactam antibiotic. K_d is the dissociaton constant for the formation of the non-covalent complex, k_2 is the first-order rate constant for the acylation reaction, and k_3 is the first-order rate constant for deacylation. b) Ribbon representation of crystal structure of *S. aureus* PBP2a bound with ceftarolines both in the allosteric site and TP active site. Figure modified from ref. 141.

1.4.2 Factors influencing methicillin resistance

Although *mecA* is the primary resistant gene in MRSA, it alone is not enough to confer resistance and additional genes are required for the full expression of resistance. Many of these genes, named *fem* (for <u>factors essential</u> for <u>methicillin</u>) or *aux* (auxiliary) factors, were identified in transposon mutagenesis studies of MRSA mutants that display reduced methicillin resistance. In particular, the *femA* and *femB* inactivation produced the most significant reduction in methicillin resistance in MRSA.^{145,146} As mentioned in Chapter 1.2.2, FemA and FemB are

enzymes responsible for pentaglycine branch formation in Lipid II in *S. aureus* PG pathway. *S. aureus* $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutants both demonstrate a drastic reduction in cross-linking and glycine contents in PG, with monoglycine branch predominantly found in the former and triglycine branch in the latter.^{147,148} It is hypothesized that PBP2a has a stringent substrate requirement for the complete pentaglycine branch in PG cross-linking, while shorter branches in $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutants abolish its TP activity and re-sensitize MRSA to beta-lactams.¹⁴⁹ Therefore, targeting FemA or FemB protein in combination with beta-lactams may provide a novel therapeutic strategy against MRSA. Reportedly, a small molecule FemA inhibitor, cyslabdan that effectively potentiates beta-lactams against MRSA has been recently identified.^{150,151} The substrate specificity of PBP2a needs to be validated in order to establish a mechanistic basis for such re-sensitization strategy in MRSA.

In addition, several genes that are either directly or indirectly involved in the formation of native *S. aureus* Lipid II were found to affect beta-lactam resistance in MRSA. For instance, inactivation of the glutamine synthetase repressor, glnR, which reduces the amidation on D-isoGln on PG, results in lowering of beta-lactam resistance in MRSA.¹⁵² Moreover, genes involved in other aspects of the cell surface can also contribute to beta-lactam resistance in MRSA, such as, *fmtA*, a predicted membrane protein with sequence homology to PBPs that is recently identified as a D-alanyl esterase of teichoic acids,^{153,154} as well as a large number of genes including *tarO*, *tarA*, *tarD*, *tarS* and *ltaS* in the WTA pathway and in the lipoteichoic acid (LTA) pathway.¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷ Global regulators, *agr* and *sar*, which control the expression of many cell surface proteins were identified as well.¹⁵⁸ Since many of these factors play important roles in *S. aureus* cell division, growth and autolysis, their inactivation also sensitizes MSSA to methicillin instead of directly influencing the activity of PBP2a in MRSA *per se*.¹⁵⁹

1.4.3 Chemical genetic approaches to combat MRSA

The diverse fem and aux factors identified in transposon mutagenesis studies represent potential points of intervention. Inhibition of these targets by small molecules may phenocopy the effects of their genetic inactivation to re-sensitize MRSA against beta-lactams. The combination of such inhibitors with beta-lactams holds great promise as a novel therapeutic strategy against MRSA. In recent years, many groups have performed high-throughput screening of chemical libraries to identity compounds that can potentiate beta-lactam activity in MRSA.^{150,160-162} As mentioned earlier, a potential FemA inhibitor, cyslabdan, was identified as an imipeniem potentiator.¹⁵⁰ Similarly, Huber et al. reported two related compounds CDFI and DMPI that act to potentiate imipenem activity in S. aureus COL. The inhibitors were proposed to target SAV1754 that is the proposed Lipid II flippase in S. aureus,¹⁶² representing a new class of inhibitors in S. aureus. A recent study demonstrates that a collateral application of beta-lactams (carbapenem/penicillin/beta-lactamase) is effective at killing MRSA in vitro and clearing MRSA infections in a mouse model.¹⁶³ In conclusion, chemical genetic screenings prove useful in identifying novel beta-lactam potentiators as well as establishing new cellular targets of inhibition in MRSA.

1.5 Lipid II is required for enzymatic studies of PBPs

Although bacterial PBPs have been identified as the cellular targets of beta-lactams since the 1970s, characterizations of their enzymatic activities (i.e. PGT and TP) have lagged behind for several decades, due to challenges in purifying these membrane-bound proteins and in obtaining the complex Lipid II substrates. The cell-free system using particulate enzymes for Lipid II production was laborious and inefficient; the direct isolation of Lipid II from bacteria

was challenging given their natural low abundance in bacteria.⁶⁸ It has been estimated that there are no more than 700 copies of Lipid I molecules and 2000 copies Lipid II molecules per *E. coli* cell;⁶⁸ while the numbers are generally higher in Gram-positive bacteria, Lipid II molecules still represents less than 1% of the total phospholipids in the membrane.¹⁶⁴ Since the early 2000s, advance in synthetic and enzymatic preparations of Lipid II and analogues^{64,165-168} accompanied with the development of specific activity assays¹⁶⁸⁻¹⁷⁰ have enabled mechanistic studies of bacterial PBPs. Many PBPs from different organisms have been overexpressed and purified to homogeneity in full-length and/or soluble forms, whose activities were characterized *in vitro* using defined substrates.^{126,171-175} The following sections will discuss current methods for Lipid II preparations, and key understanding of PGT and TP catalysis.

1.5.1 Current approaches of Lipid II preparation

In 1998, Walker and coworkers synthesized a citronellol-Lipid I (C10) analogue using a convergent approach to assemble the three building blocks of the molecule: the MurNAc derivative, the pentapeptide, and the lipid tail.⁶⁴ In particular, the pyrophosphate linkage that connects the reducing end of the MurNAc residue to the lipid was constructed using the diphenyl chlorophosphate activation method. This work represents the first chemical synthesis of a lipid-linked PG precursor. Using synthetic Lipid I analogues, the authors investigated the enzymatic activity of MurG *in vitro*, which laid the foundation for a facile chemoenzymatic strategy to prepare Lipid II. Subsequently, utilizing the 1,1'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) coupling method that is tolerant of the allylic phosphate ester in pyrophosphate formation, Kahne, Walker and coworkers (2001) prepared the natural undecaprenyl-Lipid I and a number of Lipid I derivatives of varying lipid lengths and double bond geometries, and converted to them to the corresponding

Lipid II derivatives using MurG.¹⁶⁸ The accessibility to various Lipid II derivatives of different lipid moieties shed light on the substrate preference of *E. coli* PGTs for the very first time (see Chapter 1.5.2). In the same and following years, two groups reported the total chemical syntheses of Lipid II, both utilizing a CDI-catalyzed coupling of undecapenyl phosphate to the appropriately protected GlcNAc-MurNAc-pentapeptide moiety at the late stage of the multi-step synthetic scheme.^{165,167} While milligram quantities of Lipid II could be obtained from synthesis, the overall yield was quite low; for instance, only 0.7% overall yield was obtained after a 12-step synthesis, as reported by Schwartz *et al.*¹⁶⁵ In addition, several fluorescent Lipid II derivatives have been synthesized as well.¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁷⁸ Most of the synthetic Lipid II contains the L-Ala-D-isoGlu-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala pentapeptide, which resembles the common Lipid II precursor in most Gram-positive bacteria, can be used as a substrate by bacterial PGTs *in vitro*; they are not suitable for studying bacterial TPs since they lack the canonical peptide branch.¹⁷⁹

Recognizing the formation of the allylic pyrophosphate in Lipid I and Lipid II via the phophorimidazolidate intermediate is rather sluggish, Tsukamoto and Kahne improved the reaction rate by adding an efficient catalyst, *N*-methylimidazolium chloride, which significantly reduced the reaction time from a few days to 12 hours.¹⁸⁰ In the new synthetic route to make Lipid I (Figure 1.9), Tsukamoto and Kahne first introduced the pyrophosphate bond to form the MurNAc-PP-lipid, which is the conserved moiety among all bacterial Lipid I, followed by the addition of the peptide. Lipid I could then be quantitatively converted to Lipid II by MurG chemoenzyamtically.⁶⁴ Given that the peptide portion of Lipid II is varied in bacteria, the new route that introduces the peptide late in the synthesis allows easier preparations of diverse Lipid II. Via this route, the native *E. coli* and *B. subtilis* Lipid II substrates, which contain an *m*-Dap and an amidated *m*-Dap residue at the third position of the stem peptide respectively, were

synthesized and used for characterizations of the corresponding bacterial PBPs.^{179,181,182} In addition, the more complicated Lipid IV substrate, which represents an elongated product of two Lipid II molecules, has been chemically synthesized to probe the activity of PGTs.^{183,184}



Figure 1.9. The synthetic route to make Lipid I by Tsukamoto and Kahne (ref. 175). In this route, the conserved moiety MurNAc-PP-lipid precursor (**3**) is prepared first, prior to the coupling of the peptide portion, which is variable in different bacteria.

In addition to the above mentioned synthetic routes, another well-established approach to prepare Lipid I and Lipid II molecules involves biochemical reconstitutions. This approach has its origin in the particulate enzyme reactions for studying PG synthesis, by which Lipid I and Lipid II intermediates were initially identified (see Chapter 1.2.2).⁵¹ In such reactions, the Park nucleotide, UDP-GlcNAc and the particulate enzymes, which contain membrane proteins MraY and MurG as well as the Und-P precursors, were incubated. However, the low availability of

Und-P in the membrane has rendered Lipid II production rather inefficient.⁶⁸ Breukink *et al.* (2003) overcame the technical hurdle by supplying exogenous polyisoprenol phosphate to the reaction, improving the yield of the reaction by at least a 100-fold.⁶³ In particularly, the substrates used in the reaction are isolated from various natural sources.¹⁸⁵ For instance, the Park nucleotide is usually extracted from bacteria that are treated with vancomycin, which allows cellular accumulation of the Park nucleotide.¹⁸⁶ Depending on the bacteria source, the peptide composition in the isolated Park nucleotides may vary.^j The polyisoprenoids can be isolated from plant leaves and are phosphorylated by undecaprenol kinase (UK) in vitro.¹⁸⁵ In addition, MraY exhibits broad substrate specificity to a large number of isoprenyl phosphates, including the dolichol-type isoprenyl phosphate, yielding a number of Lipid I variants.^{62,63} Although relatively large amount of Lipid II (50-100 mg) can be obtained with ease from biochemical productions, preparations of native Lipid II containing the canonical branch peptide (in Gram-positive bacteria) are significantly more challenging since multiple additional enzymes are required for reconstitution. Remarkably, the *in vitro* assembly of the pentaglycine branch in S. aureus Lipid II has been achieved by Schneider T et al., involving a complex reaction mixture that includes purified FemXAB proteins, glycyl-tRNA synthease, staphylococcal tRNA pool, as well as purified Lipid II precursors obtained from the particulate enzyme system.⁷³ The small amount of pentaglycine-Lipid II formed in the reaction could be conveniently detected on thin layer chromatography (TLC), but its isolation and purification was not possible, thus obviating its utility as a substrate for studying S. aureus PBPs TP activities. Similarity, the GatD/MurT enzymes responsible for amidation in S. aureus Lipid II have been recently reconstituted in vitro, but the amidated Lipid II product could not be achieved in useful quantities.^{74,175} The amidated

 $^{^{}j}$ S. aureus is used for extraction of the L-Lys containing Park nucleotide, and Bacillus cereus is a good source for the *m*-Dap containing Park nucleotide.

Lipid II in *S. penumoniae* has been obtained and shown to be important for efficient PG crosslinking.^{174,175} Conceivably, the exquisite features of *S. aureus* Lipid II are pre-requisites for studying *S. aureus* PBPs TP activities. However, obtaining the native *S. aureus* Lipid II containing both the pentaglycine branch and amidation is deemed the bottleneck to such studies.

1.5.2 Mechanistic insights into peptidoglycan glycosyltransferase (PGT) activity

The accessibility to various Lipid II analogues has enabled enzymatic studies of bacterial PGTs.^k Kahne, Walker and coworkers (2001) investigated the substrate preference of *E. coli* PBP1b (a HMW Class A PBP) using various synthetic Lipid II substrates.¹⁶⁸ It was found that the presence of a *cis* double bond at the allylic position in Lipid II is critical for PGT activity. In addition, a shorter heptaprenyl Lipid II analogue was identified as a better substrate than the natural undecaprenyl Lipid II for E. coli PBP1b activity in vitro, presumably due to its less tendency to aggregate.^{168,187} In general, the PGT activity of a bifunctional PBP does not depend on its TP activity, since the PGT domain can be isolated, overexpressed and purified, and demonstrate comparable activities as the full-length protein.¹⁸⁸ Following the development of a high-resolution SDS-PAGE assay that can resolve long glycan polymers according to their lengths, Walker and coworkers showed that bacterial PGTs are processive enzymes that catalyze multiple rounds of polymerization without releasing the glycan strands.¹⁶⁹ Interestingly, PGTs from different organisms produce glycan polymers of distinct lengths *in vitro*,¹⁷¹ implying a possible intrinsic control of product length. By preparing a number of short PG oligomers that are blocked with an galactose (Gal) at the non-reducing end, Perlstein et al. established that the nascent PG glycan chains elongate with the addition of Lipid II acceptors to the reducing end of

^k The absence of native branch peptide in Lipid II substrate does not affect PGT activity. Therefore, Lys-Lipid II is suitable for studying PGT activity *in vitro*.

the growing polymer, solving a fundamental question regarding PGT activities.¹⁷⁰ The ability to differentiate donor and acceptor substrates in PG polymerization led to the recognition that PGTs demonstrate different requirements for substrate lipid lengths at the two (donor and acceptor) sites.¹⁸⁹ While PGTs are promiscuous to the length and geometry of the acceptor lipid, they require a lipid of at least 20 carbons in the donor site. The donor lipid is also the major determinant of the processivity of polymerization. In addition, time course analysis of the *in vitro* PGT reaction revealed a prolonged lag phase, which was attributed to the slow initial coupling of two Lipid II molecules in the donor and acceptor sites. This rate-limiting step in PG polymerization could be bypassed by pre-incubating PGTs with a Gal-Lipid IV analogue, which mimics the initial coupling product and serves as the 'donor-only' substrate.¹⁹⁰ Thus, it was proposed that PGTs may undergo different conformational states. A glycan strand containing at least four sugars bound in the donor site may facilitate the reorganization of PGT to an activated conformation for PG elongation. While the structure of PGT in complex with Gal-Lipid IV still awaits, a number of crystal structures of bacterial PGTs that are either in the apo-forms or bound with inhibitor (moenomycin) or Lipid II analogue are available, providing important structural information of PGT activities.^{188,191-194}

The crystal structures of bacterial PGTs reveal a unique globular domain that is composed of mainly alpha helices representing a structural class of glycosyltransferase.¹⁹¹ Despite little sequence homology, PGTs bear some structural resemblance to the bacteriophage λ -lysozyme, the lytic glycosidase that cleaves the β -1,4-glycosidic bond between the C1 of MurNAc and the C4 of GlcNAc residues in PG with a catalytic glutamic acid residue. Sequence alignments show that bacterial PGTs contain five conserved motifs containing a number of invariant residues with the glutamic acid in the first motif being the catalytic residue.¹⁸⁸ The

putative glutamic acid residue in the PGT domain is proposed to abstract the C4-OH proton of GlcNAc in Lipid II, which then attacks the reducing C1 position on MurNAc in the donor strand, forming a new β -1,4-glycosidic bond in the PG product.¹⁸⁸ The reaction is facilitated by another conserved residue in the PGT active site that stabilizes the released undecaprenol pyrophosphate. Mutagenesis studies have confirmed the essentiality of these residues for PGT activity.¹⁸⁸

Several interesting features regarding the PGT active site are revealed in the crystal structures of PGTs bound with moenomycin, a natural product inhibitor of PGTs.^{188,191-193} Moenomcyin binds in an extended conformation that makes a large hydrogen-bonding network with PGT, which is proposed to be the donor substrate binding site.¹⁹² The donor site in PGT appears more positively charged and is capable of forming numerous hydrogen-bond interactions, providing strong binding energy to translocate the elongated PG polymer.¹⁹⁴ Crystal structure of S. aureus PBP2 in complex with moenomycin showed a dramatic conformational rearrangement in its jaw subdomain when compared to the apo-enzyme structure;¹⁹¹ whereas moenomycin binding did not elicit noticeable changes in the PGT domain of A. aerolicus PBP1a and in S. aureus SgtB.^{188,192-194} Such conformational difference in PGTs may reflect their structural dynamics during PG synthesis. A crystal structure of S. aureus SgtB in complex with a Lipid II analogue was reported recently, in which the polar portion of the analogue was observed in the PGT acceptor site, providing a new snapshot of the PG polymerization process¹⁹⁴. Going forward, structural information on how a growing glycan strand interacts with the donor site of PGT is attractive to study.

1.5.3 Existing knowledge on PBP transpeptidase (TP) activities

In contrast to the wealth of information on bacterial PGT activities, mechanistic studies of TPs are limited, since the specific Lipid II substrates are required for studying TP activities of PBPs from different organisms.¹ The E. coli Lipid II, which contains an m-Dap at the third position of the stem peptide, has been prepared either by biochemical production or chemical synthesis and used for characterization of E. coli HMW PBPs, PBP1a and 1b. 172,173,179 The TP activity of a HMW PBP is coupled to its PGT activity, and cannot act alone.¹⁹⁵ A general strategy is used to study HMW PBP TP activity: purified E. coli PBP1A or PBP1B is incubated with *m*-Dap Lipid II, the product is then digested by a glycosidase to disaccharide units, which could be separated and analyzed on liquid chromatography (LC). The presence of cross-linked muropeptides indicates successful transpeptidation by the PBP.^{172,173,179} In addition, E. coli PBPs are capable of attaching nascent PG polymers formed in vitro to the isolated sacculi via transpeptidation.^{172,173} Most existing knowledge on TP activities come from HMW Class A PBPs, while TP activities of Class B PBPs have not been demonstrated. Banzhaf et al. has inferred the activity of E. coli PBP2 (a Class B PBP) based on its stimulatory effects on E. coli PBP1a cross-linking activity in vitro, but the direct evidence of PBP2 TP activity is lacking.¹⁹⁶ The activities of PBPs are thought to cooperate during PG synthesis in bacteria.^{107,111,196} For instance, S. aureus PBP2 and PBP4 are thought to cooperate together to produce the highly cross-linked PG.¹¹⁰ However, the inaccessibility of native Lipid II substrates in useful quantities has hampered mechanistic studies of PBPs TP activities in Gram-positive bacteria.

Using synthetic Lys-Lipid II that cannot act as an acceptor in the transpeptidation reaction, Lupoli *et al.* (2011) showed that *E. coli* PBP1a could incorporate D-amino acid into the terminal stem peptide position in PG.¹⁹⁵ The D-amino acid incorporation by TP can be perceived

¹ The tripeptide substrate has been used to study the TP activities of LMW PBPs, but not HMW PBPs.

as the reverse of the activation step in transpeptidation, in which the terminal D-Ala is released (Figure 1.6). However, the tolerance of PBP to a wide range of D-amino acids as acceptors in *vitro* is unexpected.¹⁹⁵ On the other hand, it has been observed that a variety of bacteria can uptake and incorporate exogenous D-amino acids into PG during growth, although the positions and mechanisms of incorporation vary.^{197,198} In *E. coli*, exogenous D-amino acids are exclusively incorporated into the fourth position of the stem peptide in PG in vivo and the L,Dtranspeptidases (Ldts) are responsible for such incorporation.¹⁹⁸ In *B. subtilis*, HMW PBPs mediate D-amino acid incorporation into PG in vivo.^{198,199} In S. aureus, exogenous D-amino acids are incorporated into the terminal peptide position in PG,¹⁹⁹ but the mechanism of incorporation was not clear at the time when we initiated the project described in Chapter Two. In addition, several intracellular pathogens, including Chlamydia trachomatis and Listera monocytogenes, incorporate exogenous D-amino acid into PG via the cytoplasmic Ddl and MurF ligases.²⁰⁰⁻²⁰² Many research groups have harnessed the power of D-amino acid incorporation to develop fluorescent D-amino acid probes, which have provided new insights into PG synthesis in various organisms.^{125,199-203}

1.6 Perspectives

Although penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) have been exploited by beta-lactams for over seventy years, it is remarkable that the transpeptidase (TP) activities of PBPs in many bacteria, including *S. aureus*, have not been directly demonstrated. In particular, the activities of PBPs in *S. aureus* form the basis of resistance in methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), a major threat to public health. This thesis discusses our efforts on studying the TP activities of major PBPs in *S. aureus*. A major challenge is the preparation of useful quantities of native *S. aureus* Lipid II

substrate. Chapter Two describes the studies of *S. aureus* PBP4 and the development of a simple and sensitive assay to evaluate the cellular pools of Lipid II in bacteria. This observation has led to a facile method to accumulate and extract Lipid II from *S. aureus* culture (Chapter Three). Although our work is focused on *S. aureus*, the approach can be generalized to other bacterial organisms as well. Lastly, we have reconstituted the TP activity of *S. aureus* PBP2 and assessed its inhibition by a panel of beta-lactam antibiotics (Chapter Four). The biochemical tools prepared in this work should be useful for studies of resistance in MRSA and facilitate the development of better therapeutic strategies against MRSA.

1.7 References

- 1 Hobby, G. L. Penicillin: meeting the challenge. Yale University Press, 1985.
- 2 Steffee, C. H. Alexander Fleming and penicillin. The chance of a lifetime? *N. C. Med. J.* **1992**, *53* (6), 308-310.
- 3 Fleming, A. On the antibacterial action of cultures of a penicillium, with special reference to their use in the isolation of *B. influenzae*. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* **1929**, *3* (10), 226-236.
- 4 Chain, E.; Fletcher, C. M. The early years of the penicillin discovery. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci. J.* **1979**, *1* 6-11.
- 5 Abraham, E. P.; Chain, E. An enzyme from bacteria able to destroy penicillin. 1940. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* **1988**, *10* (4), 677-678.
- Abraham, E. P.; Chain, E.; Fletcher, C. M.; Florey, H. W.; Gardner, A. D.; Heatley, N. G.; Jennings, M. A. Further observations on penicillin. 1941. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 1992, 42 (1), 3-9.
- 7 Cowdrey, A. E. *Fighting for Life: American military medicine in World War II*. Free Press, 1994.
- 8 Parascandola, John. *The history of antibiotics: a symposium*. Vol. No. 5. American Institute of the Hiostyr of Pharmacy, 1980.
- 9 Chemistry of penicillin. *Science* **1945**, *102* (2660), 627-629.
- 10 Chemistry of penicillin. Nature 1945, 156 (3974), 766.
- 11 Sheehan, J. C.; Henery-Logan, K. R. A general synthesis of the penicillins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1959**, *81* 5838-5839.
- 12 Fairbrother, R. W.; Taylor, G. Sodium methicillin in routine therpay. *Lancet.* **1961**, *1* (7175), 473-476.

- Acred, P.; Brown, D. M.; Knudsen, E. T.; Rolinson, G. N.; Sutherland, R. New semisynthetic penicillin active against *Pseudomonas pyocyanea*. *Nature*. **1967**, *215* (5096), 25-30.
- 14 Abraham, E. P.; Newton, G. G. The structure of cephalesporin C. *Biochem. J.* **1961**, *79* 377-393.
- 15 Hamad, B. The antibiotics market. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2010, 9 (9), 675-676.
- 16 Gardner, A. D. Morphological effects of penicillin on bacteria. *Nature* 1940, 146 837-838.
- 17 Fisher, A. M. A study on the mechanism of action of penicillin as shown by its effect on bacterial morphology. *J. Bacteriol.* **1946**, *52* (5), 539-554.
- 18 Shanahan, A. J.; Eisenstark, A.; Tanner, F. W. Morphology of Escherichia coli exposed to penicillin as observed with the electron microscope. *J. Bacteriol.* **1947**, *54* (2), 183-189.
- 19 Duguid, J. P. The sensitivity of bacteria to the action of penicillin. *Edinb. Med. J.* **1946**, *53*, 401-412.
- 20 Cooper, P. D.; Rowley, D.; Dawson, I. M. Location of radioactive penicillin in Staphylococcus aureus after contact with the drug. *Nature* **1949**, *164* (4176), 842.
- 21 Maass, Eleanor A.; Johnson, Marvin J. Penicillin uptake by bacterial cells. *J. Bacteriol.* **1949**, *57* (4), 415-422.
- 22 Maass, Eleanor A.; Johnson, Marvin J. The relations between bound penicillin and growth in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Bacteriol. **1949**, 58 (3), 361-366.
- 23 Mudd, S.; Polevitzky, K.; Anderson, T. F.; Chambers, L. A. Bacterial morphology as shown by the electron microscope II. The bacterial bell-wall in the genus Bacillus. *J. Bacteriol.* 1941, 42 (2), 251-264.
- 24 Salton, M. R. J.; Horne, R. W. Studies of the bacterial cell wall. II. Methods of preparation and some properties of cell walls. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1951**, *7* (2), 177-197.
- 25 Salton, M. R. J.; Horne, R. W. Studies of the bacterial cell wall I. Electron microscopical observation on heated bacteria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1951**, *7*, 19-42.

- 26 Weibull, C. The isolation of protoplasts from *Bacillus megaterium* by controlled treatment with lysozyme. *J. Bacteriol.* **1953**, *66* (6), 688-695.
- 27 Salton, M. R. J. Studies of the bacterial cell wall: III. Preliminary investigation of the chemical constitution of the cell wall of Streptococcus faecalis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1952, 8 510-519.
- 28 Salton, M. R. J. Studies of the bacterial cell wall. *Biochimica. Biophysica. Acta.* **1953**, *10*, 512-523.
- 29 Salton, M. R. Cell wall of Micrococcus lysodeikticus as the substrate of lysozyme. *Nature* **1952**, *170* (4331), 746-747.
- 30 Matias, V. R.; Beveridge, T. J. Native cell wall organization shown by cryo-electron microscopy confirms the existence of a periplasmic space in Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* **2006**, *188* (3), 1011-1021.
- 31 Vollmer, W.; Blanot, D.; Pedro, M. A. De. Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. *FEMS Microb. Rev.* **2008**, *32* (2), 149-167.
- 32 Strange, R. E.; Kent, L. H. The isolation, characterization and chemical synthesis of muramic acid. *Biochem. J.* **1959**, *71* (2), 333-339.
- Strominger, J. L.; Park, J. T.; Thompson, R. E. Composition of the cell wall of Staphylococcus aureus: its relation to the mechanism of action of penicillin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1959, 234 (12), 3263-3268.
- 34 Silhavy, T. J.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. The bacterial cell envelope. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **2010**, *2* (5),
- 35 Park, J. T.; Johnson, M. J. Accumulation of labile phosphate in *Staphylococcus aureus* grown in the presence of penicillin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1949**, *179* (2), 585-592.
- 36 Park, J. T. Uridine-5'-pyrophosphate derivatives I. Isolation from Staphylococcus aureus. J. Biol. Chem. 1952, 194 (2), 877-884.
- 37 Park, J. T. Uridine-5'-pyrophosphate derivatives III. Amino acid-containing derivatives. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1952**, *194* (2), 897-904.

- 38 Park, J. T. Uridine-5'-pyrophosphate derivatives II. A structure common to three derivatives. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1952**, *194* (2), 885-895.
- 39 Strominger, Jack L. Microbial uridine-5'-pyrophosphate N-acetylamino sugar compounds I. Biology of the penicillin-induced accumulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1957**, *224* (1), 509-523.
- 40 Ito, E.; Strominger, J. L. Enzymatic synthesis of the peptide in bacterial uridine nucleotides III. Purification and properties of L-Lysine-adding enzyme. . *J. Biol. Chem.* **1964**, *239* (1), 210-214.
- 41 Meadow, P. M.; Anderson, J. S.; Strominger, J. L. Enzymatic polymerization of UDPacetylmuramyl-L-ala·L-glu-L-lys-D-ala·D-alaand UDP-acetylglucosamine by a particulate enzyme from Staphylococcus aureus and its inhibition by antibiotics. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **1964**, *14* (4), 382-387.
- 42 Nathenson, S. G.; Strominger, J. L.; Ito, E. Enzymatic synthesis of the peptide in bacterial uridine nucleotides IV. Purification and propeties of D-glutamic acid-adding enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1964**, *239* (6), 1773-1776.
- 43 Bugg, T. D.; Walsh, C. T. Intracellular steps of bacterial cell wall peptidoglycan biosynthesis: enzymology, antibiotics, and antibiotic resistance. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **1992**, *9* (3), 199-215.
- 44 Barreteau, H.; A., Kovac.; A., Boniface; M., Sova; S., Gobec; Blanot, D. Cytoplasmic steps of peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *FEMS Micobiol. Rev.* **2008**, *32* (2), 168-207.
- 45 Marquardt, J. L.; Brown, E. D.; Lane, W. S.; Haley, T. M.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wong, C. H.; Walsh, C. T. Kinetics, stoichiometry, and identification of the reactive thiolate in the inactivation of UDP-GlcNAc enolpyruvoyl transferase by the antibiotic fosfomycin. *Biochemistry* 1994, 33 (35), 10646-10651.
- 46 Zawadzke, L. E; Bugg, T. D.; Walsh, C. T. Existence of two D-alanine: D-alanine ligases in Escherichia coli: cloning and sequencing of the ddlA gene and purification and characterization of the DdlA and DdlB enzymes. *Biochemistry* **1991**, *30* (6), 1673-1682.
- 47 Healy, V. L.; Roper, D. I.; Knox, J. R.; Walsh, C. T. Vancomycin resistance in enterococci: reprogramming of the D-ala-D-Ala ligases in bacterial peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *Chem. Biol.* 2000, 7 R109-R119.

- 48 Roper, D. I.; Huyton, T.; Vagin, A.; Dodson, G. The molecular basis of vancomycin resistance in clinically relevant Enterococci: crystal structure of D-alanyl-D-lactate ligase (VanA). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2000**, *97* 8921-8925.
- 49 Fan, C.; Walsh, C. T.; Knox, J. R. Vancomycin resistance: structure of D-alanine:D-alanine ligase at 2.3 A resolution. *Science* **1994**, *266* 439-443.
- 50 Chatterjee, A. N.; Park, J. T. Biosynthesis of cell wall mucopeptide by a particulate fraction from Staphylococcus aureus. . *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1964**, *51* (1), 9-16.
- 51 Anderson, J. S.; Matsuhashi, M.; Haskin, M. A.; Strominger, J. L. Biosynthesis of the peptidoglycan of bacterial cell walls II. Phospholipid carriers in the reaction sequence. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1967**, *242* (13), 3180-3190.
- 52 Anderson, J. S.; Matsuhashi, M.; Haskin, M. A.; Strominger, J. L. Lipidphosphoacetylmuramyl-pentapeptide and lipid-phosphodisaccharide-pentapeptide: presumed membrane transport intermdiates in cell wall synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 1965, 53 (4), 881-889.
- 53 Higashi, Y.; Strominger, J. L.; Sweeley, C. C. Structure of a lipid intermediate in cell wall peptidoglycan synthesis: a derivative of a C55 isoprenoid alcohol. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1967**, *57* (6), 1878-1884.
- 54 Higashi, Y.; Strominger, J. L.; Sweeley, C. C. Biosynthesis of the peptidoglycan of bacterial cell walls XXI. Isolation of free C55-isoprenoid alcohol and of lipid intermediates in peptidoglycna synthesis from Staphylococcus arureus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1970**, *245* (14), 3697-3702.
- 55 Salmond, G. P.; Lutkenhaus, J. F.; Donachie, W. D. Identification of new genes in a cell envelope-cell division gene cluster of Escherichia coli: cell envelope gene murG. *J. Bacteriol.* **1980**, *144* (1), 438-440.
- 56 Ikeda, M.; Wachi, M.; Jung, H. K.; Ishino, F.; Matsuhashi, M. The Escherichia coli mraY gene encoding UDP-N-acetylmuramoyl-pentapeptide: undecaprenyl-phosphate phospho-N-acetylmuramoyl-pentapeptide transferase. *J. Bacteriol.* **1991**, *173* (3), 1021-1026.
- 57 Mengin-Lecreulx, D.; Texier, L.; Rousseau, M.; Heijenoort, J. van. The murG gene of Escherichia coli codes for the UDP-N-acetylglucosamine: N-acetylmuramyl-(pentapeptide) pyrophosphoryl-undecaprenol N-acetylglucosamine transferase involved in the membrane steps of peptidoglycan synthesis. *J. Bacteriol.* **1991**, *173* (15), 4625-4636.

- 58 Boyle, D. S.; Donachie, W. D. mraY Is an essential gene for cell growth in Escherichia coli. *J. Bacteriol.* **1998**, *180* (23), 6429-6432.
- 59 Bouhss, A.; Mengin-Lecreulx, D.; Le Beller, D.; Van Heijenoort, J. Topological analysis of the MraY protein catalysing the first membrane step of peptidoglycan synthesis. *Mol. Microb.* 1999, 34 (3), 576-585.
- 60 Bouhss, A.; Crouvoisier, M.; Blanot, D.; Mengin-Lecreulx, D. Purification and characterization of the bacterial MraY translocase catalyzing the first membrane step of peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2004**, *279* (29), 29974-29980.
- 61 Chung, B. C.; Zhao, J.; Gillespie, R. A.; Kwon, D. Y.; Guan, Z.; Hong, J.; Zhou, P.; Lee, S. Y. Crystal structure of MraY, an essential membrane enzyme for bacterial cell wall synthesis. *Science* **2013**, *341* (6149), 1012-1016.
- 62 Huang, L. Y.; Huang, S. H.; Chang, Y. C.; Cheng, W. C.; Cheng, T. J. R.; Wong, C. H. Enzymatic synthesis of lipid II and analogues. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2014, *53* (31), 8060-8065.
- 63 Breukink, E.; Heusden, H. E.; Vollmerhaus, P. J.; Swiezewska, E.; Brunner, L.; Walker, S.; Heck, A. J. R.; Kruijff, B. Lipid II Is an intrinsic component of the pore induced by nisin in bacterial membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2003**, *278* (22), 19898-19903.
- 64 Men, H.; Park, P.; Ge, M.; Walker, S. Substrate synthesis and activity assay for MurG. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, 120 (10), 2484-2485.
- 65 Chen, L.; Men, H.; Ha, S.; Ye, X. Y.; Brunner, L.; Hu, Y.; Walker, S. Intrinsic lipid preferences and kinetic mechanism of Escherichia coli MurG. *Biochemistry* **2002**, *41* (21), 6824-6833.
- 66 Ha, S.; Chang, E.; Lo, M. C.; Men, H.; Park, P.; Ge, M.; Walker, S. The kinetic characterization of Escherichia coli MurG using synthetic substrate analogues. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121* (37), 8415-8426.
- 67 Hu, Y.; Chen, L.; Ha, S.; Gross, B.; Falcone, B.; Walker, D.; Mokhtarzadeh, M.; Walker, S. Crystal structure of the MurG:UDP-GlcNAc complex reveals common structural principles of a superfamily of glycosyltransferases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 2003, *100* (3), 845-849.

- 68 Van Heijenoort, J. Lipid intermediates in the biosynthesis of bacterial peptidoglycan. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* **2007**, *71* (4), 620-635.
- 69 Bumsted, R. M.; Dahl, J. L.; Söll, D.; Strominger, J. L. Biosynthesis of the peptidoglycan of bacterial cell walls X. Future study of the glycyl transfer ribonucleic acids active in peptidoglycan synthesis in Staphylococcus arueus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1968**, *243* (4), 779-782.
- 70 Niyomporn, B.; Dahl, J. L.; Strominger, J. L. Biosynthesis of the peptidoglycan of bacterial cell walls IX. Purification and properties of glycyl tansfer ribonucleic acid synthesase from Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1968**, *243* (4), 773-778.
- 71 Siewert, Gerhard; Strominger, Jack L. Biosynthesis of the peptidoglycan of bacterial cell walls XI. Formation of the isoglutamine amide group in the cell walls of Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1968**, *243* (4), 783-790.
- 72 Bouhss, A.; Trunkfield, A. E.; Bugg, T. D. H.; Mengin-Lecreulx, D. The biosynthesis of peptidoglycan lipid-linked intermediates. *FEMS Microb. Rev.* **2008**, *32* (2), 208-233.
- 73 Schneider, T.; Senn, M. M.; Berger-Bächi, B.; Tossi, A.; Sahl, H. G.; Wiedemann, I. In vitro assembly of a complete, pentaglycine interpeptide bridge containing cell wall precursor (lipid II-Gly5) of Staphylococcus aureus. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2004**, *53* (2), 675-685.
- 74 Münch, D.; Roemer, T.; Lee, S. H.; Engeser, M.; Sahl, H. G.; Schneider, T. Identification and in vitro analysis of the GatD/MurT enzyme-complex catalyzing Lipid II amidation in Staphylococcus aureus. *PLoS Pathog.* **2012**, *8* (1), e1002509.
- 75 Sukhithasri, V.; Nisha, N.; Biswas, Lalitha; Anil Kumar, V.; Biswas, Raja. Innate immune recognition of microbial cell wall components and microbial strategies to evade such recognitions. *Microbiol. Res.* **2013**, *168* (7), 396-406.
- 76 Wang, Q.; Matsuo, Y.; Pradipta, A. R.; Inohara, N.; Fujimoto, Y.; Fukase, K. Synthesis of characteristic Mycobacterium peptidoglycan (PGN) fragments utilizing with chemoenzymatic preparation of meso-diaminopimelic acid (DAP), and their modulation of innate immune responses. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2016**, *14* (3), 1013-1023.
- 77 Wright, A.; Dankert, M.; Fennessey, P.; Robbins, P. W. Characterization of a polyisoprenoid compound functional in O-antigen biosynthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1967**, *57* (6), 1798-1803.

- 78 Whitfield, C. Biosynthesis and assembly of capsular polysaccharides in Escherichia coli. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **2006**, *75* 39-68.
- 79 Bugg, T. D.; Brandish, P. E. From peptidoglycan to glycoproteins: common features of lipid-linked oligosaccharide biosynthesis. *FEMS Micobiol. Lett.* **1994**, *119* (3), 255-262.
- 80 Ruiz, Natividad. Bioinformatics identification of MurJ (MviN) as the peptidoglycan lipid II flippase in Escherichia coli. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2008**, *105* (40), 15553-15557.
- 81 Ruiz, Natividad. Lipid flippases for bacterial peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *Lipid Insights* **2016**, *8* (1), 21-31.
- 82 Sham, L. T.; Butler, E. K.; Lebar, M. D.; Kahne, D.; Bernhardt, T. G.; Ruiz, N. MurJ is the flippase of lipid-linked precursors for peptidoglycan biogenesis. *Science* 2014, 345 (6193), 220-222.
- 83 Butler, E. K.; Davis, R. M.; Bari, V.; Nicholson, P. A.; Ruiz, N. Structure-function analysis of MurJ reveals a solvent-exposed cavity containing residues essential for peptidoglycan biogenesis in Escherichia coli. *J. Bacteriol.* **2013**, *195* (20), 4639-4649.
- 84 Butler, E. K.; Tan, W. B.; Joseph, H.; Ruiz, N. Charge requirements of Lipid II flippase activity in Escherichia coli. *J. Bacteriol.* **2014**, *196* (23), 4111-4119.
- Ruiz, N. Streptococcus pyogenes YtgP (Spy_0390) complements Escherichia coli strains depleted of the putative peptidoglycan flippase MurJ. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2009, 53 (8), 3604-3605.
- 86 Meeske, A. J.; Sham, L. T.; Kimsey, H.; Koo, B. M.; Gross, C. A.; Bernhardt, T. G.; Rudner, D. Z. MurJ and a novel lipid II flippase are required for cell wall biogenesis in Bacillus subtilis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2015, *112* (20), 6437-6442.
- 87 Mohammadi, T.; van Dam, V.; Sijbrandi, R.; Vernet, T.; Zapun, A.; Bouhss, A.; Diepeveende Bruin, M.; Nguyen-Distèche, M.; de Kruijff, B.; Breukink, E. Identification of FtsW as a transporter of lipid-linked cell wall precursors across the membrane: FtsW transports Lipid II across the membrane. *The EMBO J.* **2011**, *30* (8), 1425-1432.
- 88 Mohammadi, T.; Sijbrandi, R.; Lutters, M.; Verheul, J.; Martin, N. I.; Blaauwen, T.; Kruijff, B.; Breukink, E. Specificity of the transport of Lipid II by FtsW in Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2014, 289 (21), 14707-14718.

- 89 Strominger, J. L.; Tipper, D. J. Bacterial cell wall synthesis and structure in relation to the mechanism of action of penicillins and other antibacterial agents. *Am. J. Med.* **1965**, *39* (5), 708-721.
- 90 Tipper, D. J.; Strominger, J. L. Mechanism of action of penicillins: a proposal based on their structural similarity to acyl-D-alanyl-D-alanine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1965**, *54* (4), 1133-1141.
- 91 Izaki, K.; Matsuhashi, M.; Strominger, J. L. Glycopeptide transpeptidase and D-alanine carboxypeptidase: penicillin-sensitive enzymatic reactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 1966, 55 (3), 656-663.
- 92 Strominger, J. L.; Izaki, K.; Matsuhashi, M.; Tipper, D. J. Peptidoglycan transpeptidase and D-alanine carboxypeptidase: penicillin-sensitive enzymatic reactions. *Fed. Proc.* 1967, 26 (1), 9-22.
- 93 Suginaka, H.; Blumberg, P. M.; Strominger, J. L. Multiple penicillin-binding components in Bacillus subtilis, Bacillus cereus, Staphylococcus aureus, and Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1972, 247 (17), 5279-5288.
- 94 Spratt, Brian G.; Pardee, Arthur B. Penicillin-binding proteins and cell shape in E. coli. *Nature* **1975**, *254* (5500), 516-517.
- 95 Spratt, Brian G. Properties of the penicillin-binding proteins of Escherichia coli K12. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **1977**, *72* (2), 341-352.
- 96 Georgopapadakou, N. H.; Liu, F. Y. Binding of beta-lactam antibiotics to penicillin-binding proteins of Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus faecalis: relation to antibacterial activity. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1980**, *18* (5), 834-836.
- 97 Georgopapadakou, N. H.; Liu, F. Y. Penicillin-binding proteins in bacteria. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1980**, *18* (1), 148-157.
- 98 Massova, I.; Mobashery, S. Kinship and diversification of bacterial penicillin-binding proteins and beta-lactamases. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1998**, *42* (1), 1-17.
- 99 Wang, Q. M.; Peery, R. B.; Johnson, R. B.; Alborn, W. E.; Yeh, W. K.; Skatrud, P. L. Identification and characterization of a monofunctional glycosyltransferase from Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* 2001, *183* (16), 4779-4785.

- 100 Waxman, D. J.; Strominger, J. L. Penicillin-binding proteins and the mechanism of action of beta-lactam antibiotics. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **1983**, *52* (1), 825-869.
- 101 Chambers, H. F.; Miick, C. Characterization of penicillin-binding protein 2 of Staphylococcus aureus: deacylation reaction and identification of two penicillin-binding peptides. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1992**, *36* (3), 656-661.
- 102 Okonog, K.; Noji, Y.; Nakao, M.; Imada, A. The possible physiological roles of penicillinbinding proteins of methicillin-susceptible and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. J Infect. Chemother. **1995**, 1 (1), 50-58.
- 103 Wada, A.; Watanabe, H. Penicillin-Binding Protein 1 of Staphylococcus aureus Is Essential for Growth. J. Bacteriol. **1998**, 180 (10), 2759-2765.
- 104 Pereira, S. F. F.; Henriques, A. O.; Pinho, M. G.; de Lencastre, H.; Tomasz, A. Role of PBP1 in cell division of Staphylococcus aureus. J. Bacteriol. 2007, 189 (9), 3525-3531.
- 105 Pereira, S. F. F.; Henriques, A. O.; Pinho, M. G.; De Lencastre, H.; Tomasz, A. Evidence for a dual role of PBP1 in the cell division and cell separation of Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology* **2009**, *72* (4), 895-904.
- 106 Pinho, M. G.; Filipe, S. R.; Lencastre, H.; Tomasz, A. Complementation of the essential peptidoglycan transpeptidase function of penicillin-binding protein 2 (PBP2) by the drug resistance protein PBP2A in Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* 2001, 183 (22), 6525-6531.
- 107 Pinho, M. G.; Lencastre, H.; Tomasz, A. An acquired and a native penicillin-binding protein cooperate in building the cell wall of drug-resistant staphylococci. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2001, *98* (19), 10886-10891.
- 108 Reed, P.; Veiga, H.; Jorge, A. M.; Terrak, M.; Pinho, M. G. Monofunctional transglycosylases are not essential for Staphylococcus aureus cell wall synthesis. J. Bacteriol. 2011, 193 (10), 2549-2556.
- 109 Rebets, Y.; Lupoli, T.; Qiao, Y.; Schirner, K.; Villet, R.; Hooper, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Moenomycin resistance mutations in Staphylococcus aureus reduce peptidoglycan chain length and cause aberrant cell division. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *9* (2), 459-467.

- 110 Pinho, M. G.; Errington, J. Recruitment of penicillin-binding protein PBP2 to the division site of Staphylococcus aureus is dependent on its transpeptidation substrates. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2005, 55 (3), 799-807.
- 111 Łęski, T. A.; Tomasz, A. Role of penicillin-binding protein 2 (PBP2) in the antibiotic susceptibility and cell wall cross-linking of Staphylococcus aureus: evidence for the cooperative functioning of PBP2, PBP4, and PBP2A. J. Bacteriol. 2005, 187 (5), 1815-1824.
- 112 Pinho, M. G.; Lencastre, H.; Tomasz, A. Cloning, characterization, and inactivation of the gene pbpC, encoding penicillin-binding protein 3 of Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* 2000, *182* (4), 1074-1079.
- 113 Georgopapadakou, N. H.; Dix, B. A.; Mauriz, Y. R. Possible physiological functions of penicillin-binding proteins in Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1986, 29 (2), 333-336.
- 114 Kozarich, J. W.; Strominger, J. L. A membrane enzyme from Staphylococcus aureus which catalyzes transpeptidase, carboxypeptidase, and penicillinase activities. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1978**, *253* (4), 1272-1278.
- 115 Curtis, N. A. C.; Hayes, M. V.; Wyke, A. W.; Ward, J. B. A mutant of Staphylococcus aureus H lacking penicillin-binding protein 4 and transpeptidase activity in vitro. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **1980**, *9* (4), 263-266.
- 116 Ward, J. B.; Hayes, M. V.; Curtis, N. A. A role in vivo for penicillin-binding protein-4 of Staphylococcus aureus. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1981**, *119* (2), 389-393.
- 117 Finan, J. E.; Pucci, M. J.; Climo, M. W. Role of penicillin-binding protein 4 in expression of vancomycin resistance among clinical isolates of oxacillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2001, 45 (11), 3070-3075.
- 118 Sieradzki, K.; Tomasz, A. Inactivated pbp4 in highly glycopeptide-resistant laboratory mutants of Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1999**, *274* (27), 18942-18946.
- 119 Henze, U. U.; Berger-Bächi, B. Staphylococcus aureus penicillin-binding protein 4 and intrinsic beta-lactam resistance. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1995**, *39* (11), 2415-2422.

- 120 Henze, U. U.; Berger-Bächi, B. Penicillin-binding protein 4 overproduction increases betalactam resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1996**, *40* (9), 2121-2125.
- 121 Henze, U. U.; Roos, M.; Berger-Bächi, B. Effects of penicillin-binding protein 4 overproduction in Staphylococcus aureus. *Microb. Drug Resist.* **1996**, *2* (2), 193-199.
- 122 Katayama, Y.; Zhang, H.; Chambers, H. F. Effect of disruption of Staphylococcus aureus PBP4 gene on resistance to β-Lactam antibiotics. *Microb. Drug Resist.* **2003**, *9* (4), 329-336.
- 123 Memmi, G.; Filipe, S. R.; Pinho, M. G.; Fu, Z.; Cheung, A. Staphylococcus aureus PBP4 Is essential for β-Lactam resistance in community-acquired methicillin-resistant strains. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **2008**, *52* (11), 3955-3966.
- 124 Atilano, M. L.; Pereira, P. M.; Yates, J.; Reed, P.; Veiga, H.; Pinho, M. G.; Filipe, S. R. Teichoic acids are temporal and spatial regulators of peptidoglycan cross-linking in Staphylococcus aureus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107* (44), 18991-18996.
- 125 Gautam, S.; Kim, T.; Spiegel, D. A. Chemical probes reveal an extraseptal mode of crosslinking in Staphylococcus aureus. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (23), 7441-7447.
- 126 Barrett, D.; Leimkuhler, C.; Chen, L.; Walker, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Kinetic characterization of the glycosyltransferase module of Staphylococcus aureus PBP2. *J. Bacteriol.* **2005**, *187* (6), 2215-2217.
- 127 National Strategy for combating antibiotic-resistance bacteria. CDC. 2014.
- 128 Review on antimicrobial resistance. antimicrobial resistance: *Tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations*. 2014.
- 129 Otto, M. MRSA virulence and spread. Cell Microbiol. 2012, 14 (10), 1513-1521.
- 130 Mendes, R. E.; Tsakris, A.; Sader, H. S.; Jones, R. N.; Biek, D.; McGhee, P.; Appelbaum, P. C.; Kosowska-Shick, K. Characterization of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus displaying increased MICs of ceftaroline. *J. Antimcrob. Chemother.* 2012, 67 (6), 1321-1324.

- 131 Chambers, H. F. Methicillin resistance in staphylococci: molecular and biochemical basis and clinical implications. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **1997**, *10* (4), 781-791.
- 132 Stapleton, P. D.; Taylor, P. W. Methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Sci. Prog.* **2002**, *85* (Pt 1), 57-72.
- 133 Kobayashi, N.; Taniguchi, K.; Urasawa, S. Analysis of Diversity of Mutations in the mecI Gene and mecA Promoter/Operator Region of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1998**, *42* (3), 717-720.
- 134 Couto, I.; Severina, E.; Kloos, W.; Webster, J. A.; Hubner, R. J.; Sanches, I. S.; Tomasz, A. Ubiquitous presence of a mecA homologue in natural isolates of Staphylococcus sciuri. *Microb. Drug Resist.* **1996**, *2* (4), 377-391.
- 135 Hartman, B.; Tomasz, A. Altered penicillin-binding proteins in methicillin-resistant strains of Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1981**, *19* (5), 726-735.
- 136 Ubukata, K.; Nonoguchi, R.; Matsuhashi, M.; Konno, M. Expression and inducibility in Staphylococcus aureus of the mecA gene, which encodes a methicillin-resistant S. aureus-specific penicillin-binding protein. *J. Bacteriol.* **1989**, *171* (5), 2882-2885.
- 137 Lu, W.; Sun, Y.; Bauer, M. D.; Paule, S.; Koenigs, P. M.; Kraft, W. G. Penicillin-Binding Protein 2a from Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus: Kinetic Characterization of Its Interactions with β-Lactams Using Electrospray Mass Spectrometry. *Biochemistry* 1999, 38 (20), 6537-6546.
- 138 Fuda, C.; Suvorov, M.; Vakulenko, S. B.; Mobashery, S. The basis for resistance to β-Lactam antibiotics by penicillin-binding protein 2a of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. J. Biol. Chem. **2004**, 279 (39), 40802-40806.
- 139 Lim, D.; Strynadka, N. C. J. Structural basis for the β lactam resistance of PBP2a from methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2002**, *9* (11), 870-876.
- 140 Fuda, C.; Hesek, D.; Lee, M.; Morio, K.; Nowak, T.; Mobashery, S. Activation for catalysis of penicillin-binding protein 2a from methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus by bacterial cell wall. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127* (7), 2056-2057.
- 141 Otero, L. H.; Rojas-Altuve, A.; Llarrull, L. I.; Carrasco-López, C.; Kumarasiri, M.; Lastochkin, E.; Fishovitz, J.; Dawley, M.; Hesek, D.; Lee, M.; Johnson, J. W.; Fisher, J. F.;

Chang, M.; Mobashery, S.; Hermoso, J. A. How allosteric control of Staphylococcus aureus penicillin binding protein 2a enables methicillin resistance and physiological function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2013**, *110* (42), 16808-16813.

- 142 Villegas-Estrada, A.; Lee, M.; Hesek, D.; Vakulenko, S. B.; Mobashery, S. Co-opting the cell wall in fighting methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: potent inhibition of PBP 2a by two anti-MRSA β-Lactam antibiotics. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130* (29), 9212-9213.
- 143 Fishovitz, J.; Taghizadeh, N.; Fisher, J. F.; Chang, M.; Mobashery, S. The Tipper– Strominger hypothesis and triggering of allostery in penicillin-binding protein 2a of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (20), 6500-6505.
- 144 Fishovitz, J.; Rojas-Altuve, A.; Otero, L. H.; Dawley, M.; Carrasco-López, C.; Chang, M.; Hermoso, J. A.; Mobashery, S. Disruption of allosteric response as an unprecedented mechanism of resistance to antibiotics. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (28), 9814-9817.
- 145 Berger-Bächi, B.; Barberis-Maino, L.; Strässle, A.; Kayser, F. H. FemA, a host-mediated factor essential for methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus: molecular cloning and characterization. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **1989**, *219* (1-2), 263-269.
- 146 Berger-Bächi, B.; Strässle, A.; Gustafson, J. E.; Kayser, F. H. Mapping and characterization of multiple chromosomal factors involved in methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1992**, *36* (7), 1367-1373.
- 147 Maidhof, H.; Reinicke, B.; Blümel, P.; Berger-Bächi, B.; Labischinski, H. femA, which encodes a factor essential for expression of methicillin resistance, affects glycine content of peptidoglycan in methicillin-resistant and methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus strains. *J. Bacteriol.* **1991**, *173* (11), 3507-3513.
- 148 Strandén, A. M.; Ehlert, K.; Labischinski, H.; Berger-Bächi, B. Cell wall monoglycine cross-bridges and methicillin hypersusceptibility in a femAB null mutant of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* **1997**, *179* (1), 9-16.
- 149 Rohrer, S.; Ehlert, K. ; Tschierske, M.; Labischinski, H.; Berger-Bachi, B. The essential Staphylococcus aureus gene fmhB is involved in the first step of peptidoglycan pentaglycine interpeptide formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1999**, *96* (16), 9351-9356.

- 150 Fukumoto, A.; Kim, Y.; Hanaki, H.; Shiomi, K.; Tomoda, H.; Ōmura, S. Cyslabdan, a new potentiator of imipenem activity against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, produced by Streptomyces sp. K04-0144. *J Antibiot.* **2008**, *61* (1), 7-10.
- 151 Koyama, N.; Tokura, Y.; Münch, D.; Sahl, H. G.; Schneider, T.; Shibagaki, Y.; Ikeda, H.; Tomoda, H. The nonantibiotic small molecule cyslabdan enhances the potency of β-Lactams against MRSA by inhibiting pentaglycine interpeptide bridge synthesis. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7 (11), e48981.
- 152 Gustafson, J.; Strassle, A.; Hachler, H.; Kayser, F. H.; Berger-Bachi, B. The femC locus of Staphylococcus aureus required for methicillin resistance includes the glutamine synthetase operon. *J. Bacteriol.* **1994**, *176* (5), 1460-1467.
- 153 Komatsuzawa, H.; Ohta, K. ; Labischinski, H.; Sugai, M.; Suginaka, H. Characterization of fmtA, a gene that modulates the expression of methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1999**, *43* (9), 2121-2125.
- 154 Rahman, M. M.; Hunter, H. N.; Prova, S.; Verma, V.; Qamar, A.; Golemi-Kotra, D. The Staphylococcus aureus methicillin resistance factor FmtA is a D-amino esterase that acts on teichoic acids. *MBio* **2016**, *7* (1), e02070-02015.
- 155 Maki, H.; Yamaguchi T Fau Murakami, K.; Murakami, K. Cloning and characterization of a gene affecting the methicillin resistance level and the autolysis rate in Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* **1994**, *176* (16), 4993-5000.
- 156 Brown, S.; Xia, G.; Luhachack, L. G.; Campbell, J.; Meredith, T. C.; Chen, C.; Winstel, V.; Gekeler, C.; Irazoqui, J. E.; Peschel, A.; Walker, S. Methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus requires glycosylated wall teichoic acids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2012, *109* (46), 18909-18914.
- 157 Campbell, J.; Singh, A. K.; Santa Maria, J.P., Jr.; Kim, Y.; Brown, S.; Swoboda, J. G.; Mylonakis, E.; Wilkinson, B. J.; Walker, S. Synthetic lethal compound combinations reveal a fundamental connection between wall teichoic acid and peptidoglycan biosyntheses in Staphylococcus aureus. ACS Chem. Biol. 2011, 6 (1), 106-116.
- 158 Piriz Duran, S.; Kayser, F. H.; Berger-Bachi, B. Impact of sar and agr on methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *FEMS Micobiol. Lett.* **1996**, *141* (2-3), 255-260.
- 159 Roemer, T.; Schneider, T.; Pinho, M. G. Auxiliary factors: a chink in the armor of MRSA resistance to β-lactam antibiotics. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **2013**, *16* (5), 538-548.

- 160 Lee, S. H.; Jarantow, L. W.; Wang, H.; Sillaots, S.; Cheng, H.; Meredith, T. C; Thompson, J.; Roemer, T. Antagonism of chemical genetic interaction networks resensitize MRSA to β-Lactam antibiotics. *Chemistry & Biology* **2011**, *18* (11), 1379-1389.
- 161 Nair, D. R.; Monteiro, J. M.; Memmi, G.; Thanassi, J. A.; Pucci, M. J.; Schwartzman, J.; Pinho, M. G.; Cheung, A. L. Characterization of a novel small molecule that potentiates βlactam activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2015, *59* (4), 1876-1885.
- 162 Huber, J.; Donald, R.G. K.; Lee, S. H.; Jarantow, L. W.; Salvatore, M. J.; Meng, X.; Painter, R.; Onishi, R. H.; Occi, J.; Dorso, K.; Young, K.; Park, Y. W.; Skwish, S.; Szymonifka, M. J.; Waddell, T. S.; Miesel, L.; Phillips, J. W.; Roemer, T. Chemical genetic identification of peptidoglycan inhibitors potentiating carbapenem activity against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Chemistry & Biology* **2009**, *16* (8), 837-848.
- 163 Gonzales, P. R.; Pesesky, M. W.; Bouley, R.; Ballard, A.; Biddy, B. A.; Suckow, M. A.; Wolter, W. R.; Schroeder, V. A.; Burnham, C. D.; Mobashery, S.; Chang, M.; Dantas, G. Synergistic, collaterally sensitive β-lactam combinations suppress resistance in MRSA. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 2015, *11* (11), 855-861.
- 164 Kramer, N. E.; Smid, E. J.; Kok, Jan; de Kruijff, B.; Kuipers, Oscar P.; Breukink, E. Resistance of Gram-positive bacteria to nisin is not determined by lipid II levels. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 2004, 239 (1), 157-161.
- 165 Schwartz, B.; Markwalder, J. A.; Wang, Y. Lipid II: Total Synthesis of the Bacterial Cell Wall Precursor and Utilization as a Substrate for Glycosyltransfer and Transpeptidation by Penicillin Binding Protein (PBP) 1b of Eschericia coli. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123 (47), 11638-11643.
- 166 VanNieuwenhze, M. S.; Mauldin, S. C.; Zia-Ebrahimi, M.; Aikins, J. A.; Blaszczak, L. C. The total synthesis of Lipid I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123 (29), 6983-6988.
- 167 VanNieuwenhze, M. S.; Mauldin, S. C.; Zia-Ebrahimi, M.; Winger, B. E.; Hornback, W. J.; Saha, S. L.; Aikins, J. A.; Blaszczak, L. C. The First Total Synthesis of Lipid II: The Final Monomeric Intermediate in Bacterial Cell Wall Biosynthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2002, *124* (14), 3656-3660.
- 168 Ye, X. Y.; Lo, M. C.; Brunner, L.; Walker, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Better substrates for bacterial transglycosylases. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123 (13), 3155-3156.

- 169 Barrett, D.; Wang, T. A.; Yuan, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Analysis of glycan polymers produced by peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2007, 282 (44), 31964-31971.
- 170 Perlstein, D. L.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, T. S.; Kahne, D. E.; Walker, S. The direction of glycan chain elongation by peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129* (42), 12674-12675.
- 171 Wang, T. A.; Manning, S.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Isolated peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases from different organisms produce different glycan chain lengths. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130 (43), 14068-14069.
- 172 Bertsche, U.; Breukink, E.; Kast, T.; Vollmer, W. In vitro murein (Peptidoglycan) synthesis by dimers of the bifunctional transglycosylase-transpeptidase PBP1B from Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2005**, *280* (45), 38096-38101.
- 173 Born, P.; Breukink, E.; Vollmer, W. In vitro synthesis of cross-linked murein and its attachment to sacculi by PBP1A from Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281* (37), 26985-26993.
- 174 Helassa, N.; Vollmer, W.; Breukink, E.; Vernet, T.; Zapun, A. The membrane anchor of penicillin-binding protein PBP2a from Streptococcus pneumoniae influences peptidoglycan chain length. *FEBS J.* **2012**, *279* (11), 2071-2081.
- 175 Zapun, A.; Philippe, J.; Abrahams, K. A.; Signor, L.; Roper, D. I.; Breukink, E.; Vernet, T. In vitro reconstitution of peptidoglycan assembly from the Gram-positive pathogen Streptococcus pneumoniae. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2013**, *8* (12), 2688-2696.
- 176 Huang, S. H.; Wu, W. S ; Huang, L. Y.; Huang, W. F.; Fu, W. C.; Chen, P. T.; Fang, J. M.; Cheng, W. C.; Cheng, T. J. R.; Wong, C. H. New continuous fluorometric assay for bacterial transglycosylase using Forster resonance energy transfer. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2013, *135* (45), 17078-17089.
- 177 Chen, K. T.; Kuan, Y. C.; Fu, W. C.; Liang, P. H.; Cheng, T. J. R.; Wong, C. H.; Cheng, W. C. Rapid preparation of mycobacterium N-glycolyl Lipid I and Lipid II derivatives: a biocatalytic approach. *Chemistry* **2013**, *19* (3), 834-838.
- 178 Liu, C. Y.; Guo, C. W; Chang, Y. F.; Wang, J. T.; Shih, H. W.; Hsu, Y. F.; Chen, C. W.; Chen, S. K.; Wang, Y. C.; Cheng, T. J. R.; Ma, C.; Wong, C. H.; Fang, J. M.; Cheng, W. C.
Synthesis and evaluation of a new fluorescent transglycosylase substrate: lipid II-based molecule possessing a dansyl-C20 polyprenyl moiety. *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12* (7), 1608-1611.

- 179 Lebar, M. D.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; May, J. M.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Forming cross-linked peptidoglycan from synthetic Gram-negative Lipid II. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135* (12), 4632-4635.
- 180 Tsukamoto, H.; Kahne, D. N-methylimidazolium chloride-catalyzed pyrophosphate formation: application to the synthesis of Lipid I and NDP-sugar donors. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2011**, *21* (17), 5050-5053.
- 181 Lebar, M. D.; May, J. M.; Meeske, A. J.; Leiman, S. A.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; Losick, R.; Rudner, D. Z.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Reconstitution of peptidoglycan crosslinking leads to improved fluorescent probes of cell wall synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2014, *136* (31), 10874-10877.
- 182 Lupoli, T. J.; Lebar, M. D.; Markovski, M.; Bernhardt, T. G.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Lipoprotein activators stimulate Escherichia coli penicillin-binding proteins by different mechanisms. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (1), 52-55.
- 183 Zhang, Y.; Fechter, E. J.; Wang, T. A.; Barrett, D.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Synthesis of heptaprenyl–Lipid IV to analyze peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129 (11), 3080-3081.
- 184 Shih, H. W.; Chen, K. T.; Cheng, T. J. R.; Wong, C. H.; Cheng, W. C. A new synthetic approach toward bacterial transglycosylase substrates, Lipid II and Lipid IV. *Org. Lett.* 2011, 13 (7), 4600-4603.
- 185 Egan, A. J.; Biboy, J.; van't Veer, I.; Breukink, E.; Vollmer, W. Activities and regulation of peptidoglycan synthases. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Biol. Sci.* **2015**, *370* (1679), pii: 20150031.
- 186 Kohlrausch, U.; Höltje, J. V. Analysis of murein and murein precursors during antibioticinduced lysis of Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. **1991**, 173 (11), 3425-3431.
- 187 Nakamura, J.; Yamashiro, H.; Miya, H.; Nishiguchi, K.; Maki, H.; Arimoto, H. Staphylococcus aureus penicillin-binding protein 2 can use depsi-Lipid II derived from vancomycin-resistant strains for cell wall synthesis. *Chemistry* 2013, 19 (36), 12104-12112.

- 188 Yuan, Y.; Barrett, D.; Zhang, Y.; Kahne, D.; Sliz, P.; Walker, S. Crystal structure of a peptidoglycan glycosyltransferase suggests a model for processive glycan chain synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2007, *104* (13), 5348-5353.
- 189 Perlstein, D. L.; Wang, A. S. ; Doud, E. H.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. The role of the substrate Lipid in processive glycan polymerization by the peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132* (1), 48-49.
- 190 Wang, T. A.; Lupoli, T. J.; Sumida, Y.; Tsukamoto, H.; Wu, Y.; Rebets, Y.; Kahne, D. ; Walker, S. Primer preactivation of peptidoglycan polymerases. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (22), 8528-8530.
- 191 Lovering, A. L.; Castro, L.; Lim, D.; Strynadka, N. C. J. Structural insight into the transglycosylation step of bacterial cell-wall biosynthesis. *Science* **2007**, *315* (5817), 1402-1405.
- 192 Yuan, Y.; Fuse, S. ; Ostash, B.; Sliz, P.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Structural analysis of the contacts anchoring moenomycin to peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases and implications for antibiotic design. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2008**, *3* (7), 429-436.
- 193 Heaslet, H.; Shaw, B. ; Mistry, Anil; Miller, A. A. Characterization of the active site of S. aureus monofunctional glycosyltransferase (Mtg) by site-directed mutation and structural analysis of the protein complexed with moenomycin. *J. Struct. Biol.* **2009**, *167* (2), 129-135.
- 194 Huang, C. Y.; Shih, H. W.; Lin, L. Y.; Tien, Y. W.; Cheng, T. J. R.; Cheng, W. C.; Wong, C. H.; Ma, C. Crystal structure of Staphylococcus aureus transglycosylase in complex with a lipid II analog and elucidation of peptidoglycan synthesis mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 2012, 109 (17), 6496-6501.
- 195 Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; Doud, E. H.; Wang, T. A.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Transpeptidase-mediated incorporation of D-amino acids into bacterial peptidoglycan. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (28), 10748-10751.
- 196 Banzhaf, M; van den Berg, V.; Saparoea, B.; Terrak, M.; Fraipont, C.; Egan, A. J.; Philippe, J.; Zapun, A.; Breukink, E.; Nguyen-Distèhe, M.; den Blaauwen, T.; Vollmer, W. Cooperativity of peptidoglycan synthases active in bacterial cell elongation. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2012, *85* (1), 179-194.

- 197 Lam, H.; Oh, D.C.; Cava, F.; Takacs, C. N.; Clardy, J.; Pedro, M. A. de; Waldor, M. K. Damino acids govern stationary phase cell wall remodeling in bacteria. *Science* **2009**, *325* (5947), 1552-1555.
- 198 Cava, F.; de Pedro, M. A.; Lam, H.; Davis, B. M.; Waldor, M. K. Distinct pathways for modification of the bacterial cell wall by non-canonical D-amino acids: distinct pathways for cell wall remodelling. *EMBO J.* **2011**, *30* (16), 3442-3453.
- 199 Kuru, E.; Hughes, H. V.; Brown, P. J.; Hall, E.; Tekkam, S.; Cava, F.; de Pedro, M. A.; Brun, Y. V.; VanNieuwenhze, M. S. In situ probing of newly synthesized peptidoglycan in live bacteria with fluorescent D-amino acids. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2012, *51* (50), 12519-12523.
- 200 Liechti, G. W.; Kuru, E.; Hall, E.; Kalinda, A.; Brun, Y. V.; VanNieuwenhze, M.; Maurelli, A. T. A new metabolic cell-wall labelling method reveals peptidoglycan in Chlamydia trachomatis. *Nature* **2014**, *506* (7489), 507-510.
- 201 Kuru, E.; Tekkam, S.; Hall, E.; Brun, Y. V.; Van Nieuwenhze, M. S. Synthesis of fluorescent D-amino acids and their use for probing peptidoglycan synthesis and bacterial growth in situ. *Nat. Protocols* **2015**, *10* (1), 33-52.
- 202 Shieh, P.; Siegrist, M. S.; Cullen, A. J.; Bertozzi, C. R. Imaging bacterial peptidoglycan with near-infrared fluorogenic azide probes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2014**, *111* (15), 5456-5461.
- 203 Gautam, S.; Kim, T.; Shoda, T.; Sen, S.; Deep, D.; Luthra, R.; Ferreira, M. T.; Pinho, M. G.; Spiegel, D. A. An activity-based probe for studying crosslinking in live bacteria. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2015, *54* (36), 10492-10496.

Chapter Two: Exploiting the transpeptidase activity of PBP4 to detect peptidoglycan precursors in cells and to elucidate the mechanism of antibiotics that target cell wall

biosynthesis

Work presented in this chapter was adapted from

Qiao, Y.; Lebar, M. D.; Schirner, K.; Schaefer, K.; Tsukamoto, H.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Detection of lipid-Linked peptidoglycan precursors by exploiting an unexpected transpeptidase reaction. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (42), 14678-14681.

Lee, W.; Schaefer, K; Qiao, Y.; Srisuknimit, V.; Steinmetz, H.; Müller, R.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. The Mechanism of Action of Lysobactin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2016**, 138 (1), 100-103.

2.1 Introduction

This chapter describes work to characterize the activity of a low-molecular weight (LMW) penicillin-binding protein (PBP) in *Stapylococcus arureus*, PBP4. Unlike previously characterized LMW PBPs in the literature that act as carboxypeptidases (CPs), we showed that *S. aureus* PBP4 has transpeptidase activity. Moreover, unlike previously characterized high-molecular weight (HMW) PBPs, we demonstrated that PBP4 can use Lipid II as a substrate rather than depending on the concomitant peptidoglycan glycosyltransferase (PGT) activity. We exploited the unexpected transpeptidase activity of *S. aureus* PBP4 to develop a facile assay for detection of cellular Lipid II in bacteria. We demonstrated that the assay is useful for studying the mechanisms of action for cell wall-targeting antibiotics and identified conditions that accumulate Lipid II in bacteria, laying the foundation for work described in Chapter Three.

2.1.1 S. aureus PBP4, a peculiar PBP

Bacterial growth and division require coordinations between peptidoglycan (PG) assembly and degradation.¹ PBPs, the major players in the final stages of PG biosynthesis, are involved in both processes.^{2,3} The TP domain in HMW PBPs is responsible for peptide cross-linking between adjacent glycan strands to rigidify PG; LMW PBPs, most of which are also known as D, D-carboxypeptidases (CPs)^a, mediate the removal of the terminal D-Ala residue in the stem peptide in PG (Figure 2.1a).⁴ Since a stem tetrapeptide can no longer be activated by TPs for cross-linking, LMW PBPs are thought to regulate the degree of PG cross-linking in bacteria.⁵ While LMW PBPs are not essential for cell viability many still play important cellular functions in bacteria such as governing cell morphology and contributing to antibiotic

^a A small number of LMW PBPs are endopeptidases (EPs), which catalyze the cleavage of an internal amide bond in the stem peptide in PG.

resistance.⁴ As mentioned in Chapter 1.2.3, the name penicillin-binding protein reflects the fact these proteins were identified in radioactive penicillin binding studies. Sequence alignment reveals that PBPs contain three conserved signature motifs: <u>S</u>XXK, [S/Y]X[N/C] and [K/H][T/S]G, where the underlined serine is the catalytic residue.⁶ These motifs adopt a strikingly similar conformation in all PBPs. In both TP and CP reactions, the first step involves the catalytic serine attacking the amide bond between D-Ala-D-Ala terminus of a stem peptide to form an acyl-enzyme intermediate with the concomitant release of the terminal D-Ala. Subsequently, the covalent intermediate is resolved by a nucleophile, the identity of which varies in TP and CP reaction. In the case of a CP, the nucleophile is water, and a tetrapeptide product is formed.⁷ In the case of a TP, the nucleophile is the terminal amine from a stem peptide on an adjacent PG glycan polymer, and a cross-linked PG product is formed (Figure 2.1a).⁸⁻¹⁴



Figure 2.1. Schematic of carboxypeptidase (CP) and transpeptidase (TP) activities in *S. aureus* PG assembly (a) and Lipid II substrates (b).

PBP4 is the sole LMW PBP in *S. aureus*, which has been previously annotated as a CP based on sequence alignment to other characterized LMW PBPs in different organisms.⁶ Like many LMW PBPs, *S. aureus* PBP4 has a predicted transmembrane helix at the C-terminus. *S.*

aureus PBP4 has two structural domains: an N-terminal domain with a beta-

lactam/transpeptidase fold which contains the conserved motifs at the active site, and a Cterminal domain that is composed of mainly beta-sheets.¹⁵ While the functional role of the Cterminal domain remains to be elucidated, it is also present in several other PBP4-like proteins such as *E. faecalis* D,D-carboxypeptiase, and *E. coli* PBP5.¹⁶

PBP4_SAUR	68-DTKWNPASMTKLMTMYLT-85	133-QITVSNSSNAAALILA-148	250-MSLPGTDGLKTGSSDTA-266
PBP5*_BSUB	53-HQKRRIASITKIMTAVLA-70	109-YGLMLRSGNDAAVAIA-124	211-MLYPYSTGGKTGYTKLA-227
PBP5_PAER	57-DQRLPPASLTKLMTAYIA-74	118-HGIIIQSGNDASVALA-133	217TVDGLKTGHTDEA-233
PBP5_ECOL	66-DVRRDPASLTKMMTSYVI-63	133-RGINLQSGNDACVAMA-148	233LNVDGIKTGHTDKA-249
PBP6_ECOL	59-DEKLDPASLTKIMTSYVV-75	126-KGVIIQSGNDACIALA-141	226LNVDGMKTGTTAGA-242
	*		

Figure 2.2. Protein sequence alignments of representative LMW PBPs. Signature motifs are highlighted in red, the asterisk indicate the predicated catalytic serine residue. Abbreviations for each organism are as follows: *S. aureus* (SAUR), *B. subtilis* (BSUB), *P. aeruginosa* (PAER) and *E. coli* (ECOL). Alignment is done using Clustal Omega, based on work by Massova and Mobashery (1998).

As mentioned in Chapter 1.3, the biochemical activities of *S. aureus* PBP4 were investigated by Kozarich and Strominger in 1978 initially using a tripeptide substrate (Ac₂-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala), which mimics the terminal portion of the stem peptide in Lipid II (Figure 2.1b).¹⁷ Unlike most other LMW PBPs that behave solely as CPs, *S. aureus* PBP4 demonstrates CP, TP and beta-lactamase activity *in vitro*.¹⁷ In the presence of a high concentration of the acceptor, such as glycine or hydroxylamine, the hydrolysis of the tripeptide was suppressed with the concomitant formation of the transpeptidation product. A new peptide was formed in which the terminal D-Ala was replaced by the acceptor. It was pointed out that the weaker nucleophile, glycine, was a better acceptor for transpeptidation. In addition, *S. aureus* PBP4 also demonstrated penicillinase activity upon incubation with penicillin. The ability of *S. aureus* PBP4 to carry out multiple reactions was intriguing. However, kinetic studies revealed that the

tripeptide substrate has a high K_m (100 mM),¹⁷ suggesting it may not be an optimal substrate for analyzing *S. aureus* PBP4 activity *in vitro*. In addition, analysis of *S. aureus* PG reveals that over 90% of the stem peptides are cross-linked, with more than 50% being involved in high degree cross-linking, while no uncross-linked tetrapeptide stems are identified.^{2,18} Genetic inactivation of *S. aureus* PBP4 leads to a drastic reduction in the higher levels of PG cross-linking, suggesting PBP4's physiological role in secondary PG cross-linking.¹⁹ Taken together these studies did not resolve the physiological activities of PBP4.

To better understand the activity of *S. aureus* PBP4, we set out to reconstitute its activity using synthetic Lys-Lipid II as a substrate, which closely resembles native *S. aureus* Lipid II (Figure 2.1b). In this chapter, we showed that PBP4 has transpeptidase activity *in vitro*, which is distinct from other LMW PBPs that act as CPs solely. We next showed PBP4, the primary transpeptidase in *S. aureus* is responsible for fluorescent D-amino acid incorporation in PG *in vivo*. Upon investigation of its substrate specificity, we revealed a unique transpeptidase activity of PBP4: it can mediate D-amino acid exchange in Lipid II. *S. aurueus* PBP4 is the first transpeptidase demonstrated to activate Lipid II.

2.1.2 Challenges with studying the cellular pools of Lipid II in bacteria

The cellular pool of Lipid II in bacteria is a poorly addressed question, primarily due to the lack of a facile analysis method.²⁰ Scattered reports have addressed the number of Lipid I and II molecules in *E. coli* and have relied on intensive and laborious protocols.²¹⁻²³ In such studies, the cellular PG precursors were first radiolabeled by feeding the auxotrophic *E. coli* strain with radioactive *m*-Dap, followed by organic extraction of the lipid intermediates. The isolated radiolabeled lipid intermediates were then hydrolyzed with mild acid to release the

62

corresponding muropeptides, whose relative amount was compared to UDP-MurNAcpentapeptide (the Park nucleotide) on HPLC. It was estimated that the ratio of the Park nucleotide: Lipid I: Lipid II in *E. coli* is approximately 300: 1: 3 or 140: 1: 3.^{24,25} The ratios of Lipid II to Lipid I was found to be constant during the cell cycle.²⁴ Since the amount of the Park nucleotide is approximately 100,000 molecules per cell, there would be no more than 700 molecules of Lipid I and 1000 to 2000 molecules of Lipid II per cell in *E. coli*.²¹

In general, Gram-positive bacteria appear to have more Lipid II than Gram-negative bacteria.²²⁻²⁶ In several Gram-positive bacteria, antibiotics (that act as binders to lipid-linked peptidoglycan intermediate) have been used to estimate the pool levels of lipid intermediates, where the number of antibiotics bound to cell membrane was taken as the number of Lipid II present.²⁰ For instance, binding of ramoplanin to *S. aureus* cells estimated that 50,000 molecules of lipid intermediates are present per cell.^{27b} The amount of precursors estimated in such studies can vary considerably depending on the antibiotic and the bacteria.²⁸ Overall, Lipid II content accounts less than 1% of total phospholipids in bacteria.²⁹ The naturally low abundance of the lipid-linked PG precursors in bacteria renders them challenging to account for. Despite the fact that Lipid I and Lipid II are key intermediates in PG synthesis, how their pool levels change in bacteria under various pharmacological and genetic conditions has not been studied.

We exploited the unexpected transpeptidase activity of *S. aureus* PBP4 to develop a facile method to detect the cellular level of Lipid II in bacteria,³⁰ addressing a longstanding challenge in the field (see Chapter 2.6). We demonstrated that the assay is useful for elucidating the cellular mechanism of action for cell wall-targeting antibiotics. In a separate demonstration of the utility of these tools, we elucidated the mechanism of action of the antibiotic lysobactin.

^b Ramoplanin is a lipoglycodepsipeptide that binds to Lipid II substrate to prevent PG polymerization.

We also identified conditions that lead to Lipid II accumulation in bacteria, which are important for studies in Chapter Three.

2.2 Purification and characterization of S. aureus PBP4

S. aureus PBP4 gene was cloned into an expression vector for heterologous overexpression in the E. coli host. Two C-terminally His₆-tagged PBP4 constructs were prepared initially.^c One is a full-length construct (Mw is 48 kD); the other is a [Y21-Q383] truncated version that lacks the predicted N-terminal signal sequence and the C-terminal transmemrbane segment (Mw is 42 kD). Initial overexpression tests showed that the full-length PBP4 did not overexpress, but the truncated PBP4 protein was soluble and overexpressed well. The C-terminal transmembrane helix, a common feature in most LMW PBPs is likely to complicate the expression and localization of the full-length PBP4 construct. Therefore, we focused on the PBP4[Y21-Q383]-His₆ construct for purification and characterization, which will be denoted as PBP4 throughout the chapter. The soluble PBP4 construct was purified from the cytosolic fraction in E. coli by Ni-NTA (nitrilotriacetic acid) affinity column chromatography. PBP4 was purified to homogeneity after one step purification as observed on SDS-PAGE gel (Figure 2.3). The yield of purification is approximately 10 mg/L culture. A small amount of detergent (0.1%) reduced triton-X) was added in the elution and storage buffer of PBP4 protein. Notably, the high concentration of imidazole in the elution buffer did not affect PBP4 stability and activity.

The Bocillin-FL binding assay was used to establish that the active site of PBP4 was properly folded.³¹ In this assay, PBP4 was pre-incubated with various concentrations of nonlabeled penicillin G (PenG), followed by the addition of a saturating amount of Bocillin-FL (Bo-FL), a fluorescent penicillin derivative to the reaction mixture. As shown in Figure 2.3, PenG

^c A former postdoctoral researcher, Yuriy Rebets, prepared the constructs.

inhibited Bo-FL labeling of PBP4 in a dose-dependent manner, implying that active site of PBP4 is properly folded. However, such competition binding assays do not directly monitor activity of the PBPs, which will be discussed in more detail in Chapter Four.



Figure 2.3. *S. aureus* PBP4 is purified to homogeneity. a) Structure of Bocillin-FL (Bo-FL), a fluorescent derivative of penicillin. b) Coomassie stained SDS-PAGE gel of purified PBP4 (left) and fluorescent image of Bo-FL-bound PBP4 in the presence of varying concentrations of penicillin (right). 1667 units (U) of penicillin equals to 1 mg.

2.3 Assessment of S. aureus PBP4 in vitro activity

To investigate the *in vitro* activity of *S. aureus* PBP4, we used synthetic Lipid II, Lys-Lipid II (Figure 2.1b).³² As mentioned earlier, the Ac₂-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala tripeptide has been used primarily to study LMW PBPs, including *S. aureus* PBP4;^{15,17} however, the tripeptide substrate only contains a small portion of the Lipid II, which may affect the enzymatic activity.^d In contrast, Lys-Lipid II shares the general lipid-linked disaccharide peptide structure with native *S. aureus* Lipid II except for a few distinctions. Lys-Lipid II lacks the pentaglycine branch peptide and contains a D-iso-Glu instead of D-isoGln at the second position of the stem peptide. Lys-Lipid II also has a shorter heptaprenyl lipid (C35) instead of the natural undecaprenyl lipid (C55). It has been demonstrated that heptaprenyl Lipid II analogues is a better substrate for PGT activity *in vitro*, due to its reduced tendency to aggregate.³³ The absence of pentaglycine branch

^d The turnover number of PBP4 transpeptidase activity using tripeptide substrate was 20 min⁻¹ (ref. 17).

in Lys-Lipid II for transpeptidation was overcome by the addition of exogenous oligoglycines as acceptors in the reaction (see below).

To evaluate the activity of S. aureus PBP4, we adopted a liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC/MS) assay that was previously used to study HMW PBPs in E. coli and B. subtilis.^{12,13} In this assay, PG polymer formed in vitro was digested with mutanolysin, a glycosidase into disaccharide muropeptides. The muropeptides were then treated with NaBH₄ to resolve the anomers at the reducing end of MurNAc prior to LC/MS analysis. Since mutanolysin can only digest PG polymer containing a few disaccharide-repeating units and does not digest the monomeric Lipid II, formation of a PG strand is a pre-requisite in this assay. S. aureus PBP4 is a LMW PBP that does not have PGT activity, therefore, we coupled PBP4 with a monofunctional glycosyltransferase, SgtB to make nascent PG polymers.^{34e} To evaluate if PBP4 has TP activity, we also added glycine oligopeptides (Gly_x : Gly_1 , Gly_2 , Gly_3 and Gly_5) to the reaction mixture to mimic the acceptor strands in cross-linking. The resulting muropeptide fragments were analyzed via LC/MS. As shown in Figure 2.4, SgtB alone gave only unmodified fragment A, confirming its involvement in nascent PG formation only (Figure 2.4b, trace i); SgtB and PBP4 produced two products in the absence of Gly_x : unmodified fragment A, and the hydrolysis product B (Figure 2.4b, trace ii). When Gly_x was added, S. aureus PBP4 preferentially incorporated the exogenous nucleophile to product C_x even though the concentration of water is many orders of magnitude higher (Figure 2.4b, trace iii-iv, and Figure App1.1). In addition, we also observed efficient D-amino acid incorporation when D-Ser, D-Phe or D-Tyr (1mM) was added. While mutating the PBP4 catalytic serine residue abolished all activity (Figure App1.2). The ability of PBP4 to discriminate against water and incorporate glycine oligopeptide and D-amino acids

^e Previous studies have shown that SgtB polymerized Lys-Lipid II *in vitro* to long glycan polymers of approximately 50 disaccharide units.

shows that it acts as a TP *in vitro*, unlike most other LMW PBPs, which possess CP activity exclusively.³⁵



Figure 2.4. *S. aureus* PBP4 demonstrates TP activity *in vitro*. (a) Schematic of assay to monitor PBP4 activity. The PBP4-activated substrate adduct can be attacked by water or Gly_x . Three possible degradation products are yielded: A represents the unreacted muropeptide, **B** is the hydrolysis product, and **C** is a TP product with Gly_2 or Gly_5 incorporated. (b) LC/MS extracted ion chromatograms (EICs) of a control reaction without PBP4 (i), a reaction with PBP4 (ii), and reactions containing PBP4 and Gly_2 (iii) or D-Ser (iv). (M+2H)/2 ions: **A**, 485.2; **B**, 449.6; **C**(Gly_2), 506.7; **C**(Gly_5), 592.3. (See materials and methods for detailed protocols).

2.4 Assessment of S. aureus PBP4 in vivo activity

To assess if *S. aureus* PBP4 has TP activity in cells, we investigated the ability of wildtype *S. aureus* and the $\Delta pbp4$ mutant strains to incorporate a fluorescent D-Lys probe (FDL).³⁶ We observed that wildtype *S. aureus* cells were brightly labeled with FDL, with fluorescence concentrated at the crosswall where the bulk of PG synthesis takes place (Figure 2.5a).³⁷ The $\Delta pbp4$ strain showed only faint labeling, but complementation of *pbp4* gene restored efficient labeling. Monitoring fluorescence signals in *S. aureus* that were incubated with FDL for various periods of time (1min, 10min and 30min) indicates that FDL incorporation is efficient and the signal intensity increases over time (Figure 2.5). These results support that PBP4 acts as

a TP in cells and is primarily responsible for catalyzing D-amino acid exchange into PG in *S. aureus*.^f Previous findings have shown that the level of PG cross-linking in *S. aureus* is drastically reduced in $\Delta pbp4$ mutant, implying its cellular function as a TP.¹⁹ Our observation is consistent with this.



Figure 2.5. *S. aureus* PBP4 has TP activity *in vivo*. a) Chemical structure of fluorescent D-lysine probe (FDL). b) *S. aureus* wildtype strain incorporates FDL efficiently, but the $\Delta pbp4$ strain shows dramatic decrease in FDL incorporation. Complementation with *pbp4* gene restores the incorporation efficiency (Scale bar: 2 μ M). Sample preparation is described in materials and methods.

Using fluorescent D-amino acid derivatives to study bacterial PG synthesis has been of great interest in recent years.^{38,39} Different mechanisms are responsible for D-amino acid incorporation into PG in different bacteria. For instance, the L,D-transpeptidases in *E. coli* are primarily responsible for exogenous D-amino acid incorporation at the fourth position of the stem peptide;⁴⁰ whereas in *B. subtilis*, exogenous D-amino acids are incorporated by TPs into the

^f The faint labeling associated with $\Delta pbp4$ strain indicates that other PBPs or pathways may play a role in FDL incorporation as well.

fifth position exclusively, but are rapidly hydrolyzed by CPs, and deletion of *dacA^g* is necessary to retain fluorescent labels in PG.^{36,40} In addition, *Chlamydia trachomatis*, a species whose PG is only recently appreciated, can incorporate fluorescent analogues of D-Ala-D-Ala dipeptide probes in PG via the intracellular ligase MurF.³⁹ In the case of *S. aureus*, the fluorescent D-amino acid was incorporated into the fifth position in the stem peptide in PG. Our work demonstrates that *S. aureus* PBP4 is the primary PBP responsible for D-amino acid incorporation in PG.³⁰ Two recent works also illustrate the importance of *S. aureus* PBP4 in fluorescent labeling of PG.^{41,42}

2.5 Analysis of S. aureus PBP4 substrate specificity in vitro

For certain HMW PBPs, TP activity requires either ongoing PG synthesis or preformed uncross-linked PG polymers.^{8,9,43} All previously studied LMW PBPs have less stringent substrate requirements that only require a tripeptide mimic for their CP activity.^{44,45} In order to assess the substrate requirements of *S. aureus* PBP4, we modified the *in vitro* assay by adding enzymes sequentially. To determine if preformed PG is a PBP4 substrate, Lys-Lipid II was polymerized with SgtB, which was heat-inactivated prior to adding PBP4 and D-Tyr.^h In a parallel set of experiments to test if Lipid II could be a substrate, Lys-Lipid II was first incubated with PBP4 and D-Tyr and then heat-inactivated prior to adding SgtB to polymerize the modified Lipid II. LC/MS analysis of the reaction products showed that D-Tyr was incorporated efficiently in both sets of reactions (Figure 2.6). Thus PBP4 uses both nascent PG and Lipid II monomers as substrates *in vitro*. This is the first demonstration of a TP capable of activating monomeric Lipid II. PBP4 has been suggested responsible for the formation of highly cross-linked PG in *S*.

^g *B. subtilis* DacA encodes PBP5, a LMW PBP that acts as a carboxypeptidase.

^h D-Tyr was chosen as an example here; other D-amino acids could be incorporated as well.

aureus.¹⁹ We believe the promiscuity of *S. aureus* PBP4 in substrate recognition has important ramifications for its cellular functions.^{46,47} The ability of *S. aureus* PBP4 to act on both glycan strands and Lipid II, independent of glycan polymerization, may allow it to add cross-links to partially cross-linked PG and to repair defects in cells. This role may be particularly important under stress conditions.⁴⁸



Figure 2.6. *S. aureus* PBP4 exhibits promiscuous TP activity *in vitro*. (a) Schematic for analyzing PBP4 substrate tolerance. (b) LC/MS EICs of PBP4 reactions with preformed PG (i) and Lipid II (ii) both show the D-Tyr-containing muropeptide peak C. (M+2H)/2 ions were extracted: **A**: 485.2, **B**: 449.6, **C**: 531.2. (See materials and methods for detailed protocols).

S. aureus PBP4 exchanges D-amino acid into Lys-Lipid II efficiently. We found that the presence of an increasing concentration of D-Tyr (at 0 μ M, 20 μ M, 400 μ M, and 1mM) in the assay favors the formation of D-Tyr containing muropeptides. Approximately, a 10-fold excess of D-Tyr (400 μ M) over Lys-Lipid II (40 μ M) led to the complete exchange of the terminal D-Ala over one hour of reaction (Fig. App1.3). PBP4 can also efficiently incorporate other D-amino acids (such as D-Ser, D-Phe, D-Lys and so on) into Lys-Lipid II. To investigate if

different acceptors behave differently during incorporation, we set up a competition experiment where two nucleophiles, D-Ala(d₃) and Gly-Gly dipeptide were added to the reaction mixture in equal concentrations (at 1 mM each).ⁱ At various time points, the reaction was subjected to analysis on LC/MS (Figure 2.7). In this experiment, D-Ala(d_3), which resembles the terminal D-Ala but can be distinguished on MS, was used to probe the reverse reaction of activation; Gly-Gly dipeptide was used to represent the glycine branch in cross-linking. We observed that D-Ala(d_3) was quantitatively incorporated within the first 15 min of the reaction (Figure 2.7b, peak C), but was replaced by Gly-Gly as reaction proceeded (Figure 2.7b, peak D). As illustrated in Figure 2.7c, the incorporation of D-Ala(d₃) and Gly-Gly into Lipid II both involves the formation of a common acyl-enzyme intermediate. D-Ala (d_3) attacks the intermediate rapidly, forming a modified D-Ala-D-Ala(d₃) terminus in Lipid II, which can then be re-activated by PBP4 to yield the covalent intermediate again. Thus, the incorporation of $D-Ala(d_3)$ is reversible. On the other hand, Gly-Gly incorporation occurs slower but is irreversible, since re-inactivation of the modified terminus with Gly-Gly by PBP4 was not observed. As a result, Lipid II was quantitatively incorporated with Gly-Gly after prolonged incubation. This observation is in accordance with the fact that PG cross-links are not hydrolyzed by PBPs.

Prompted by the promiscuous TP activity of *S. aureus* PBP4, we further examined the scope of synthetic Lipid I and Lipid II analogues as substrates. We found that PBP4 can act on canonical *E. coli* Lipid II, which contains an *m*-Dap in place of L-Lys in the stem peptide (Figure App.1.3). In addition, Lipid I analogues could be readily modified by PBP4 via D-amino acid exchange and then converted to the corresponding Lipid II analogues in the chemoenzymatic MurG reaction (Figure 2.8). Using biotinylated D-Lys (BDL), we readily obtained BDL-Lipid I

ⁱ The reaction contains 2 µM of S. aureus PBP4 and 40 µM of Lys-Lipid II.

and Lipid II. A number of Lipid I and II analogues with unnatural D-amino acid in the terminal stem peptide position, such as D-propargylglycine and D-7-azatryptophan were prepared similarly (Figure App1.4 and 1.5). However, incorporation of D-amino acid derivatives with bulky side chains that are close to the alpha carbon (C α), such as D-Ala-7-amino-4-mehtylcoumarin (AMC), was impeded, whereas derivatives with the bulkiness further away from C α (such as BDL) was well tolerated by *S. aureus* PBP4.



Figure 2.7. LC/MS analysis of *S. aureus* PBP4-mediated D-amino acid exchange in Lipid II. (a-b) Schematic and EICs of PBP4 reactions with Lys-Lipid II in the presence of an equal amount of D-Ala(d_3) and Gly-Gly as acceptors. D-Ala(d_3) incorporated muropeptide (**C**) was observed wihin 15 min of incubation, but D-Ala(d_3) was replaced by Gly-Gly (**D**) after prolonged incubation (3 h). (M+2H)/2 ions were extracted: **A**: 485.2, **B**: 449.6, **C**: 486.7, **D**: 506.7. (c) Schematic showing differences between

(Continued) D-Ala(d_3) and Gly-Gly incorporations into Lipid II based on experimental data in (b). D-Ala(d_3) incorporation is faster but reversible; whereas Gly-Gly incorporation is slower but stable. (See materials and methods for detailed protocols).



Figure 2.8. Schematic showing the versatility of PBP4 TP activity. PBP4 can incorporate a variety of functionalized D-amino acids into either Lipid I or Lipid II *in vitro*.

2.6 Detection of the cellular levels of Lipid II in bacteria

The unexpected TP activity of PBP4 to label Lipid I and Lipid II may facilitate development of assays to study PG processes. We wondered if PBP4's ability to biotinylate Lipid II precursors can be used to detect the cellular Lipid II in bacteria, which has been a longstanding challenge, since previous assays were laborious and involved the use of radioactivity.²¹⁻²³ As shown in Figure 2.9, we extracted cellular lipids from a small *S. aureus* culture (2mL) at mid-log phase (O.D.= 0.4-0.5) using chloroform and methanol solvents in a Bligh-Dyer extraction similar to the report by Guan *et al.*⁴⁹ To selectively biotinylate Lipid II in the lipid extract, we incubated *S. aureus* PBP4 and BDL with the extract (which was resuspended in a DMSO solution) for one hour. After reaction, the mixture was quenched and subjected to gel electrophoresis, followed by blotting with a streptavidin-HRP conjugate. Remarkably, biotinylated Lipid II species were readily detected after a brief exposure (~2 seconds). We note that both cellular Lipid I and Lipid II may be labeled by PBP4, but since bacteria has an excess of Lipid II than Lipid I, we assumed that the signal mainly came from labeling of cellular Lipid II. MS analysis described in Chapter Three confirms that only Lipid II was extracted from *S. aureus* in our studies.

To demonstrate the utility of our assay, we assessed the cellular levels of Lipid II in S. aureus when treated with different antibiotics. As shown in Figure 2.9, moenomycin (MmA) and vancomycin (Vanco) treatments increased the Lipid II pool levels, presumably because Lipid II is no longer consumed by PGTs and therefore accumulates on the external surface of the cell membrane. Our observation was consistent with previously studies on the accumulation of radiolabeled PG precursors in moenomycin (MmA)- and vancomycin (Vanco)- treated bacteria.²³ In contrast, fosfomycin (Fos), targocil (Tar) and bacitracin (Bac) treatment all reduced the pool levels. Fosfomycin inhibits MurA activity, which is an early step in Lipid II synthesis,⁵⁰ thus is expected to decrease the cellular Lipid II level. Targocil (Tar) targets TarGH, the wall teichoic acid (WTA) flippase, and inhibits the translocation of WTA precursors across the membrane,⁵¹⁻⁵³ leading to an accumulation of WTA intermediates in the inner leaflet of the membrane in cells. Since both Lipid II and WTA use undecaprenyl phosphate (Und-P) as the lipid carrier, accumulation of WTA precursors would limit the availability of Und-P for Lipid II synthesis.⁵⁴ Bacitracin, which specifically binds to the undecaprenyl pyrophosphate (Und-PP) in the outer leaflet of the membrane, prevents dephosphorylation and hence recycling of the lipid carrier to the inner leaflet for Lipid II biosynthesis,⁵⁵ thus depleting the cellular Lipid II levels in S. aureus. However, a minimal change in Lipid II level was observed in S. aureus treated with kanamycin (kan), a non PG-targeting antibiotic (Figure 2.9). Therefore, using PBP4-mediated

biotinylation, we developed a simple and sensitive assay to study the cellular Lipid II levels in *S. aureus*. This assay should facilitate studies on the mechanism of action of potential PG-targeting antibiotics.



Figure 2.9. *S. aureus* PBP4 enables a simple assay to detect cellular Lipid II in bacteria. Antibiotic treatments cause changes in the pool levels of Lipid II in *S. aureus*, which are consistent with their mechanisms of action.

2.7 Elucidation of the cellular mechanism of action for lysobactin

In collaboration with a postdoctoral researcher in the Walker lab, Wonsik Lee, we applied the Lipid II detection assay described above to characterize the cellular mechanism of lysobactin. Lysobactin is a macrocyclic depsipeptide natural product that is produced by a species of Lysobacter (ATCC 53042).⁵⁶ It displays excellent antibacterial activity against a number of drug-resistance bacteria, including MRSA, vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE), as well as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (TB) with its MICs being significantly lower than that of vancomycin (2- to 50- fold lower depending on the strains). While several total syntheses of lysobactin and its biosynthetic pathway have been reported,⁵⁷⁻⁶¹ its mechanism of action of is still

poorly investigated. Lysobactin was originally identified as a binder to the crude preparations of *S. aureus* cell wall; however, its mechanism appeared distinct from vancomycin since lysobactin did not bind to the lysozyme-solubilized cell wall (whereas vancomycin did).⁶² In macromolecular synthesis assays, lysobactin inhibited [¹⁴C]-*m*-Dap incorporation into PG but had no effects on either [¹⁴C]-uridine or [¹⁴C]-thymidine incorporation in RNA or DNA synthesis. However, the exact mechanism of action of lysobactin has remained unclear when this project was initiated in the Walker and Kahne labs.

In the *in vitro* activity assays of several enzymes involved in PG synthesis (i.e. MurG, SgtB, TagB), lysobactin demonstrated enzymatic inhibition with a characteristic substratebinding curve.^{63j} Unlike previous known substrate-binding inhibitors such as ramoplanin⁶⁴ and teixobactin⁶⁵ that have a stoichiometry of 2:1 (drug: cell wall precursors), lysobactin gives a distinctive 1:1 stoichiometry in the *in vitro* assays. We learned that lysobactin binds to the sugarpyrophosphate moiety in several cell wall precursors *in vitro*, including Lipid I, Lipid II and WTA precursors; however, identifying the cellular targets of lysobactin responsible for its antibacterial activity *in vivo* requires cellular assays. The *S. aureus* PBP4-enabled detection of cellular Lipid II in bacteria (see Chapter 2.6) allows us to elucidate the cellular effects of lysobactin. We treated *S. aureus* culture (2 mL) with lysobactin at 1.5 µg/mL or 3 µg/mL (i.e. 2x or 4x of its MIC) for 10 min, extracted the cellular lipids and labeled with BDL using *S. aureus* PBP4. As shown in Figure 2.10, a dramatic accumulation of Lipid II was observed upon lysobactin treatment. The higher bands were products of PBP4 cross-linking of Lipid II during BDL labeling, which disappeared upon treatment with lysostaphin, an endopeptidase that

^j In such inhibition curves, the enzymatic reaction rate is negligible at low substrate concentration because of no free substrate but jumps soon as substrate becomes available. Wonsik Lee performed the *in vitro* enzymatic assays. Wonsik Lee and I performed the *in vivo* Lipid II accumulation assays.

specifically cleaves cross-linked pentaglycine bridges.⁶³ Therefore, we conclude that lysobactin preferably binds to Lipid II in cells, contributing to its cellular mechanism of action. Although lysobactin has the ability to bind to WTA precursors *in vitro*, WTA substrates are not the cellular targets of lysobactin. Given that only one in nine MurNAc residue in PG is modified with WTA, the precursor flux is substantially higher through the PG pathway in bacteria.⁶⁶ Lipid II is the cellular target of lysobactin.



Figure 2.10. Lysobactin treatment accumulates Lipid II in *S. aureus*. a) Structure of lysobactin (lyso). b) Western blot of BDL-labeled Lipid II in *S. aureus* showed the accumulation of cellular Lipid II in lysobactin-treated *S. aureus*. The multiple bands were due to PBP4 crosslinking of concentrated Lipid II. c) Lysostaphin treatment of multiple bands resulted in collapsing of the bands.

2.8 Conclusion

In conclusion, through studies of *S. aureus* PBP4 activity *in vitro* using Lys-Lipid II and various oligoglycines or D-amino acids as acceptors, we have established that PBP4 is a transpeptidase (TP) with unique activity to act on monomeric Lipid II substrate. Since its TP activity is remarkably different from other previously characterized PBPs, it is possible that other LMW PBPs possess similar TP activity as *S. aureus* PBP4. While most LMW exhibit solely carboxypeptidase or endopeptidase activities, *Streptomyces* LMW PBPs (R61 and R39) have been also characterized as TPs *in vitro* with Ac₂-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala tripeptide substrate.³⁵ In *Streptomyces*, the PG cross-link is made of a Gly attached to the amino side chain of LL-DAP at

the third position of the stem peptide. *Stretomyces* R61 and R39 were shown to incorporate a dipeptide acceptor (Gly-L-X_{aa}) into the tripeptide substrate, yielding a tetrapeptide product. In addition, R61 displayed weak reversible TP activity (i.e. hydrolysis) with the tetrapeptide (Ac₂-L-Lys-D-Ala-Gly-L-X_{aa}).⁶⁷ In our case, *S. aureus* PBP4 did not hydrolyze the transpeptidation product.^k In addition, for *S. aureus* PBP4 activities, the presence of a free carboxylate at C α in the acceptor is not an absolute prerequisite, since we observed that the methyl ester derivatives of oligoglycines could be incorporated by PBP4; however, the effects of the carboxylate modification may depend on the acceptor structure, since the carboxamide derivatives were discriminated by PBP4 *in vitro*. The acceptor substrate specificity of *S. aureus* PBP4 in our studies is similar to that of R61 reported previously.⁶⁷

Exploiting the unexpected transpeptidase activity of *S. aureus* PBP4, we developed a simple and sensitive assay to detect the cellular levels of Lipid II in bacteria, addressing a longstanding challenge. We observed that treatment of various cell wall-targeting antibiotics led to changes in the cellular pools of Lipid II in *S. aureus*, consistent with their known mechanisms of action. In particular, antibiotics such as moenomycin and vancomycin that inhibit late steps in PG synthesis resulted in an accumulation of Lipid II, whereas antibiotics that either target an earlier step in the pathway (e.g. fosfomycin) or interfere with the carrier lipid (Und-P) recycling (e.g. bacitracin and targocil) deplete Lipid II. Hence, we now have a method to determine the cellular mechanisms of potential antibiotics based on their effects on Lipid II levels. As a demonstration, we have established that lysobactin, a macrocyclic depsipeptide natural product inhibitor, strongly accumulates Lipid II in *S. aureus*. This observation is in line with the proposed mechanism of lysobactin as a Lipid II binder in cells. We are currently using this assay

^k Except when D-Ala(d_3) and Gly₂ acceptors were both present in the reaction, D-Ala(d_3) was incorporated and re-activated, followed by Gly₂ incorporation (Figure 2.7).

to profile the effects of potential PGT inhibitors on Lipid II levels in *S. aureus*. In closing, we note that the Lipid II detection assay using *S. aureus* PBP4 can also be applied to other organisms, including *E. coli*, *E. faecalis*, *B. subtilis* and *Acinetobacter baumannii*, opening up the possibility to study PG-related processes in various organisms.

2.9 Materials and Methods

2.9.1 Materials

Lys-Lipid I, Lys-Lipid II, and *m*-Dap-Lipid II were prepared as previously described.^{13,32,43} N-terminus truncated *S. aureus* SgtB were purified as reported previously.^{68,69} Fluorescein D-Lysine (FDL) was prepared as described.³⁶ *S. aureus* PBP4 deletion strain (Δ*pbp4*) and the complementation strain (Δ*pbp4* complemented with *pbp4* gene) were obtained from the Cheung Lab.⁷⁰ Primers were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies. Restriction endonucleases were purchased from New England Biolabs. Vectors and expression hosts were obtained from Novagen. Non-stick conical vials and pipette tips used for enzymatic reactions were purchased from VWR. H-Gly-Gly-OH and H-Gly-Gly-Gly-OH were purchased from TCI. H-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-OH was purchased from Bachem. D-7-Azatryptophan was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. Fmoc-D-Lys(biotinyl)-OH was purchased from VWR. D-Propargylglycine (DPG) was purchased from Peptech Corporation. D-Alanine-3,3,3-d₃ (D-Alad₃) was purchased from CDN Isotopes. Bocillin-FL penicillin, Na salt (Bo-FL) was purchased from Invitrogen. Moenomycin A was isolated from flavmoycin feedstock as previously reported.⁷¹ All other chemicals were purchased from Sigma Aldrich unless otherwise noted.

2.9.2 General Methods

Low-resolution mass spectra chromatograms were obtained on an Agilent Technologies 1100 series LC-MSD instrument using electrospray ionization (ESI). High-resolution mass spectra data was obtained on an Agilent 6520 LC-MS Q-TOF mass spectrometer instrument using ESI. Microscopic images were acquired with a Hamamatsu digital camera model ORCA-ER connected to a Nikon Eclipse TE2000-U microscope with X-cite 120 illumination system. A typhoon phosphorimager (GE Healthcare) was used to capture fluorescent SDS-PAGE gels. ImageJ was used to analyze microscopy images and western blots.

2.9.3 Plasmid construction

The *pbp4*[Y21-Q383] gene encoding truncated *S. aureus* PBP4[Y21-Q383], lacking the predicted transmembrane segments was PCR purified from *S. aureus* Newman strain using the following primer pair: 5'-CCTAGCTAGCTAGCACAAGCTACTAAC-3' and 5'-GCAGGGATCCTTACTGATGAACTTCTAC-3'. After digestion with NheI and BamHI (the restriction sites are underlined), the PCR fragment was ligated into pET28a(+) to produce pPBP4[Y21-Q383] as a N-terminal His₆ fusion. The inserted *pbp4*[Y21-Q383] gene was confirmed by sequencing (Genewiz or Beckman Sequencing Facility). *E. coli* novablue strain was used for cloning.

The catalytic serine residue (S75) of the transpeptidase domain of *S. aureus* PBP4 has been identified by sequence alignment with other PBPs.⁷² The S75A mutation was made in the parent plasmid pPBP4[Y21-Q383] using techniques described in the QuickChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) to make the mutant plasmid pPBP4[Y21-Q383] S75A with the forward primer 5'-CTAAGTGGAATCCAGCG<u>GCA</u>ATGACTAAATTAATGAC-3' and the

reverse primer 5'-GTCATTAATTTAGTCAT<u>TGC</u>CGCTGGATTCCACTTAG-3' (mutagenized codon is underlined).

2.9.4 Overexpression and purification of S. aureus PBP4 and mutant

Plasmid pPBP4[Y21-Q383] encoding for soluble S. aurues PBP4 and plasmid pPBP4[Y21-Q383] S75A encoding for S. aureus PBP4 TP* were collected from the cloning strains, and were transformed into E. coli BL21(DE3) cultures respectively for overexpression and purification. E. coli BL21 (DE3) cultures (LB medium supplemented with 50 µg/ mL kanamycin) were used to inoculate 1 L of LB medium (1:100) supplemented with 50 µg/mL kanamycin at 37 °C and grown to $OD_{600} = 0.4-0.5$ with shaking. Cells were cooled to 17 °C before induction with 0.5 mM IPTG for 17 h with shaking. Cells were harvested by centrifugation (5250 x g, 20 min, 4 °C) and pellets were resuspended on ice with 30 mL of Buffer A (20 mM Tris (pH = 7.5), 400 mM NaCl) with 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF). Cells were lysed by three passages through a cell disrupter ($3 \times 10,000$ psi, $4 \circ$ C). The cell lysate was then pelleted by ultracentrifugation (90,000 x g, 30 min, 4 °C). The resulting supernatant containing PBP4 protein was added to 1.5 mL washed Ni-NTA resin (Qiagen) and rocked at 4 °C for 40 min. After loading the column, the resin was washed with wash buffer (20 mL Tris (pH = 7.5), 40 mM NaCl, 0.1 % Triton-X-100, 40 mM imidazole). The protein was eluted with 200 mM imidazole in 10 mL of elution buffer (20 mM Tris (pH = 7.4), 500 mM NaCl, 0.1% reduced Triton-X-100, 200 mM imidazole). The eluent containing His₆-PBP4 was concentrated to < 1 mL using 30 kD MWCO Amicon Ultra Centrifuge Filter Devices (Millipore). The yield of purified protein was found to be $\sim 8 \text{ mg/mL}$ by DC protein assay (Biorad). Proteins were stored at -80 °C.

81

2.9.5 Bocillin-FL binding assay

Purified *S. aureus* PBP4 protein (250 nM) was incubated with varying concentrations of penicillin G (penG) (1000, 100, 0 U/mL) in a buffer containing 20 mM potassium phosphate (pH = 7.5) and 140 mM NaCl (to reach a volume of 9 μ L). The mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h with shaking. Bocillin-FL (1 μ L of 100 μ M stock) was added to the mixture (total reaction volume is 10 μ L),⁷³ which was then incubated for 30 min at 37 °C with shaking. The reaction was quenched by adding 2x SDS loading dye, and heated for 20 min at 95 °C. The samples were loaded onto a SDS-PAGE gel, which was then scanned using Typhoon (fluorescence scan, excitation 488 nm, emission 526 nm). The scanned image was then analyzed using ImageJ (Figure 2.3).

2.9.6 LC/MS protocol for muropeptide analysis

The procedure was modified from a recent report by Lebar *et al.*¹² Lys-Lipid II (40 μ M) was incubated with SgtB (1 μ M) and PBP4 (2 μ M) in reaction buffer (12.5 mM HEPES (pH = 7.5), 2 mM MnCl₂, 20% DMSO, and 250 μ M Tween-80) in a total of 10 μ L reaction volume for 1 h at 25 °C in the absence or presence of glycine oligopeptides or various D-amino acids (all solutions were used at 1 mM; except for Gly₃ and Gly₅ solutions that were acidified with 0.01 N HCl to facilitate solubility, and were used at a final concentration of 5 mM). The reaction was quenched at 95 °C for 5 min, and then treated with mutanolysin (from *Streptomyces globisporus*, Sigma, 1 U) for 1.5 h at 37 °C followed by another 1 U aliquot for 1.5 h. The resulting disaccharides were reduced with sodium borohydride (10 mg/mL, 30 min) to resolve the MurNAc anomers. Phosphoric acid (20%, 1.2 μ L) was then added to adjust the pH to ~ 4. The reaction mixture was the lyophilized, redissolved in 12 μ L H₂O and subjected to LC/MS

analysis, conducted with ESI-MS operating in positive mode. The instrument was equipped with a Waters Symmetry Shield RP18 column (5 μ M, 3.9 x 150 mm) with a matching column guard. The fragments were separated using the following method: 0.5 mL/min H₂O (0.1% formic acid) for 5 min followed by a gradient of 0% acetonitrile (ACN) (0.1% formic acid)/H₂O (0.1% formic acid) to 20% ACN (0.1% formic acid)/H₂O (0.1% formic acid) over 40 min. Molecular ions corresponding to expected disaccharide fragments were extracted from chromatograms (Figure 2.4 and Figure App1.1).

To analyze the ability of PBP4 to use polymeric PG and monomeric Lipid II as substrates, the above procedure was modified slightly. To analyze PBP4 activity on preformed PG polymer, Lys-Lipid II (40 μ M) was incubated with SgtB (1 μ M) for 1 h at 25 °C, prior to inactivation of SgtB at 95 °C for 5 min. PBP4 (2 μ M) and D-Tyr (1 mM) were added to the reaction mixture which was incubated for another h at 25 °C before heat quenching. The digestion procedure was identical to that discussed above. To analyze PBP4 activity on Lipid II monomer, Lys-Lipid II (40 μ M) was incubated with PBP4 (2 μ M) and D-Tyr (1 mM) for 1 h at 25 °C, prior to inactivation of PBP4 at 95 °C for 5 min. SgtB (1 μ M) was added to the reaction mixture which was incubated for another h at 25 °C before heat quenching. The digestion procedure was identical to above. To for 5 min. SgtB (1 μ M) was added to the reaction mixture which was incubated for another h at 25 °C before heat quenching. The digestion procedure was identical to above. Molecular ions corresponding to the expected disaccharide fragments were extracted from chromatograms (Figure 2.6). To analyze PBP4 activity to exchange unnatural D-amino acids into Lipid II monomers, the respective D-amino acid acceptors (1 mM) were used (Figure 2.7 and Figure App1.2).

To analyze PBP4 activity on D-amino acid incorporation into Lipid II at varying concentrations of the D-amino acid, D-Tyr (0 μ M, 20 μ M, 400 μ M and 1 mM) was used in the reaction as discussed above (Figure App1.3).

83

2.9.7 Microscopy imaging analysis

S. aureus strains (MW2 wildtype, $\Delta pbp4$, and $\Delta pbp4$ complemented with pbp4 gene)⁷⁴ were grown for 4 h in TSB at 37 °C to stationary phase. The cultures were then diluted to reach $OD_{600} = 0.1$ and allowed to grow for an additional 30 min to reach mid-log phase. To 0.5 mL of *S. aureus* culture, 1 µL of FDL probe (2 mM in DMSO) was added (giving a final concentration of 4 µM). The cultures were incubated briefly for 10 min at 37 °C with shaking, and fixed with ice cold 70% ethanol immediately. The fixed cells were then incubated on ice for 15 min, before washing with PBS buffer for three times. The washed cell pellet was resuspended in 30 µL PBS, and 2 µL liquid was mounted on PBS pads containing 2% agarose. The samples were imaged using BODIPY-GFP channel. Images were adjusted to the same intensity scale to allow comparison on ImageJ (Figure 2.5).

2.9.8 Preparation of BDL probe

To Fmoc-D-Lys(biotinyl)-OH (0.016 mmol, 10 mg) in a glass vial, 2 mL of 20% piperidine/DMF and 0.3 mL toluene were added. The mixture was stirred to dissolve for 30 min at room temperature, and then concentrated to remove solvent *in vacuo*. The crude concentrated mixture was diluted in H₂O leaving a white precipitate (deprotected Fmoc byproduct), which was removed via filtration. The filtrate was concentrated, and the product was analyzed by MS direct injection in positive mode. Pure BDL probe was prepared as a stock solution of 10 mM in H₂O.

2.9.9 Incorporation of functionalized D-amino acids into Lipid I and Lipid II

An aliquot of C20-Lys-Lipid I analogue (50 nmol) in DMSO (20 μ L) was briefly sonicated and then diluted with 20 μ L of 10x reaction buffer (125 mM HEPES pH = 7.5, 20 mM MnCl₂, and 2.5 mM Tween-80). Biotinylated D-Lysine (BDL) (5 mM, final concentration) and PBP4 (20 μ M, final concentration) were then added to the reaction mixture to reach a final volume of 200 μ L. The reaction was incubated for 3 h at 25 °C, and then kept on ice before purification. The reaction mixture was loaded onto a pre-equilibrated Strata C18-E SPE column (Phenomenex), then eluted with ACN/25 mM NH₄HCO₃ using a step gradient of 0% to 100% ACN (500 μ L each, 10% increment). The collected fractions were analyzed by MS direct injection in negative mode. The modified-Lipid I analogue was eluted in 30%-40% ACN fractions. HRMS data was obtained for the fractions contain pure BDL-incorporated Lipid I analogue (Figure App1.3-1.4). D-propargylglycine (DPG)-modified Lipid I analogue was obtained using DPG in place of BDL following the same protocol (Figure App1.3-1.4).

The fractions that contained pure BDL-incorporated Lipid I analogue were combined and concentrated by speed-vac. Lipid I to Lipid II conversion was carried out as previously described.^{75,76} Briefly, the dried Lipid I analogue (50 nmol) was re-dissolved in MeOH (24 μ L), and then added 23 μ L of 7 x MurG buffer (350 mM HEPES pH 7.9, 35 mM MgCl₂), 5 μ L UDP-GlcNAc (10 mM), and 96 μ L H₂O. The mixture was vortexed before adding 8 μ L alkaline phosphatase (20U/ μ L, Roche) and 4 μ L purified MurG (20 mg/mL) to reach a total final volume of 160 μ L. After incubation at 25 °C for 1 h, another aliquot of 4 μ L MurG (20 mg/mL) was added to the reaction to incubate for another 1 h. Cold H₂O (160 μ L) was added to quench the reaction. The quenched mixture was loaded onto a pre-equilibrated BAKERBOND SPE C18-extraction column (J. T. Bakers), and washed with H₂O/ 0.1% NH₄OH (500 μ L x 7), and then eluted with MeOH/ 0.1% NH₄OH (500 μ L x 7). The fractions were analyzed by MS direct injection in negative mode. The modified-Lipid II analogue was eluted in the initial MeOH/ 0.1% NH₄OH fraction (500 μ L). HRMS data was also obtained for the pure BDL-modified Lipid

II analogue. DPG-modified Lipid II analogue was converted from DPG-Lipid I following the same protocol (Figure App1.3-1.4).

2.9.10 Western blot detection of BDL-Lipid II in vitro

To a non-stick reaction vial, 3 μ L H₂O and 1 μ L of 10x reaction buffer (125 mM HEPES pH = 7.5, 20 mM MnCl₂, and 2.5 mM Tween-80) was added with 3 μ L of BDL probe (10 mM in H₂O). The mixture was vortexed before adding 1 μ L of Lys-Lipid II (200 μ M in DMSO), 1 μ L of DMSO, and 1 μ L of PBP4 (40 μ M) to reach a total volume of 10 μ L. The reaction was incubated at 25 °C for 1 h. To quench the reaction, 10 μ L of 2x SDS loading buffer was added and the samples were heated at 95 °C for 5 min. 3 μ L of the final mixture was loaded onto a 15% SDS polyacrylamide gel. The products were transferred to Immun-Blot PVDF membrane (BioRad). BDL-Lipid II was detected by blotting with streptavidin-HRP (1:10000 dilution, Pierce), and visualized using ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Ambersham) and Biomax Light Film (Kodak). To confirm the presence of PBP4, the membrane was also blotted with anti-His₅-HRP (1:10000 dilution, Qiagen).

2.9.11 Extraction of cellular lipid-linked PG precursors and Western blot detection

The extraction of cellular lipids has been modified from a previously published protocol.⁴⁹ An overnight culture of *S. aureus* RN4220 was diluted to an $OD_{600} = 0.1$, and allowed to grow to mid-exponential phase at 37 °C. The culture was divided into 2 mL aliquots subsequently which were treated with antibiotics (concentrations of antibiotics were about 2x of their respective MICs against *S. aureus* RN4220). Following 10 min of growth at 37 °C, cells were harvested by centrifugation for 10 min at 5,000 x g. The amount of cell pellet collected was

normalized by OD_{600} , and resuspended in 500 µL PBS (pH 7.4). The resuspended pellet was transferred to a glass tube alongside 500 µL CHCl₃ and 1 mL MeOH. The mixture was vortexed repetitively for 10 min at 25 °C, and cell debris was removed with centrifugation for 10 min at 4,000 x g. The supernatant was collected and transferred to a new glass tube with 500 µL CHCl₃ and 500 µL PBS. The mixture was vortexed for 10 min, and centrifuged for 1 min at 4,000 x g to achieve phase separation. 1 mL of the organic layer was collected and concentrated *in vacuo*. The dried fractions were resuspended in 12 µL DMSO. Each fraction (2 µL) was used (in place of Lipid II and DMSO) in a BDL labeling reaction as described earlier. Reactions were further analyzed on Western blot with HRP-streptavidin conjugate (Figure 2.9 and 2.10).

2.10 References

- 1 Holtje, J. V. From growth to autolysis: the murein hydrolases in Escherichia coli. *Arch. Microbiol.* **1995**, *164* (4), 243-254.
- 2 Vollmer, W.; Blanot, D.; Pedro, M. A. De. Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. *FEMS Microb. Rev.* **2008**, *32* (2), 149-167.
- 3 Sauvage, E.; Kerff, F.; Terrak, M.; Ayala, J. A.; Charlier, P. The penicillin-binding proteins: structure and role in peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *FEMS Micobiol. Rev.* **2008**, *32* (2), 234-258.
- 4 Waxman, D. J.; Strominger, J. L. Penicillin-binding proteins and the mechanism of action of beta-lactam antibiotics. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **1983**, *52* (1), 825-869.
- 5 Pratt, R. F. Substrate specificity of bacterial DD-peptidase (penicillin-binding proteins). *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* **2008**, *65* (14), 2138-2155.
- 6 Massova, I.; Mobashery, S. Kinship and diversification of bacterial penicillin-binding proteins and beta-lactamases. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1998**, *42* (1), 1-17.
- Nemmara, V. V.; Dzhekieva, L.; Subarno Sarkar, K.; Adediran, S. A.; Duez, C.; Nicholas, R. A.; Pratt, R. F. Substrate specificity of low-molecular mass bacterial DD-peptidases. *Biochemistry* 2011, 50 (46), 10091-10101.
- 8 Bertsche, U.; Breukink, E.; Kast, T.; Vollmer, W. In vitro murein (Peptidoglycan) synthesis by dimers of the bifunctional transglycosylase-transpeptidase PBP1B from Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2005**, *280* (45), 38096-38101.
- 9 Born, P.; Breukink, E.; Vollmer, W. In vitro synthesis of cross-linked murein and its attachment to sacculi by PBP1A from Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281* (37), 26985-26993.
- 10 Banzhaf, M; van den Berg, V.; Saparoea, B.; Terrak, M.; Fraipont, C.; Egan, A. J.; Philippe, J.; Zapun, A.; Breukink, E.; Nguyen-Distèhe, M.; den Blaauwen, T.; Vollmer, W. Cooperativity of peptidoglycan synthases active in bacterial cell elongation. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2012, *85* (1), 179-194.

- 11 Zapun, A.; Philippe, J.; Abrahams, K. A.; Signor, L.; Roper, D. I.; Breukink, E.; Vernet, T. In vitro reconstitution of peptidoglycan assembly from the Gram-positive pathogen Streptococcus pneumoniae. ACS Chem. Biol. 2013, 8 (12), 2688-2696.
- 12 Lebar, M. D.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; May, J. M.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Forming cross-linked peptidoglycan from synthetic Gram-negative Lipid II. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135* (12), 4632-4635.
- 13 Lebar, M. D.; May, J. M.; Meeske, A. J.; Leiman, S. A.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; Losick, R.; Rudner, D. Z.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Reconstitution of peptidoglycan crosslinking leads to improved fluorescent probes of cell wall synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2014, *136* (31), 10874-10877.
- 14 Shi, Q.; Meroueh, S. O.; Fisher, J. F.; Mobashery, S. A computational evaluation of the mechanism of penicillin-binding protein-catalyzed cross-linking of the bacterial cell wall. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133 (14), 5274-5283.
- 15 Navratna, V.; Nadig, S.; Sood, V.; Prasad, K.; Arakere, G.; Gopal, B. Molecular basis for the role of Staphylococcus aureus penicillin binding protein 4 in antimicrobial resistance. *J. Bacteriol.* 2010, *192* (1), 134-144.
- 16 Nicholas, R. A.; Krings, S. ; Tomberg, J.; Nicola, G.; Davies, C. Crystal structure of wildtype penicillin-binding protein 5 from Escherichia coli: implications for deacylation of the acyl-enzyme complex. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2003**, *278* (52), 52826-52833.
- 17 Kozarich, J. W.; Strominger, J. L. A membrane enzyme from Staphylococcus aureus which catalyzes transpeptidase, carboxypeptidase, and penicillinase activities. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1978**, *253* (4), 1272-1278.
- 18 Gally, D.; Archibald, A. R. Cell wall assembly in Staphylococcus aureus: proposed absence of secondary crosslinking reactions. *J. Gen. Microbiol.* **1993**, *139* (8), 1907-1913.
- 19 Wyke, A. W.; Ward, J. B.; Hayes, M. V.; Curtis, N. A. A role in vivo for penicillin-binding protein-4 of Staphylococcus aureus. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1981**, *119* (2), 389-393.
- 20 Van Heijenoort, J. Lipid intermediates in the biosynthesis of bacterial peptidoglycan. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* **2007**, *71* (4), 620-635.

- 21 Heijenoort, Y.; Gómez, M.; Derrien, M.; Ayala, J.; Heijenoort, J. . Membrane intermediates in the peptidoglycan metabolism of Escherichia coli: possible roles of PBP 1b and PBP 3. *J. Bacteriol.* **1992**, *174* (11), 3549-3557.
- 22 Ramey, W. D.; Ishiguro, E. E. Site of inhibition of peptidoglycan biosynthesis during the stringent response in Escherichia coli. *J. Bacteriol.* **1978**, *135* (1), 71-77.
- 23 Kohlrausch, U.; Höltje, J. V. Analysis of murein and murein precursors during antibioticinduced lysis of Escherichia coli. *J. Bacteriol.* **1991**, *173* (11), 3425-3431.
- 24 Kohlrausch, U.; Wientjes, F. B.; Höltje, J. V. Determination of murein precursors during the cell cycle of Escherichia coli. *J. Gene. Microbiol.* **1989**, *135* (6), 1499-1506.
- 25 Mengin-Lecreulx, D.; Texier, L.; Rousseau, M.; Heijenoort, J. van. The murG gene of Escherichia coli codes for the UDP-N-acetylglucosamine: N-acetylmuramyl-(pentapeptide) pyrophosphoryl-undecaprenol N-acetylglucosamine transferase involved in the membrane steps of peptidoglycan synthesis. J. Bacteriol. 1991, 173 (15), 4625-4636.
- 26 Harkness, R. E.; Braun, V. Colicin M inhibits peptidoglycan biosynthesis by interfering with lipid carrier recycling. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1989**, *264* (11), 6177-6182.
- 27 Somner, E. A.; Reynolds, P. E. Inhibition of peptidoglycan biosynthesis by ramoplanin. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1990**, *34* (3), 413-419.
- 28 Brotz, H.; Bierbaum, G.; Leopold, K.; Reynolds, P. E.; Sahl, H. G. The lantibiotic mersacidin inhibits peptidoglycan synthesis by targeting lipid II. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1998**, *42* (1), 154-160.
- 29 Kramer, N. E.; Smid, E. J.; Kok, Jan; de Kruijff, B.; Kuipers, Oscar P.; Breukink, E. Resistance of Gram-positive bacteria to nisin is not determined by lipid II levels. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **2004**, *239* (1), 157-161.
- 30 Qiao, Y.; Lebar, M. D.; Schirner, K.; Schaefer, K.; Tsukamoto, H.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Detection of lipid-Linked peptidoglycan precursors by exploiting an unexpected transpeptidase reaction. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (42), 14678-14681.
- 31 Zhao, G.; Meier, T. I.; Kahl, S. D.; Gee, K. R.; Blaszczak, L. C. BOCILLIN FL, a sensitive and commercially available reagent for detection of penicillin-binding proteins. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1999**, *43* (5), 1124-1128.
- 32 Tsukamoto, H.; Kahne, D. N-methylimidazolium chloride-catalyzed pyrophosphate formation: application to the synthesis of Lipid I and NDP-sugar donors. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2011**, *21* (17), 5050-5053.
- 33 Ye, X. Y.; Lo, M. C.; Brunner, L.; Walker, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Better substrates for bacterial transglycosylases. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123* (13), 3155-3156.
- 34 Terrak, M.; Nguyen-Disteche, M. Kinetic characterization of the monofunctional glycosyltransferase from Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* **2006**, *188* (7), 2528-2532.
- 35 Streptomyces R39 and R61 also show TP and CP activities with peptide substrates: Pollock, J. J.; Ghuysen, J. M.; Linder, R.; Salton, M. R.; Perkins, H. R.; Nieto, M.; Leyh-Bouille, M.; Frere, J. M.; Johnson, K. Transpeptidase activity of Streptomyces D-alanyl-D carboxypeptidases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* **1972**, *69* (3), 662-666.
- 36 Kuru, E.; Hughes, H. V.; Brown, P. J.; Hall, E.; Tekkam, S.; Cava, F.; de Pedro, M. A.; Brun, Y. V.; VanNieuwenhze, M. S. In situ probing of newly synthesized peptidoglycan in live bacteria with fluorescent D-amino acids. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2012, *51* (50), 12519-12523.
- 37 Pinho, M. G.; Errington, J. Dispersed mode of Staphylococcus aureus cell wall synthesis in the absence of the division machinery. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2003**, *50* (3), 871-881.
- 38 Kuru, E.; Tekkam, S.; Hall, E.; Brun, Y. V.; Van Nieuwenhze, M. S. Synthesis of fluorescent D-amino acids and their use for probing peptidoglycan synthesis and bacterial growth in situ. *Nat. Protocols* **2015**, *10* (1), 33-52.
- 39 Liechti, G. W.; Kuru, E.; Hall, E.; Kalinda, A.; Brun, Y. V.; VanNieuwenhze, M.; Maurelli, A. T. A new metabolic cell-wall labelling method reveals peptidoglycan in Chlamydia trachomatis. *Nature* 2014, 506 (7489), 507-510.
- 40 Cava, F.; de Pedro, M. A.; Lam, H.; Davis, B. M.; Waldor, M. K. Distinct pathways for modification of the bacterial cell wall by non-canonical D-amino acids: distinct pathways for cell wall remodelling. *EMBO J.* **2011**, *30* (16), 3442-3453.
- 41 Gautam, S.; Kim, T.; Shoda, T.; Sen, S.; Deep, D.; Luthra, R.; Ferreira, M. T.; Pinho, M. G.; Spiegel, D. A. An activity-based probe for studying crosslinking in live bacteria. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2015, *54* (36), 10492-10496.

- 42 Gautam, S.; Kim, T.; Spiegel, D. A. Chemical probes reveal an extraseptal mode of crosslinking in Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137* (23), 7441-7447.
- 43 Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; Doud, E. H.; Wang, T. A.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Transpeptidase-mediated incorporation of D-amino acids into bacterial peptidoglycan. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (28), 10748-10751.
- 44 Perkins, H. R.; Nieto, M.; Frere, J. M.; Leyh-Bouille, M.; Ghuysen, J. M. Streptomyces DD-carboxypeptidases as transpeptidases. The specificity for amino compounds acting as carboxyl acceptors. *Biochem. J.* **1973**, *131* (4), 707-718.
- 45 Frere, J. M.; Ghuysen, J. M.; Perkins, H. R.; Nieto, M. Kinetics of concomitant transfer and hydrolysis reactions catalysed by the exocellular DD-carboxypeptidase-transpeptidase of streptomyces R61. *Biochem. J.* **1973**, *135* (3), 483-492.
- 46 Atilano, M. L.; Pereira, P. M.; Yates, J.; Reed, P.; Veiga, H.; Pinho, M. G.; Filipe, S. R. Teichoic acids are temporal and spatial regulators of peptidoglycan cross-linking in Staphylococcus aureus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107* (44), 18991-18996.
- 47 Łęski, T. A.; Tomasz, A. Role of penicillin-binding protein 2 (PBP2) in the antibiotic susceptibility and cell wall cross-linking of Staphylococcus aureus: evidence for the cooperative functioning of PBP2, PBP4, and PBP2A. *J. Bacteriol.* **2005**, *187* (5), 1815-1824.
- 48 Kuroda, M.; Kuroda, H.; Oshima, Taku; Takeuchi, Fumihiko; Mori, Hirotada; Hiramatsu, K. Two-component system VraSR positively modulates the regulation of cell-wall biosynthesis pathway in Staphylococcus aureus. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2003**, *49* (3), 807-821.
- 49 Guan, Z.; Breazeale, S. D.; Raetz, C. R. H. Extraction and identification by mass spectrometry of undecaprenyl diphosphate-MurNAc-pentapeptide-GlcNAc from Escherichia coli. *Anal. Biochem.* **2005**, *345* (2), 336-339.
- 50 Marquardt, J. L.; Brown, E. D.; Lane, W. S.; Haley, T. M.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wong, C. H.; Walsh, C. T. Kinetics, stoichiometry, and identification of the reactive thiolate in the inactivation of UDP-GlcNAc enolpyruvoyl transferase by the antibiotic fosfomycin. *Biochemistry* 1994, 33 (35), 10646-10651.
- 51 Lee, K.; Campbell, J. ; Swoboda, J. G.; Cuny, G. D.; Walker, S. Development of improved inhibitors of wall teichoic acid biosynthesis with potent activity against Staphylococcus aureus. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2010**, *20* (5), 1767-1770.

- 52 Schirner, K. ; Stone, L. K.; Walker, S. ABC transporters required for export of wall teichoic acids do not discriminate between different main chain polymers. ACS Chem. Biol. 2011, 6 (5), 407-412.
- 53 Swoboda, J. G.; Meredith, T. C.; Campbell, J.; Brown, S.; Suzuki, T.; Bollenbach, T.; Malhowski, A. J.; Kishony, R.; Gilmore, M. S.; Walker, S. Discovery of a small molecule that blocks wall teichoic acid biosynthesis in Staphylococcus aureus. *ACS Chem. Biol.* 2009, 4 (10), 875-883.
- 54 Manat, G.; Roure, S.; Auger, R.; Bouhss, A.; Barreteau, H.; Mengin-Lecreulx, D.; Touzé, T. Deciphering the metabolism of undecaprenyl-phosphate: the bacterial cell-wall unit carrier at the membrane frontier. *Microb. Drug Resist.* **2014**, *20* (3), 199-214.
- 55 Siewert, G.; Strominger, J. L. Bacitracin: an inhibitor of the dephosphorylation of lipid pyrophosphate, an interemediate in the biosynthesis of the peptidoglycan of bacterial cell walls. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1967**, *57* (3), 767-773.
- 56 O'Sullivan, J.; McCullough, J. E.; Tymiak, A. A.; Kirsch, D. R.; Trejo, W. H.; Principe, P. A. Lysobactin, a novel antibacterial agent produced by Lysobacter sp. I. Taxonomy, isolation and partial characterization. *J. Antibiot.* **1988**, *41* (12), 1740-1744.
- 57 Campagne, J. Total syntheses of lysobactin (katanosin B). *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2007**, *46* (45), 8548-8552.
- 58 von Nussbaum, F.; Anlauf, S.; Benet-Buchholz, J.; Häbich, D.; Köbberling, J.; Musza, L.; Telser, J.; Rübsamen-Waigmann, H.; Brunner, N. A. Structure and total synthesis of lysobactin (katanosin B). *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2007**, *46* (12), 2039-2042.
- 59 Guzman-Martinez, A.; Lamer, R.; VanNieuwenhze, M. S. Total synthesis of lysobactin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129 (18), 6017-6021.
- 60 Hou, J.; Robbel, L.; Marahiel, M. A. Identification and characterization of the lysobactin biosynthetic gene cluster reveals mechanistic insights into an unusual termination module architecture. *Chemistry & Biology* **2011**, *18* (5), 655-664.
- 61 Hall, E. A.; Kuru, E.; VanNieuwenhze, M. S. Solid-phase synthesis of lysobactin (katanosin B): insights into structure and function. *Org. Lett.* **2012**, *14* (11), 2730-2733.

- 62 Maki, H.; Miura, K.; Yamano, Y. Katanosin B and plusbacin A(3), inhibitors of peptidoglycan synthesis in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **2001**, *45* (6), 1823-1827.
- 63 Lee, W.; Schaefer, K.; Qiao, Y.; Srisuknimit, V.; Steinmetz, H.; Müller, R.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. The mechanism of action of lysobactin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138 (1), 100-103.
- 64 Hu, Y.; Helm, J. S.; Chen, L.; Ye, X. Y.; Walker, S. Ramoplanin inhibits bacterial transglycosylases by binding as a dimer to lipid II. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125* (29), 8736-8737.
- 65 Ling, L. L.; Schneider, T.; Peoples, A. J.; Spoering, A. L.; Engels, I.; Conlon, B. P.; Mueller, A.; Schäberle, T. F.; Hughes, D. E.; Epstein, S.; Jones, M.; Lazarides, L.; Steadman, V. A.; Cohen, D. R.; Felix, C. R.; Fetterman, K. A.; Millett, W. P.; Nitti, A. G.; Zullo, A. M.; Chen, C.; Lewis, K. A new antibiotic kills pathogens without detectable resistance. *Nature* 2015, *517* (7535), 455-459.
- 66 Bera, A.; Biswas, R. ; Herbert, S.; Kulauzovic, E.; Weidenmaier, C.; Peschel, A.; Gotz, F. Influence of wall teichoic acid on lysozyme resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* **2006**, *189* (1), 280-283.
- 67 Rhazi, N.; Delmarcelle, M.; Sauvage, E.; Jacquemotte, F.; Devriendt, K.; Tallon, V.; Ghosez, L.; Frère, J. M. Specificity and reversibility of the transpeptidation reaction catalyzed by the Streptomyces R61 D-Ala-D-Ala peptidase. *Protein Sci.* 2005, *14* (11), 2922-2928.
- 68 Wang, T. A.; Manning, S.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Isolated peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases from different organisms produce different glycan chain lengths. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130 (43), 14068-14069.
- 69 Lupoli, T. J.; Taniguchi, T.; Wang, T. S.; Perlstein, D. L.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Studying a cell division amidase using defined peptidoglycan substrates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131 (51), 18230-18231.
- 70 Memmi, G.; Filipe, S. R.; Pinho, M. G.; Fu, Z.; Cheung, A. Staphylococcus aureus PBP4 Is essential for β -Lactam resistance in community-acquired methicillin-resistant strains. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **2008**, *52* (11), 3955-3966.

- 71 Rebets, Y.; Lupoli, T.; Qiao, Y.; Schirner, K.; Villet, R.; Hooper, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Moenomycin resistance mutations in Staphylococcus aureus reduce peptidoglycan chain length and cause aberrant cell division. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *9* (2), 459-467.
- 72 Massova, I; Mobashery, S. Kinship and diversification of bacterial penicillin-binding proteins and beta-lactamases. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1998**, *42* (1), 1-17.
- 73 Zhao, G.; Meier, T. I.; Kahl, S. D.; Gee, K. R.; Blaszczak, L. C. BOCILLIN FL, a sensitive and commercially available reagent for detection of penicillin-binding proteins. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1999**, *43* (5), 1124-1128.
- 74 Memmi, G.; Filipe, S. R.; Pinho, M. G.; Fu, Z.; Cheung, A. Staphylococcus aureus PBP4 is essential for beta-lactam resistance in community-acquired methicillin-resistant strains. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2008, 52 (11), 3955-3966.
- 75 Men, H.; Park, P.; Ge, M.; Walker, S. Substrate synthesis and activity assay for MurG. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, 120 (10), 2484-2485.
- 76 Ha, Sha; Chang, Emmanuel; Lo, Mei-Chu; Men, Hongbin; Park, Peter; Ge, Min; Walker, Suzanne. The Kinetic Characterization of EscherichiacoliMurG Using Synthetic Substrate Analogues. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121 (37), 8415-8426.

Chapter Three: Preparation of native Staphylococcus aureus Lipid II

Data contributed by collaborators:

Jeep Veerasak Srisuknimit and I performed studies on large-scale extraction of native Lipid II from bacteria.

3.1 Introduction

The inaccessibility to native Lipid II substrate has hampered enzymatic studies on the transpeptidase (TP) activities of bacterial PBPs. The structure of native Lipid II varies in bacteria; therefore, it is impossible to prepare a 'universal' Lipid II substrate and it is onerous to prepare new Lipid II variants by either chemical synthesis or enzymatic reconstitution. In this chapter, I first describe my attempts to synthesize *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) Lipid II, and then describe a general strategy to accumulate and isolate Lipid II from bacteria. Using the second approach, we can obtain useful quantities of native Lipid II from different bacteria within a day of work, greatly easing the challenges with Lipid II preparation. This facile strategy for Lipid II preparation was developed based on our findings described in Chapter Two, and in turn enables biochemical characterization of *S. aureus* PBP2 that is described in Chapter Four.

S. aureus Lipid II has one of the most complex structures among all bacteria Lipid II, bearing a pentaglycine branch connected to the L-Lys side chain as well as a carboxamide at the D-*iso*Gln on the stem peptide (Figure 1.4).¹ Although Strominger and co-workers have correctly predicted the complete structure of *S. aureus* Lipid II in the 1960s, obtaining useful amount of native Lipid II has not been possible for several decades,² posing a major challenge for biochemical characterizations of *S. aureus* PBPs. There are only two previous reports on preparations of the pentaglycine-containing Lipid II. Schneider *el al.* (2004) reported the *in vitro* assembly of the complete pentaglycine branch on Lipid II using purified FemXAB proteins and glycyl-tRNA donors.³ More recently, Patin *et al.* (2012) reported chemical installation of the pentaglycine onto the Park nucleotide using activated glycines: Fmoc-Gly-OSu and Fmoc-Gly₂-OSu (twice) successively, after which the modified nucleotide was converted to Lipid I and Lipid II using coupled MraY and MurG reactions *in vitro*.⁴ While both works provided valuable

97

information on the formation of the pentaglycine branch, the carboxamide on the D-*iso*Gln at the second position of the stem pentapeptide was omitted. In 2012, Munch *et al.* identified and reconstituted GatD/MurT enzymes, which are responsible for amidation on D-*iso*Gln of Lipid II in *S. aureus*. However, the native Lipid II substrate was obtained only in small amounts for analytical studies.⁵ The proper amidation on D-*iso*Gln in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (*S. pneumoniae*) Lipid II has been shown to be necessary for *S. pneumoniae* PBP transpeptidase (TP) activity.^{6,7} Conceivably, both pentaglycine and carboxamide on *S. aureus* Lipid II are required for reconstitution of *S. aureus* PBPs' TP activities.

As mentioned in Chapter 1.5, the Kahne lab has developed a new synthetic route to achieve Lipid I, which involves independent preparations of the conserved *N*-acetyl-muramyl-pyrosphopho-lipid (MurNAc-PP-lipid) precursor and the peptide moiety.⁸ The synthetic Lipid I can then be quantitatively converted to Lipid II using the MurG chemoenzymatic reaction.^{9,10} It has been shown previously that the heptaprenyl-Lipid II (C35) analogue has better solubility than the native undecaprenyl-Lipid II (C55), hence is a better substrate for studying PBP activities *in vitro*.¹¹ Hiro Tsukamoto, a former postdoctoral researcher in the Kahne lab, has synthesized approximately 80 mg of the MurNAc-PP-hetaprenyl precursor available, the challenge with chemical synthesis of bacterial Lipid II now shifts to obtaining various peptide moieties since the identity of the peptide is distinct in each organism. Therefore, for each new substrate of interest, the peptide portion needs to be synthesized first prior to coupling to the conserved MurNAc-PP-hetaprenyl precursor to yield Lipid I. Using this general synthetic route, three different Lipid I substrates have been prepared and converted to the corresponding Lipid II variants, including

Lys-Lipid II (the Lipid II precursor in Gram-positive bacteria), *m*-Dap-Lipid II (*E. coli* Lipid II), and amidated *m*-Dap-Lipid II (*B. subtilis* Lipid II).^{8,12,13}

In 2012, we set out to apply this general synthetic route to prepare native *S. aureus* Lipid II that contains both a carboxamide and a pentaglycine branch in the peptide, as well as its monoglycine- and triglycine- variants. Having access to these Lipid II analogues would allow us to investigate the substrate specificity of *S. aureus* PBPs in the transpeptidation reaction. In this chapter, my efforts to synthesize three glycine-variants of L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala pentapeptide (in short, Gly-pentapeptide, Gly₃-pentapeptide and Gly₅-pentapeptide) were discussed. While small quantities of Gly-Lipid II and Gly₃-Lipid II substrates were obtained via this synthetic route, the synthesis was inefficient and had low overall yield.

On the other hand, we established a direct Lipid II accumulation and isolation strategy that came about from our studies with *S. aureus* PBP4 described in Chapter Two. We show that useful quantities of native *S. aureus* Lipid II can be obtained over a day of work, circumventing the need for laborious synthesis. We also demonstrated that the strategy is suitable for obtaining Lipid II from other bacteria as well, including *S. aureus* $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutants, *Bacillus subtilis* (*B. subtilis*), *Enterococus faecalis* (*E. faecalis*) and *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*). The Lipid II substrate provides essential tools for biochemical reconstitution of *S. aureus* PBP2 TP activity described in Chapter Four.

3.2 Chemical synthesis of S. aureus Lipid II

3.2.1 Synthesis of stem pentapeptide containing variable glycine branch

In the synthetic scheme to Lipid I, the highly acid-sensitive pyrophosphate linkage that is both glycosidic and allylic is introduced into the MurNAc-PP-lipid precursor separately from the

synthesis of the peptide.⁸ Nevertheless, the peptide moiety should still be appropriately protected with base-labile protecting groups that are compatible with the pyrophosphate linkage. As with previous Lipid I and Lipid II syntheses, we chose a methyl ester group to protect the carboxylate end of the D-Ala-D-Ala terminus in the stem pentapeptide,^{8,12,13} and a trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) group to mask the nucleophilic amine at the N-terminus of the glycine branch. Both protecting groups were installed during peptide synthesis and could be subsequently removed after Lipid I coupling in a global deprotection reaction. With the need to install different versions of the glycine branch onto the stem peptide, we used solution-phase synthesis to prepare the peptide moiety. Following a similar scheme reported by Tsukamoto and Kahne (2011),⁸ we prepared the linear stem pentapeptide (1), Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe using standard peptide coupling synthesis. However, the presence of an unprotected carboxamide in the stem peptide led to several undesirable outcomes, including slow and incomplete coupling reaction and low yield of the product. Alternative attempts to avoid the complications of the unprotected carboxamide in peptide synthesis are discussed below. Hydrogenation of 1 revealed the ε -amine of the L-Lys side chain in 2 for attachment of the glycine branch. The Gly-pentapeptide (3), Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-GlyTFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe was afforded in a reaction with 2 and the commercially available TFA-Gly-OH (Scheme 3.1). We envisioned a parallel approach to yield the Gly₃- and Gly₅-pentapeptide variants. However, preparations of TFA-Gly₃-OH and TFA-Gly₅-OH from commercial reagents H-Gly₃-OH and H-Gly₅-OH using ethyl trifluoroacetate were not successful due to the insoluble nature of the oligoglycines. Thus, direct installations of the Gly₃- and Gly₅-branch onto 2 were not possible. In particular, Patin *et al.* encountered similar difficulties during pentaglycine synthesis, and turned to an iterative coupling approach instead.⁴ As a result, we revised the synthetic route to add glycines onto 2 in a stepwise manner. As shown in Scheme 3.1, the stem pentapeptide (2) was first coupled with an appropriately protected Nsuccinimidyl ester activated diglycine, Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (Cbz is caboxybenzyl) to afford intermediate (4), followed by hydrogenation and then addition of TFA-Gly-OH to yield the Gly₃pentapeptide (5), Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-GlyGlyGlyTFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe. To make the Gly₅-pentapeptide (7), Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-GlyGlyGlyGlyGlyTFA)-D-Ala-OMe, the coupling of Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu and the subsequent hydrogenation were performed twice successively, prior to the final attachment of TFA-Gly-OH. However, this strategy had several notable disadvantages. First, the coupling of Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu became less efficient as the glycyl branch grew longer, requiring extended reaction time. Unfortunately, prolonged incubation under basic aqueous solution subjected the methyl ester protecting group on the stem pentapeptide to potential hydrolysis. In addition, purification of the product from the solution mixture was problematic. The insolubility of the glycyl-peptides defied traditional work-up using common organic solvents. Therefore, I loaded the reaction mixture (in water) onto a C-18 solid phase extraction column, and washed the column with a step gradient of acetonitrile and water mixture. Although this purification method afforded low amount of the pure peptide product, the recovery yield was significantly reduced (approximately 20% recovery yield). Given that two successive coupling and deprotection steps were required for the synthesis of 7, this strategy deemed considerably inefficient and tedious. Furthermore, the final step in the syntheses of both 5 and 7 was the addition of TFA-Gly-OH. This reaction was also very sluggish, requiring multiple rounds of addition of excess reagents to facilitate reaction progression. In the case of 7, the coupling was incomplete after a 72-hour reaction with approximately 20-equivalent of the TFA-Gly-OH added. Overall, only less than 10 mg of 7 was obtained by combining the products from several rounds of syntheses after a few months of work.

101



Scheme 3.1. Synthetic route of Gly-pentapeptide (3), Gly₃-pentapeptide (5), Gly₅-pentapeptide (7). As shown in the box, trifluoroacetylation of the N-terminal amine in H-Gly-Gly-Gly-OH and H-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-OH did not work due to insolubility of the oligoglycine starting materials. Thus, a direct coupling of the oligoglycine branch to the stem pentapeptide was not possible; instead, an iterative method was taken. a: H_2 , Pd(OH)₂/C, MeOH; b: TFA-Gly-OH (5-10 equivalent), HOBt, EDC, DIEA, DCM/DMF, r.t. 12-72 h; c: Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (2-5 equivalent) 1M NaHCO₃, DME, r.t., 2-12 h.

To improve the synthetic efficiency of the glycyl-pentapeptide compounds, I attempted several modifications of the synthetic route, which are summarized here. As mentioned earlier, the presence of an unprotected carboxamide is known to cause complications in peptide synthesis, such as slow, incomplete coupling reactions and by-product (i.e. pyroglutamate) formation. In addition, peptides with an unprotected carboxamide often display low solubility and aggregation due to hydrogen bonding.¹⁴ In this regard, I sought to protect the carboxamide with a triphenylmethyl group, which was used in the previous synthesis of *B. subtilis* Lipid II which contains an amidated *m*-Dap residue.¹³ Since the D-*iso*Gln(Trt)-OH reagent was prohibitively expensive, I had to prepare it in-house following tritylation protocols. The direct tritylation of D-*iso*Gln-OH by triphenylmethanol did not work, possibility due to the low

solubility D-isoGln-OH and the potential formation of a pyroglutamate as reported by Sieber and Riniker (1991).¹⁴ Therefore, I used an indirect tritylation protocol instead: first protecting the Nterminal amine on D-isoGln-OH with a Cbz group prior to tritylation to afford Cbz-DisoGln(Trt)-OH, followed by hydrogenation to yield the desired D-isoGln(Trt)-OH (Scheme 3.2a). However, additional protection and deprotection steps were introduced for tritylation in this manner, and the overall yield was far from optimal (18%). As a proof of concept, the tritylprotected pentapeptide (9), Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln(Trt)-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe was prepared, to which a triglycine branch was appended in the stepwise fashion as discussed above (Scheme 3.2a). Masking the carboxamide with a trityl protecting group indeed improved the solubility of the intermediates and eased the purification steps, and the trityl group was readily removed with TFA. Using this route, the Gly₃-pentapeptide (5) was obtained. Conceivably, it could be used to prepare the Gly_5 -pentapeptide (7) as well. On the other hand, another route that involves the introduction of the carboxamide at the late step in the synthesis was attempted. The pentaglycine branch was installed onto the tripeptide precursor Boc-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe to afford 11 using the similar sequential reactions (Scheme 3.2b).



Scheme 3.2. Alternative routes attempted to avoid complication by the carboxamide in the peptide. In a), a trityl protecting group was installed to protect the carboxamide in D-*iso*Gln-OH in the early step of the synthesis. As shown, a direct triylation did not work, instead reactions a-c were performed. The D-*iso*Gln(Trt)-OH was used to make the stem pentapeptide, followed by the attachment of the glycyl branch. a: benzyl chloroformate, r.t. 12 h; b: triphenylmethanol, acetic anhydride, conc. sulfuric acid, glacial acetic acid; c: H₂, Pd(OH)₂/C, MeOH. In b), the glycyl branch was coupled to the tripeptide Boc-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe to ensure introduction of the carboxamide in a late step in synthesis.

3.2.2 Coupling reactions to make Lipid I and Lipid II variants

To obtain Lipid I, the MurNAc-PP-lipid precursor was coupled with the respective peptide moiety, **3**, **5** or **7** using the dimethoxytriazine-N-methylmorpholinium chloride (DMTMM) as a coupling reagent (Scheme 3.3).⁸ Because of difficulties in obtaining large amount of the peptide and the limited availability of the MurNAc-PP-lipid precursor, this reaction was usually performed in small scale using 3-5 mg of the MurNAc-PP-lipid only. The reaction progression was monitored by the appearance of the corresponding Lipid I peak on MS. In these coupling reactions, Gly-Lipid I and Gly₃-Lipid I products were obtained, but the Gly₅-Lipid I was detected at a low level after prolonged reaction. While the amount of Gly₅-pentapeptide (**7**) diminished in the reaction over time, there was still an excess of the unreacted

MurNAc-PP-lipid, indicating possible degradation of 7 to result in incomplete reaction. However, the Gly₅-Lipid I might be difficult to detect on MS since it ionizes poorly, as reported by Schneider *et al.*³ Upon purification of the reaction, I obtained approximately 1 mg each for

the protected Gly-Lipid I and Gly₃-Lipid I products. To remove protecting groups on the peptide moiety, the protected Lipid I was subject to hydrolysis in a basic solution. The base hydrolysis reaction should be closely monitored since long incubation time (more than 5 h) may result in cleavage of the glycine branch. Gly-Lipid I (**12**) and Gly₃-Lipid I (**13**) were obtained in small quantities. Subsequently, Lipid I was converted to Lipid II using the MurG chemoenzymatic reaction with a recovery yield of approximately 50%. We note that our *in vitro* reaction sequence is the opposite of the *in vivo* sequence in *S. aureus*, where MurG reaction occurs prior to the addition of the glycyl branch by FemXAB proteins.^{15,16} Hence the Gly-Lipid I and Gly₃-Lipid I substrates might not be the optimal substrates for MurG *in vitro*, limiting the conversion yield. Small amounts of Gly-Lipid II (**15**) and Gly₃-Lipid II (**16**) were yielded from these reactions.



Scheme 3.3. The general reaction sequence to afford Lipid I and Lipid II variants. a: 4 M HCl in dioxane; b: DMTMM, DIEA, MeOH; c: 1M LiOH, THF/H₂O; d: MurG, UDP-GlcNAc.

3.3 A facile method to obtain native S. aureus Lipid II

Given the challenges encountered with the chemical synthesis of the pentaglycine containing Lipid II, we sought an alternative strategy to obtain the substrate. As described in Chapter Two, we developed a simple and sensitive Western blot assay to detect the cellular levels of Lipid II in bacteria.¹⁷ In that study, we observed that moenomycin treatment in *S. aureus* accumulates Lipid II in cells. Moenomycin is a natural product inhibitor that targets bacterial PGTs to prevent monomeric Lipid II from being polymerized,¹⁸ hence accumulating

Lipid II. Thus, we wondered whether it would be possible to obtain enough Lipid II substrate by directly isolating from moenomycin-treated *S. aureus* culture.

To better characterize Lipid II accumulation caused by moenomycin, we performed a time course analysis to monitor levels of Lipid II in *S. aureus* after moenomycin treatment. Consistent with the bacteriostatic effect of moenomycin in Gram-positive bacteria,¹⁹ *S. aureus* growth stopped immediately after the addition of moenomycin to the culture (Figure 3.1a). At the indicated time point (15 min, 60 min, 120 min), an aliquot (1 mL) was collected from either untreated or moenomycin-treated *S. aureus* culture respectively, and was subjected to Lipid II analysis using previously described protocol.¹⁷ As shown in Figure 3.2b, the level of Lipid II in *S. aureus* increased within 15 min of moenomycin treatment and remained elevated for at least 2 h. The amount of Lipid II in *S. aureus* increased by approximately 10-fold after treating with moenomycin for 15 min (Figure 3.1c).



Figure 3.1. Moenomycin treatment accumulates Lipid II by 10-fold in *S. aureus*. (a) Growth curves of untreated and moenomycin-treated *S. aureus*. An aliquot from each culture was collected at the indicated time for analysis in b. (b) Western blot analysis of biotinylated-Lipid II in each sample. The Lipid II level increased within 15 min of moenomycin treatment and remained elevated for at least 2 h. (c) A serial dilution estimation that Lipid II level increased 10-fold after treating *S. aureus* with moenomycin for 15 min.

The strong and stable accumulation of Lipid II observed in moenomycin-treated *S*. *aureus* culture gave us a window to perform a large-scale Lipid II extraction. We treated 6 L (4 x 1.5 L) of *S. aureus* treated with moenomycin (0.6 µg/mL) for 20 minutes, pelleted down cells, and extracted the cellular lipids with CHCl₃/MeOH. In a large-scale extraction, the total volume of organic solvent used per cell culture volume was less than that in the previous small-scale extraction, giving rise to more concentrated cellular lipids. We observed a white emulsion in the interfacial layer between the aqueous and organic layers at the end of the extraction, which was not observed in the small-scale extraction. To analyze contents in the interface, we collected the interface separately from the organic layer by pipetting out each layer. As shown in the thin layer chromatography (TLC) analysis in Figure 3.2b, the majority of phospholipids were found in the organic layer but little was present in the interface. We next evaluated the presence of Lipid II in the interface and organic layers by PBP4-enabled biotinylation and Western blot. Surprisingly, in contrast to phospholipids, Lipid II was concentrated in the interface layer. The formation of the third interface layer that contains Lipid II and is clean of abundant phospholipid contaminants was intriguing. We hypothesized that the amount of accumulated Lipid II in large-scale extraction exceeded its solubility in the organic phase, giving rise to an interfacial layer between the aqueous and organic fractions. In a previous report Guan et al., E. coli Lipid II was observed to partition into the aqueous phase at neutral pH during extraction.²⁰ The authors took advantage of the unusual pH-dependent solubility of E. coli Lipid II to enrich for Lipid II from the abundant phospholipids. Our observation of the third interfacial layer in large-scale extraction of S. aureus also enabled us to selectively enrich S. aureus Lipid II. Therefore, we collected the interface as the source of Lipid II.



Figure 3.2. Preparative quantities of native *S. aureus* Lipid II can be obtained via a two-step accumulation and extraction procedure. (a) Schematic of the extraction procedure. White materials at the interface were observed after CHCl₃/MeOH extraction from an *S. aureus* culture treated with moenomycin. The interface was collected and further extracted with pyridinium acetate/n-butanol to obtain Lipid II in the organic layer. (b) Thin layer chromatography showed that phospholipids are predominantly in the organic layer after CHCl₃/MeOH extraction. (CL: cardiolipin; PG: phosphatidylglycerol; LPG: lysyl-phosphatidylglycerol) (c) Western blotting showed that Lipid II is predominantly in the interface layer after CHCl₃/MeOH extraction.

In order to establish the structure of the Lipid II species in the interface, we cleaved the pyrophosphate linkage by boiling the material in a weakly acidic buffer.^a After mild acid hydrolysis,^{21,22} the sample was subjected to MS analysis. As expected, we observed a peak corresponding to the monophosphate muropeptide, which is the cleaved product of S. aureus Lipid II. However, a major peak corresponded to the Park nucleotide was present as well (Figure 3.3). It is known that many cell wall-targeting antibiotics including moenomycin can result in accumulation of the Park nucleotide in bacteria.^{23,24} As described in Chapter 1.2, the observation that the Park nucleotide accumulates in S. aureus as a result of penicillin treatment led to the initial discovery of the cell wall pathway.²⁵ Since the Park nucleotide is a precursor of Lipid II and its peptide portion closely resembles that of Lipid II, we reasoned that the Park nucleotide should be removed from the sample to avoid any complications in using S. aureus Lipid II as a substrate. Therefore, we performed an additional extraction of the interface layer using a mixture of 6 M pyridinium acetate and n-butanol (Figure 3.2). This solvent system was initially reported by Strominger and coworkers for Lipid II extraction.^{26,27} In this step, S. aureus Lipid II selectively partitioned into the organic phase, while the soluble Park nucleotide was in the aqueous phase. We collected the organic fraction that contains S. aureus Lipid II. The structural assignment of the delipidated Lipid II after mild acid hydrolysis was confirmed by LC/MS/MS analysis. The species contains a pentaglycine branch and a carboxamide in the stem peptide; we did not detect any related species such as the ones lacking some of the glycines or the carboxamide. TLC analysis of the isolated S. aureus Lipid II showed one major spot, which has comparable R_f value as synthetic Lys-Lipid II (Figure 3.3b). Therefore, we conclude that native S. aureus Lipid II was obtained from S. aureus by direct isolation.

^a Since direct injection of the sample did not yield any mass corresponding to Lipid II, we reasoned that



Figure 3.3. Structural confirmation of the isolated *S. aureus* Lipid II. a) EICs showing both delipidated *S. aureus* Lipid II and the Park nucleotide were detected in the interface (top), and only deplipidated *S. aureus* Lipid II was observed in the organic phase after the additional extraction using pyridinium acetate/n-butanol (bottom). The samples were boiled in a weak acidic buffer prior to LC/MS analysis. The structures of the species are shown. b) TLC analysis of the isolated *S. aureus* Lipid II and synthetic Lys-Lipid II.

3.3.1. Estimation of S. aureus Lipid II quantity

In order to determine the amount of *S. aureus* Lipid II obtained by extraction, we used synthetic Lys-Lipid II as a standard for estimation. We subjected a mixture of Lys-Lipid II and *S. aureus* Lipid II to mild acid hydrolysis for cleavage of the pyrophosphate linkage, and then compared the ion counts of muropeptide 1 (from the synthetic Lys-Lipid II) and muropepide 2 (from *S. aureus* Lipid II) on LC/MS (Figure 3.4). A standard curve was made based on the counts of muropeptide 1 at different concentrations, and was used to calculate the concentration of muropeptide 2. It was estimated that approximately 300 μ g of *S. aureus* Lipid II was obtained from 1 L of moenomycin-treated *S. aureus* culture. In addition, an orthogonal quantification

method to determine the amount of *S. aureus* Lipid II was performed. Densitometry analysis of the biotinylated synthetic Lys-Lipid II and *S. aureus* Lipid II led to approximately 800 µg of *S. aureus* Lipid II from 1 L of moenomycin-treated *S. aureus* culture (Figure App2.22). While the quantitative measurement of *S. aureus* Lipid II extracted is still ongoing, we note that the estimated amount of Lipid II is sufficient for a large number of enzymatic assays (see Chapter Four). Taken together, useful quantities of native *S. aureus* Lipid II was obtained by direct isolation from moenomycin-treated *S. aureus* culture. This method can be accomplished in one day of work without the need for special equipment or synthetic expertise, greatly expanding the accessibility to the complex molecules.



Figure 3.4. Structures of delipidated Lipid II species. The species were yielded after acid hydrolysis of synthetic Lys-Lipid II (1) and *S. aureus* Lipid II (2).

3.4 A general approach to obtain bacterial Lipid II

In contrast to chemical syntheses of Lipid II, where a new synthetic route needs to be developed for each new Lipid II variant, our accumulation and isolation strategy presents a universal solution to obtain native Lipid II from different bacteria. Up to date, we have demonstrated the utility of this approach for a number of strains, including *S. aureus* $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutants, *B. subtilis, E. faecalis* and *E. coli*. Since *B. subtilis* is intrinsically resistant to moenomycin,^b we chose vancomycin for Lipid II accumulation. In the case of *E. coli*, a Gramnegative bacteria which has an impermeable outer membrane that presents an entry barrier to both moenomycin and vancomycin antibiotics, we resorted to a mutant *E. coli* strain (*Imp*), which has an defective outer membrane and restores the susceptibility to both antibiotics for Lipid II extraction. In addition, blocking the Lipid II flippase, MurJ with (2sulfonatoethyl)methanethiosulfonate (MTSES) in a MurJ^{A29C} mutant strain of *E. coli*^{28,29} provides an alternative route to accumulate Lipid II. Notably, an interfacial layer was obtained during large-scale Lipid II extraction for each strain examined, suggesting the formation of the interface containing concentrated Lipid II is a common phenomenon.

We analyzed the isolated Lipid II by *S. aureus* PBP4-enabled BDL labeling, and found that short glycan polymers (of approximately 3-5 disaccharide repeats) in addition to Lipid II monomers were accumulated in *B. subtilis* as a result of vancomycin treatment. This observation reflects a possible mechanism of vancomycin in sequestering both short nascent PG polymers as well as Lipid II in *B. subtilis*. Nevertheless, the short glycan polymers could be completely removed by treating the interface sample with mutanolysin. Furthermore, we determined the structure of the isolated Lipid II species by LC/MS after mild acid hydrolysis. We confirmed that Gly-Lipid II and Gly₃-Lipid II were obtained from *S. aureus* $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutants respectively, and both substrates were used in biochemical studies of *S. aureus* PBP2 in Chapter Four. Isolated Lipid II from *B. subtilis* was identified to contain an amidated *m*-Dap in the stem peptide, whereas Lipid II from *E. faecalis* showed an L-Ala-L-Ala branch with either a carboxamide or a carboxylate at the second position of the stem peptide (Figure 3.5 and Figure App. 2.23). The two species of *E. faecalis* Lipid II were present in comparable quantities. The

^b Treatment of *B. subtilis* with a sub-lethal concentration of moenomycin still leads to an accumulation of Lipid II.

amidation state on Lipid II in certain bacteria may vary with the growth phase of the organism.³⁰ For instance, Lipid II species in *mycobacteria* is highly heterogeneous with multiple modifications;²² however, the heterogeneity in *E. faecalis* Lipid II has not been reported previously.





Figure 3.5. Structures of Lipid II species isolated from different bacteria. The Lipid II accumulation and extraction protocol was used.

3.5 Conclusion

In summary, the chemical synthesis of *S. aureus* Lipid II faced significant challenges due to insolubility of the pentaglycine branch and the D-*iso*Gln in the stem peptide. Although Lipid II variants with mono- and tri-glycine branch were made, the overall yields were low. Instead, we developed a facile extraction method to obtain native *S. aureus* Lipid II from moenomycin-treated *S. aureus* culture. Previously, direct isolation of Lipid II from bacteria has been considered impractical due to low levels (2000 molecules/cell) of Lipid II in bacteria.² However, our studies showed that treatment of moenomycin in *S. aureus* led to a 10-fold increased in Lipid

If relative to untreated *S. aureus*, providing an opportunity for its direct extraction. In the largescale Lipid II extraction, we noted that the accumulated Lipid II concentrated at an interface layer, allowing its effective enrichment and removal from the abundant phospholipids. The interface was collected and extracted with organic solvents to remove the Park nucleotide and afforded the relatively pure Lipid II. The isolated *S. aureus* Lipid II contains both a pentaglycine and a carboxamide in the peptide portion. Our work represents the first preparation of native *S. aureus* Lipid II. We estimated that 500 µg^c of *S. aureus* Lipid II can be obtained from 1 L of moenomycin-treated *S. aureus* culture, sufficient for more than 1000 biochemical assays described in Chapter Four. In addition, this strategy is also suitable for obtaining Lipid II from other bacteria, including *S. aureus* mutants, *B. subtilis, E. faecalis* and *E. coli*. This direct isolation approach to yield Lipid II can be accomplished over a day without the need of expensive starting materials and synthetic expertise, greatly lowering the barriers to obtain various bacterial Lipid II.

3.6 Materials and Methods

3.6.1 Experimental details of synthesis

Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso***Gln-OH.** To a stirring mixture of Boc-Ala-OSu (573 mg, 2.00 mmol) and H-D-Glu-NH₂ (293 mg, 2.00 mmol) in DME (6 mL) was added 1 M NaHCO₃ (12 mL) at room temperature. Vigorous stirring was needed to ensure proper mixing of the solids. After reaction for 15 h, the mixture was concentrated *in vacuo* until it became clear. The mixture was cooled at

^c The average of the numbers from two estimation methods (see Chapter 3.3.1) was taken.

0 °C and acidified with 10 % aqueous citric acid (24 mL, 12 mmol). The mixture was extracted twice with EtOAc and the combined organic phases were washed with brine (12 mL), dried over Na₂SO₄, and then concentrated *in vacuo* to afford Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-OH as a white crystalline product (365 mg, 57.5%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD), 4.09 (1 H, d, *J* 7.1), 2.37 (2 H, d, *J* 7.5), 2.17-2.24 (1 H, m), 1.87-1.91 (1 H, m), 1.43 (9 H, s), 1.22-1.31 (3 H, m) (Figure App2.1).



Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso***Gln-L-Lys**(**Cbz**)-**D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (1).** To a stirring solution of HCl NH₂-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (174mg, 0.37 mmol) in dry DCM (10 mL) was added Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso***G**ln-OH (129 mg, 0.41 mmol), HOBt-H₂O (67.8 mg, 0.44 mmol), DIEA (77.2 μ L), and EDC (84.9 mg, 0.43 mmol) at room temperature under N₂. After reaction for 7 h, the mixture was concentrated and partitioned between EtOAc (40 mL) and 10% citric acid (20 mL). A small amount of MeOH was added to enhance the solubility of the product. The organic phase was subsequently washed with H₂O (10mL), 5% NaHCO₃ (10mL), brine (10mL), and dried over Na₂SO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo* to afford Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe as a yellow solid (231.6 mg, 85.4%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 7.34 (5 H, d, *J* 4.2), 5.06 (2 H, s), 4.35-4.40 (3 H, m), 4.01-4.20 (2 H, m), 3.68 (3 H, s), 3.12 (2 H, t), 2.25- 2.36 (2 H, m), 2.15-2.23 (2 H, m), 1.80-1.90 (2 H, m), 1.66-1.82 (2 H, m), 1.48-1.56 (2 H, m), 1.43 (s, 9H), 1.38-1.41 (3 H, d, *J* 7.3), 1.35-1.37 (3 H, d, *J* 7.3), 1.27-1.32 (3 H, d, *J* 7.3); LMRS (m/z) 736.3 (M+H) (Figure App2.2).



Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (3). To a solution of 1 (120 mg, 0.22 mmol) in dry MeOH (15 mL) was added Pd(OH)₂/C (30 mg). The mixture was let stir under N_2 for 20 min before applying a H_2 atmosphere at room temperature. After stirring under H_2 for 2 hr, the reaction mixture was filtered using a PDVF syringe filter. The filtrate was concentrated *in vacuo* to afford Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (2) (85 mg, quantitative) as a white solid. To dried 2 (20 mg, 0.03 mmol) in a clean RBF, TFA-Gly-OH (6.84 mg, 0.04 mmol), HOBt-H₂O (6.12 mg, 0.04 mmol) in a mixture of dry DCM/DMF (2 mL/0.5 mL) was added, followed by DIEA (7 µL, 0.04 mmol) and EDC (7.7 mg, 0.04 mmol). After the reaction was stirred at room temperature under N₂ for 15 h, the mixture was concentrated and resuspended in water (~ 2 mL) and purified using reverse phase C18 silica column using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 25%, 50%, 75% acetonitrile (ACN)/ 0.1% formic acid (3 mL each). The product was eluted in 10% and 25% fractions, which were pooled and concentrated in vacuo to afford Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (3) as a colorless film (9.7 mg, 50%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 4.35-4.40 (3 H, m), 4.19-4.22 (1 H, m), 4.03-4.05 (1 H, m), 3.91 (2 H, s, J 4.4), 3.70 (3 H, t, J 4.1), 3.21-3.23 (2 H, m), 2.34 (2 H, s), 2.20-2.23 (1 H, m), 1.86-1.88 (2 H, m), 1.69-1.70 (1 H, m), 1.54 (2 H, dd, J 4.3 and 2.8), 1.44-1.45 (9 H, m), 1.41 (3 H, ddd, J 7.1, 4.6 and 2.2), 1.37 (3 H, dd, J 6.4 and 3.6), 1.31-1.33 (3 H, m); LMRS (m/z) 755.3 (M+H) (Figure App2.3).



Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso***Gln-L-Lys**(-**Gly-Gly-Cbz**)-**D**-**Ala-D**-**Ala-OMe** (4). To a stirred solution containing 2 (70 mg, 0.12 mmol) and Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (126.7 mg, 0.35 mmol) in DME (4 mL) and 1 M NaHCO₃ (12 mL) at room temperature. Vigorous stirring was necessary to ensure proper mixing of reagents. After the reaction was completed after stirring for 4 h, an excess amount of water was to dissolve the white solids before the mixture was concentrated *in vacuo*. The product was purified on reverse phase C18 silica using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 60% ACN/ 0.1% formic acid (3 mL each). The 20% and 30% fractions were pooled and concentrated *in vacuo* to afford Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (4) as a colorless film (57.4 mg, 56%). δ H (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 7.29-7.39 (5 H, m), 5.12 (2 H, d, *J* 5.2), 4.35-4.40 (2 H, m), 4.20 (1 H, s), 4.05 (1 H, t, *J* 7.0), 3.84 (4 H, d, *J* 12.5), 3.69 (2 H, d, *J* 5.7), 3.20 (2 H, d, *J* 6.0), 2.35 (1 H, t, *J* 6.7), 2.20-2.21 (1 H, m), 1.86-1.89 (1 H, m), 1.75-1.80 (1 H, m), 1.66-1.72 (1 H, m), 1.54 (1 H, d, *J* 6.0), 1.42-1.45 (9 H, m), 1.42 (3 H, t, *J* 5.0), 1.38 (3 H, t, *J* 5.6), 1.33 (3 H, d, *J* 7.1); LMRS (m/z) 850.3 (M+H) (Figure App2.4).



Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (5). To a mixture of 4 (50 mg, 0.059 mmol) in dry MeOH (10 mL) was added Pd(OH)₂/C (10 mg). The mixture was stirred under N₂ for 10 min before applying an H₂ atmosphere for 2 h at room temperature. The mixture was filtered via a PVDF syringe filter (0.2 µM) and concentrated in vacuo to afford Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe a colorless film (40 mg, 95%). To Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-OH2)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (15 mg, 0.02 mmol), was added TFA-Gly-OH (10 mg, 0.06 mmol), HOBt-H₂O (4.8 mg, 0.03 mmol) and dry DCM (2 mL) as well as DMF (0.5 mL), followed by DIEA (5.8 µL) and EDC (6 mg, 0.03 mmol). The mixture was stirred under N₂ at room temperature for 30 h, during which more reagents: TFA-Gly-OH (10 mg), HOBt-H₂O (4.8 mg), DIEA (10 µL) and EDC (12 mg) were added. The progress of the reaction was monitored. After reaction was stirred for 48 h, 90% conversion was observed. The mixture was concentrated, and redissolved in 1: 1/H₂O: ACN (100 µL) to apply onto a C18 reverse phase column. The mixture was eluted using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50% ACN/0.1% formic acid. Unreacted starting material Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe was eluted in the 10% fraction; while the desired product Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-OMe (5) was detected in the 20% fraction, which was concentrated *in vacuo* as a colorless film (3 mg, 16.4%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 4.39 (3 H, dd, J 7.3 and 3.3), 4.18-4.21 (1 H, m), 4.05 (1 H, m), 4.04 (2 H, s), 3.91 (2 H, s), 3.84 (2 H, s), 3.69 (3 H, s), 3.21 (2 H, d, J 6.5), 2.34 (2 H, d, J 6.9), 2.20 (1 H, s), 1.87-1.89 (1 H, m), 1.76-

1.80 (1 H, m), 1.67-1.70 (1 H, m), 1.53-1.56 (3 H, m), 1.44 (9 H, s), 1.41 (3 H, d, *J* 7.3), 1.37 (3 H, d, *J* 7.2), 1.32 (3 H, d, *J* 7.1); LMRS (m/z) 891.2 (M+Na⁺) (Figure App2.5)



Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (6). To Boc-L-Ala-DisoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (40 mg, 0.056 mmol) in DME (2 mL) and 1 M NaHCO₃ (4 mL), was added Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (71.2 mg, 0.196 mmol) at room temperature. The progress of reaction was monitored. After the reaction was stirred for 30 h, more Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (50 mg, 0.14 mmol) was added. The reaction did not go to completion after 48 h, but significant amount of hydrolyzed products appeared. Therefore, the reaction was quenched by adding an excess amount of water and concentrated *in vacuo*. The mixture was purified on reverse phase C18 silica using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 20%a, 20%b 30%a, 30%b, 40%, 60% ACN/ 0.1% formic acid (3 mL each). The 20% and 30% fractions were pooled and concentrated in vacuo, The 20%b and 30%a fractions were pooled and concentrated to afford Boc-L-Ala-DisoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (6) as a colorless film (20 mg, 37%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 7.21-7.43 (5 H, m), 5.11-5.16 (2 H, s), 4.31-4.43 (3 H, m), 4.16-4.21 (1 H, m), 3.98-4.10 (2 H, m), 3.91-3.98 (2 H, m), 3.84-3.89 (4 H, m), 3.62-3.72 (3 H, m), 3.17-3.21 (2 H, m), 2.65-2.70 (1 H, m), 2.30-2.38 (2 H, m), 2.17-2.25 (2 H, m), 1.84-1.91 (2 H, m), 1.73-1.82 (2 H, m), 1.65-1.74 (2 H, m), 1.51-1.57 (2 H, m), 1.41-1.48 (9 H, m), 1.39-1.44 (3 H, d, J 7.1), 1.35-1.39 (3 H, d, J 7.1), 1.23-1.32 (3 H, d, J 7.1); LMRS (m/z) 964.4 (M+H) (Figure App2.6).

Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-OMe (7). To 6 (18.4 mg, 0.02 mmol) in dry MeOH (8 mL) was added Pd(OH)₂/C (10 mg). The mixture was flushed with N₂ for 10 min before a H₂ atmosphere was applied for 2 h at room temperature. The mixture was filtered via a PVDF syringe filter (0.2 µM) and concentrated in vacuo to afford Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe as a colorless film (12.4 mg, 78%). To Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (12.4 mg, 0.015 mmol), was added TFA-Gly-OH (10 mg, 0.06 mmol), HOBt-H₂O (6.8 mg, 0.05 mmol) and dry DCM (2 mL) as well as DMF (0.5 mL), followed by DIEA (4.5 μ L) and EDC (12 mg). The mixture was stirred under N₂ at room temperature for 72 h, during which more reagents: TFA-Gly-OH (10 mg, 0.06 mmol), HOBt-H₂O (6.8 mg, 0.05 mmol), DIEA (4.5 μL) and EDC (12 mg) were added. The reaction progress was monitored until starting material Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe was consumed. The mixture was concentrated, re-dissolved in a mixture of ACN/H₂O (200 µL) and purified on a C18 silica column with a step gradient: 0%, 5%, 10%a, 10%b, 20%a, 20%b, 30%a, 30%b, 40%, 60% ACN/0.1% formic acid (3 mL each). Unreacted starting material Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Oly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe was detected in 10% and 10% b fractions, which were recovered; while the desired product Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-OMe (5) was detected in 20% a fraction, which was concentrated *in vacuo* as a colorless film (5.1 mg, 34.7%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 4.35-4.41 (2 H, d), 4.25 (1 H, m), 4.17-4.21 (1 H, m), 4.16 (1 H, dd, J 2.5 and 1.5), 4.03 (2 H, dd, J 1.4 and 0.7), 3.91-3.94 (2 H, m), 3.88 (2H, m), 3.82-3.83 (2

H, m), 3.67 (2 H, m), 3.44 (2 H, s), 3.16 (2 H, t, *J* 1.6), 2.33 (2 H, t, *J* 0.8), 2.19 (2 H, m), 1.58-1.62 (3 H, m), 1.51-1.56 (2 H, m), 1.43-1.48 (9 H, m), 1.39-1.41 (2 H, m), 1.31-1.37 (4 H, m), 1.28-1.31 (3 H, m); LMRS (m/z) 983.3 (M+H) (Figure App2.7).

Cbz-D-isoGln(Trt)-OH. To a stirring solution of D-Glu-NH₂ (670 mg, 4.6 mmol) in 1 M NaHCO₃ (1 mL) and H₂O (2 mL), was added benzylchloroformate (1.33 g, 7.8 mmol) dropwise. The mixture was vigorously stirred for 3.5 h at room temperature. The reaction was quenched with 10 mL H_2O . For purification, the crude mixture was extracted with diethyl ether (10 mL) for three times. The aqueous phase was collected, washed with 10% citric acid (10 mL), and extracted with EtOAc (20 mL). The organic phase was dried with Na₂SO₄, and concentrated in vacuo to afford Cbz-D-Glu-NH₂ a white powder (984 mg, 76%). LRMS (m/z): 279.1 (M-H). To the dried Cbz-D-Glu-NH₂ (192 mg, 0.685 mmol) was added triphenylmethnaol (375 mg, 1.37 mmol). To the solid mixture, glacial acetic acid (2 mL) was added, followed by the addition of 30 µL of conc. sulfuric acid in acetic acid (prepared by mixing 100 µL sulfuric acid and 1 mL acetic acid) dropwise. The mixture turned yellow upon addition. Acetic anhydride (129 µL, 1.3 mmol) was added lastly. The reaction was completed after stirring at room temperature for 2 h. Cold H₂O (20 mL) was added to quench the reaction, during which white solids were formed. The white solids were collected by filtration and purified on silica column chromatography using EtOAc/0.1% acetic acid and hexane/0.1% acetic acid as solvents. The Cbz-D-isoGln(Trt)-OH eluted in 40% EtOAc/0.1% acetic acid, and concentrated to afford a yellow oil (153 mg, 43%).

δ_H (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 7.21-7.36 (20 H, mA), 5.22 (1 H, d, *J* 12.5), 5.05 (1 H, d, *J* 12.6,), 2.27 (2 H, dt, *J* 7.4 and 3.7), 1.98-2.00 (2 H, m), 1.97-2.00 (2 H, m); LMRS (m/z) 521.2 (M-H) (Figure App2.8).



Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln(Trt)-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (9). To a stirring solution of Cbz-DisoGln(Trt)-OH (150 mg 0.287 mmol) in dry MeOH (25 mL) was added Pd(OH)₂/C (60 mg). The mixture was stirred under N₂ for 10 min before applying H₂ atmosphere at room temperature. After reaction was stirred for 1 h, the reaction was filtered using a PVDF syringe filter and concentrated to afford H-D-isoGln(Trt)-OH as a white solid (118.3 mg, 99%). To the vial containing deprotected H-D-isoGln(Trt)-OH (87 mg, 0.342 mmol) in DME (4 mL) and 1 M NaHCO₃ (8 mL), was added Boc-L-Ala-OSu (87 mg, 0.342 mmol). After being stirred at room temperature for 24 h, the reaction was quenched with 10% citric acid (20 mL), and extracted with EtOAc (60 mL) twice. The organic layer was dried on Na₂SO₄, concentrated and purified using silica column chromatography. Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-OH was eluted using EtOAc/0.1% acetic acid to afford a colorless liquid (90 mg, 47%). To a mixture of Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln(Trt)-OH (22 mg, 0.04 mmol) and H-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (437 mg, 0.04 mmol) in DCM (1.5 mL) and DMF (0.5 mL), was added HOBt-H₂O (6.61mg, 0.04 mmol), DIEA (10 µL, 0.04 mmol) and EDCI (8 mg, 0.04 mmol). The reaction was stirred at room temperature for 15 h. The mixture was concentrated, diluted with EtOAc (10 mL), washed with 10% citric acid (2 mL), the organic phase was washed with H₂O (2 mL), 5% NaHCO₃ (1 mL), brine (1 mL), and dried over Na₂SO₄. The product was concentrated *in vacuo* and purified on silica column chromatography using EtOAc and hexane as eluent. Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln(Trt)-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe was eluted in 100% EtOAc, and concentrated to afford a colorless oil (32.2 mg, 84%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 8.49 (1 H, s), 8.18-8.30 (2 H, m), 8.18 (1 H, d, *J* 7.3), 8.05 (2 H, d, *J* 7.5), 7.18-7.33 (16 H, m), 5.05 (2 H, s), 4.52 (1 H, ddd, *J* 5.0, 2.9 and 1.2), 4.33-4.38 (2 H, m), 4.14-4.16 (1 H, m), 4.04 (1 H, dd, *J* 6.8 and 2.0), 3.61 (3 H, s), 3.11 (2 H, t, *J* 6.1), 2.21-2.25 (3 H, m), 1.74-1.79 (2 H, m), 1.66-1.72 (1 H, m), 1.50 (2 H, d, *J* 6.8), 1.38-1.40 (9 H, m), 1.36 (3 H, d, *J* 3.3), 1.34-1.35 (3 H, m), 1.27 (3 H, t, *J* 9.5) (Figure App2.9).



Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (10). To a solution of Boc-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (137.2 mg, 0.34 mmol) in DME (2 mL) ad 1M NaHCO₃ (4 mL), was added Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (363.33 mg, 0.85 mmol). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 4 h. The reaction was concentration *in vacuo* and dissolved in MeOH (3 mL). The Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe was purified on HPLC to afford a white solid (115.6 mg, 50%). To a solution of Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (115.6 mg, 0.18 mmol) in dry MeOH (8 mL), was added Pd(OH)₂/C (40 mg). The reaction mixture was stirred under N₂ for 10 min before applying a H₂ atmosphere. After being stirred under H₂ for 2 h, the mixture was filtered using PVDF syringe filter and concentrated to afford Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (81

mg, 0.16 mmol) was stirred in DME (1.5 mL) and 1 M NaHCO₃ (3 mL), to which Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (142 mg, 0.39 mmol) was added. After the mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight, more Cbz-Gly-Gly-OSu (100 mg, 0. 27 mmol) was added with DME and 1 M NaHCO₃. The reaction was stirred for another 12 h before quenching with 10% citric acid. The mixture was concentrated *in vacuo* and purified on HPLC to afford Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe. Purified Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe from a few runs were pooled and subjected to hydrogenation to afford Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe as a colorless film. $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 4.38-4.41 (2 H, m), 3.92-3.96 (4 H, m), 3.78-3.87 (2 H, m), 3.68 (3 H, d, *J* 11.7), 3.20 (2 H, s), 1.61-1.70 (2 H, m), 1.53 (2 H, d, *J* 0.7), 1.39-1.43 (11 H, m), 1.35-1.39 (5 H, m); LMRS (m/z) 631.3 (M+H) (Figure App2.10).



Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (11). To a stirring solution that contains compound **10** (84 mg, 0.13 mmol) and TFA-Gly-OH (113 mg, 0.7 mmol) in DCM/DMF (3 mL/ 0.5 mL), was added HOBt-H₂O (30 mg, 0.2 mmol), DIEA (35 μ L, 0.2 mmol) and EDC (38 mg, 0.2 mmol). The reaction mixture was concentrated and purified by HPLC. The product Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe **(11)** was afforded as a colorless film (80 mg, 75%). $\delta_{\rm H}$ (500 MHz; CD₃OD) 4.38-4.42 (1 H, m), 4.21 (1 H, dd, *J* 5.6 and 3.1), 4.03-4.07 (1 H, m), 3.88-3.97 (2 H, m), 3.81-3.83 (1 H, m), 3.68 (3 H, dd, *J* 20.6 and 15.2), 3.34-3.37 (1 H, m), 3.19-3.21 (1 H, m), 1.65-1.73 (1 H, m), 1.57-1.64 (1 H, m), 1.54 (1 H,

ddtd, *J* 9.9, 5.1, 2.1 and 0.9), 1.39-1.45 (4 H, m), 1.32-1.39 (4 H, m), 1.28-1.31 (2 H, m), 0.90-0.96 (2 H, m); LMRS (m/z) 806.1 (M+Na⁺) (Figure App2.11).



Gly-Lipid I (12). MurNAc-PP-heptaprenyl lipid (4 mg, 3 µmol) was evaporated twice with 0.5 M DIEA in MeOH (prepared by 274 µL DIEA in 3 mL MeOH) for ammonium salt exchange and dried under high vacuum for at least 1 h. While compound 3, Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (4 mg, 6 µmol) was stirred in 4 M HCl (3 mL) under N₂ for 20 min. The solution was concentrated to dryness and concentrated twice more from toluene to remove trace HCl, yielding HCl NH2-L-Ala-D-isoGln-L-Lys(-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe which was used without further purification. The protected peptide was dissolved in dry MeOH (500 µL) and was transferred to the vial containing dried MurNAc-PP-heptaprenyl residue under N₂. The mixture was treated with DIEA (0.5 M in MeOH, 10 µL, 9 µmol) followed by dimethoxytriazine-N-methylmorpholinium chloride (DMTMM, 2.5 mg, 9 µmol). After being stirred at room temperature for 5 h, the reaction was concentrated *in vacuo*, and purified on reverse phase C18 silica using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, 80%, 90% ACN/ 0.2% NH₄COO₃H. The 60% fraction contained the protected Gly-Lipid I product (0.7 mg, 7.3%). LRMS (m/z): 1565.7 (M-H), 781.4 (M-2H)²⁻ (Figure App3.12). The protected compound (0.7 mg, 0.4 µmol) was dissolved in 100 µL 1:1 dioxane/H₂O and 20 µL 1 M LiOH in H₂O was added under stirring. Global protecting hydrolysis was observed after 30 min by ESI-
MA. The reaction was neutralized with NH₄Cl (100 μ L), and then concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified on reverse phase C18 silica using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, 80%, 90% ACN/ 0.2% NH₄COO₃H. The 50% fraction was concentrated *in vacuo* to give Gly-Lipid I (**12**) as a colorless film (0.3 mg). LRMS (m/z): 1454.7 (M-H), 726.9 (M-2H)²⁻ (Figrue App2.13). HRMS (m/z): calcd for C₆₈H₁₁₅N₉O₂₁P₂ (M-2H)²⁻ 726.8769, found 726.8769 (Figure App2.14).



Gly₃-Lipid I (13). MurNAc-PP-heptaprenyl lipid (3.5 mg 3 μ mol) was evaporated twice with 0.5 M DIEA in MeOH for ammonium salt exchange and dried under high vacuum for at least 1 h. While compound **5**, Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (5 mg, 6 μ mol) was stirred in 4 M HCl (3 mL) under N₂ for 20 min. The solution was concentrated to dryness and concentrated twice more from toluene to remove trace HCl, yielding NH₂-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe which was used without further purification. The protected peptide was dissolved in dry MeOH (500 μ L) and was transferred to the vial containing dried MurNAc-PP-heptaprenyl residue under N₂. The mixture was treated with DIEA (0.5 M in MeOH, 10 μ L, 9 μ mol) followed by dimethoxytriazine-N-methylmorpholinium chloride (DMTMM, 2.5 mg, 9 μ mol). After being stirred at room

temperature for 4 h, the reaction was concentrated *in vacuo*, and purified on reverse phase C18 silica using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, 80%, 90% ACN/ 0.2% NH₄COO₃H. The 60% fraction contained the protected Gly₃-Lipid I product (1.8 mg, 18.8%), while the 10% fraction contained unreacted peptide material, and the 70% fraction contained unreacted MurNAc-PP-lipid. LRMS (m/z): 838.7 (M-2H)²⁻ (Figure App3.15). The protected compound (1.8 mg, 1.1 µmol) was dissolved in 500 µL 1:1 dioxane/H₂O and 40 µL 1 M LiOH in H₂O was added under stirring. Global protecting hydrolysis was observed after 30 min by ESI-MS. The reaction was neutralized with NH₄Cl (200 µL), and then concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified on reverse phase C18 silica using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, 80%, 90% ACN/ 0.2% NH₄COO₃H. The 50% fraction was concentrated *in vacuo* to give Gly₃-Lipid I as a colorless film (1.2 mg, 70 %) LRMS (m/z): 783.6 (M-2H)²⁻ (Figure App2.16). HRMS (m/z): calcd for C₇₂H₁₂₁N₁₁O₂₃P₂ (M-2H)²⁻ 783.8983, found 783.8987(Figure App2.17).



Protected Gly₅-Lipid I (14). MurNAc-PP-heptaprenyl (2.5 mg 3 μmol) was evaporated twice with 0.5 M DIEA in MeOH for ammonium salt exchange and dried under high vacuum for at least 1 h. While compound 7, Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (5 mg, 5 μmol) was stirred in 4 M HCl (3 mL) under N₂ for 20 min. The solution

was concentrated to dryness and concentrated twice more from toluene to remove trace HCl, yielding NH₂-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe which was used without further purification. The protected peptide was dissolved in dry MeOH (500 μ L) and was transferred to the vial containing dried MurNAc-PP-heptaprenyl residue under N₂. The mixture was treated with DIEA (0.5 M in MeOH, 10 μ L, 9 μ mol) followed by dimethoxytriazine-N-methylmorpholinium chloride (DMTMM, 2.5 mg, 9 μ mol). The reaction progression was monitored over 5 h, but no product was observed on MS. The reaction was concentrated *in vacuo*, and purified on reverse phase C18 silica using a step gradient: 0%, 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, 80%, 90% ACN/ 0.2% NH₄COO₃H. The 60% fraction was analyzed, and contained small amount of product. LRMS (m/z): 895.8 (M-2H)²⁻ (Figure App2.18).



Gly-Lipid II (15). Gly-Lipid I was converted to Gly-Lipid II using a previously described enzymatic method.¹⁰ A radiolabeled reaction was carried out in parallel. Briefly, to a tube containing Gly-Lipid I (75 μ g, 50 nmol) dissolved in MeOH (24 μ L), 50 mM HEPES buffer, 10 mM MgCl₂ in H₂O and incubated with 1 U/ μ L alkaline phosphatase and 0.5 mg/mL *E. coli* MurG in a final reaction volume of 160 μ L for 1 h at room temperature. An additional aliquot of MurG (8 μ L of 5 mg/mL stock) was added. After 1 h, the reactions were quenched with 160 μ L

ice cold H₂O, and purified on a reverse phase C18 SPE column. After washing with 0.1% ammonium hydroxide, the desired compound was eluted with 0.1 % ammonium hydroxide in methanol. Fraction from non-radiolabeled experiments were analyzed by ESI-MS. Vacuum centrifugation afforded non-radiolabeled Gly-Lipid II; HRMS (m/z): calcd for $C_{76}H_{128}N_{10}O_{26}P_2$ (M-2H)²⁻ 828.4165, found 828.4146 (Figure App2.19).



Gly₃-Lipid II (16). A similar approach was used to Gly₃-Lipid I was converted to Gly₃-Lipid II using MurG reaction as described above. HRMS (m/z): calcd for $C_{80}H_{134}N_{12}O_{28}P_2$ (M-2H)²⁻ 885.4380, found 885.4347 (Figure App2.20).

3.6.2 Small-scale extraction of S. aureus Lipid II

The small-scale lipid extraction was modified from a previously published protocol.¹⁷ An overnight culture (20 mL) of *S. aureus* RN4220 was diluted to an $OD_{600} = 0.1$, and allowed to grow to mid-exponential phase at 37 °C. The culture was divided into two partitions (10 mL each). One culture was treated with moenomycin (0.6 µg/mL) and the other was not. At the indicated time, 1 mL aliquot *S. aureus* taken out from each culture to read O.D. and then transferred to a glass tube containing 3.5 mL of a 2:1/CHCl₃: MeOH. The mixture was vortexed for 10 min at 25 °C, and any cell debris was removed by centrifugation for 10 min at 4,000 x g. The supernatant was collected and transferred to a new glass tube with 2 mL CHCl₃ and 1.5 mL

PBS. The mixture was vortexed for 10 min, and centrifuged for 10 min at 4,000x g to achieve phase separation. The bottom organic layer was collected and dried under N₂. The dried fractions were resuspended in 12 μ L DMSO. Each fraction (2 μ L) was analyzed by in Western blot analysis of BDL-labeled Lipid II (Figure 3.1).

3.6.3 Large-scale extraction of S. aureus Lipid II

Large-scale lipid extraction was performed on 6 L (4x 1.5L) of S. aureus RN4220 cultures. An overnight culture of S. aureus RN4220 in TSB media (15 mL) was used to inoculate each 1.5 L culture. The cultures were grown at 37 °C with shaking at 220 rpm. Moenomycin was added at a final concentration of 0.6 μ g/mL to each 1.5 L culture when OD₆₀₀ = 0.5-0.6 for accumulation of Lipid II. The moenomycin-treated cultures were grown for another 30 min before harvesting cell pellets. The pellets from 6 L (4 x 1.5 L) cultures were resuspended in 60 mL PBS (pH 7.4), and divided equally into 4 x 125 mL Erlenmeyer flasks, each of which contains a mixture of 52.5 mL 2: 1 MeOH: chloroform solvents. The mixture was stirred for 1 h at room temperature to ensure cell lysis. The mixture (about 70 mL) from each Erlenmeyer flask was poured into two Teflon tubes, which were spun down at 4000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C. The cell debris was visible as a pellet at the bottom of the tube, while the supernatant that contains the solubilized cellular contents were collected. The supernatants from two tubes were combined and poured into a 125 mL Erlenmeyer flask containing 30 mL chloroform and 22.5 mL PBS. The mixture was stirred at high speed for an hour for thorough mixing of the layers. The homogenized mixture was quickly poured into three clean Teflon tubes and centrifuged at 4000 x g for 10 min at 4 °C. It is important to quickly transfer the heterogeneous mixture into three tubes so that the composition of the mixture in each tube is roughly the same. In each Teflon

tube, a white interface layer was observed between the top aqueous and bottom organic layer. The top aqueous layer may appear hazy at first, but the haziness settles into the interface when the Teflon tube warms up to room temperature, giving a clear aqueous layer. The interface layer was collected by first removing the aqueous layer slowly using a Pasteur pipette. It is unavoidable to take up some volume of the aqueous layer while transferring the interface. The interface layer and the remaining organic layers are dried and analyzed by Western blot analysis of BDL-labeled Lipid II (Figure 3.2a).

For the second extraction to remove the Park nucleotide from the interface, the dried interface (from 4 x 1.5 L cell culture) was dissolved in 15 mL organic mixture of 1: 2 6M pyridinium acetate: n-butanol (prepared by mixing 51.5 mL glacial acetic acid with 48.5 mL pyridine), and washed with 15 mL of aqueous solvent (n-butanol saturated water) in a separation funnel. The aqueous layer was extracted again with 10 mL organic solvent (1: 2 6M pyridinium acetate: n-butanol) to maximize Lipid II extraction. The organic layers were combined and washed with aqueous solvent (n-butanol saturated water) (10 mL x 3) to remove the water-soluble Park nucleotide (Figure 3.2a). The clean organic layer was concentrated by rotary evaporation, and dissolved in MeOH for LC/MS quantification. For biochemical assays, the dried Lipid II was dissolved in DMSO, and was referred to as lipid extract.

3.6.4 Thin layer chromatography (TLC) analysis of phospholipids

Lipid extract dissolved in MeOH or phospholipids standards (CL: cardiolipin, PG: phosphotidylglycerol, LPG: lysyl-phosphotidylglycerol) in MeOH (at 5 mg/mL) were spotted on a TLC plate. The TLC was eluted in solvent CHCl₃: MeOH: CH₃COOH of 60: 30: 10, and detected by spraying with a solution of CuSO₄ in 8% phosphoric acid, and heating at 180 °C for

10 min until brown spots indicating phospholipids appeared (Figure 3.2b).

3.6.5 Western blot analysis of BDL-labeled Lipid II

The crude extract containing Lipid II was diluted in DMSO, and added to a mixture containing PBP4 (4 μ M), BDL (3 mM) in a reaction buffer (12.5 mM HEPES (pH = 7.5), 2 mM MnCl₂, and 250 μ M Tween-80) to reach a total volume of 10 μ L with a final DMSO concentration of 20%. The reaction was incubated at room temperature for 1 h, and quenched with 10 μ L of 2x SDS loading buffer. The final mixture (3 μ L) was loaded onto a 4-20% gradient polyacrylamide gel and let run at 200 V for 40 min. The products were transferred to Immun-Blot PVDF membrane (BioRad) at 25 V (fixed) 1.3 A (variable) for 15 min. BDL-Lipid II was detected by blotting with streptavidin-HRP (1:10000 dilution), visualized using ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Ambersham) on Azure C400 imaging system (Figure 3.2b).

3.6.6 LC/MS analysis of delipidated S. aureus Lipid II

A small amount of the interface lipid extract in DMSO (10 μ L) was incubated with H₂O (80 μ L) and 100 mM ammonium acetate at pH 4.2 (10 μ L). The mixture was heated at 100 °C in a heating block for 30 min. Under these conditions, the Lipid II is hydrolyzed at the phosphodiester linkage. The mixture was lyophilized, resuspended in 20 μ L H₂O, and subjected to LC/MS analysis, conducted with ESI-MS operating in negative mode. The instrument was equipped with a Waters Symmetry Shield RP18 column (5 μ M, 3.9 x 150 mm) with a matching column guard. The fragments were separated using the following method: 0.5 mL/min H₂O (0.1% formic acid) for 5 min followed by a gradient of 0 % acetonitrile (ACN) (0.1% formic

acid)/ H_2O (0.1% formic acid) to 20% ACN (0.1% formic acid)/ H_2O (0.1% formic acid) over 40 min. The molecular ion corresponding to expected disaccharide muropeptide monophosphate fragment was extracted from chromatograms (Figure 3.3). MS/MS chromatograms of delipidated *S. aureus* Lipid II were shown in Figure App2.21.

3.6.7 Quantifications of delipidated S. aureus Lipid II

The interface lipid extract in DMSO (4 μ L) was mixed with varying concentrations of synthetic Lys-Lipid II in DMSO (4 μ L of 200 μ M, 100 μ M or 50 μ M) respectively, which was then subjected to heat degradation in buffer (10 mM ammonium acetate, pH 4.2) at 100 °C for 30 min. The mixture was lyophilized, redissolved in 20 μ L H₂O, and subjected to LC/MS analysis, conducted with ESI-MS operating in negative mode. The LC/MS run method was indicated above. The molecular ions corresponding to both degraded fragments (from synthetic Lys-Lipid II and native *S. aureus* Lipid II) were extracted from chromatograms. The amount of native Lipid II was estimated using a standard curve of the synthetic Lys-Lipid II (Figure App2.22).

An alternative quantification method was performed by biotinylation of Lipid II. In this method, the interface extract in DMSO at various dilutions were labeled with BDL using *S. aureus* PBP4, and the BDL-labeled Lipid II was then subjected to Western blot detection, as previously discussed. Densitometry analysis of the BDL-Lipid II (from the interface extract) was done using BDL-labeled Lys-Lipid II (Lys-Lipid II of known concentrations were labeled with BDL using *S. aureus* PBP4) as a standard curve on ImageJ (Figure App2.22).

3.7 References

- 1 Bouhss, A.; Trunkfield, A. E.; Bugg, T. D. H.; Mengin-Lecreulx, D. The biosynthesis of peptidoglycan lipid-linked intermediates. *FEMS Microb. Rev.* **2008**, *32* (2), 208-233.
- 2 Van Heijenoort, J. Lipid intermediates in the biosynthesis of bacterial peptidoglycan. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* **2007**, *71* (4), 620-635.
- 3 Schneider, T.; Senn, M. M.; Berger-Bächi, B.; Tossi, A.; Sahl, H. G.; Wiedemann, I. In vitro assembly of a complete, pentaglycine interpeptide bridge containing cell wall precursor (lipid II-Gly5) of Staphylococcus aureus. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2004**, *53* (2), 675-685.
- 4 Patin, D.; Barreteau, H.; Auger, G.; Magnet, S.; Crouvoisier, M.; Bouhss, A.; Touzé, T.; Arthur, M.; Mengin-Lecreulx, D.; Blanot, D. Colicin M hydrolyses branched lipids II from Gram-positive bacteria. *Biochimie* **2012**, *94* (4), 985-990.
- 5 Münch, D.; Roemer, T.; Lee, S. H.; Engeser, M.; Sahl, H. G.; Schneider, T. Identification and in vitro analysis of the GatD/MurT enzyme-complex catalyzing Lipid II amidation in Staphylococcus aureus. *PLoS Pathog.* **2012**, *8* (1), e1002509.
- 6 Helassa, N.; Vollmer, W.; Breukink, E.; Vernet, T.; Zapun, A. The membrane anchor of penicillin-binding protein PBP2a from Streptococcus pneumoniae influences peptidoglycan chain length. *FEBS J.* **2012**, *279* (11), 2071-2081.
- Zapun, A.; Philippe, J.; Abrahams, K. A.; Signor, L.; Roper, D. I.; Breukink, E.; Vernet, T. In vitro reconstitution of peptidoglycan assembly from the Gram-positive pathogen Streptococcus pneumoniae. *ACS Chem. Biol.* 2013, 8 (12), 2688-2696.
- 8 Tsukamoto, H.; Kahne, D. N-methylimidazolium chloride-catalyzed pyrophosphate formation: application to the synthesis of Lipid I and NDP-sugar donors. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2011**, *21* (17), 5050-5053.
- 9 Men, H.; Park, P.; Ge, M.; Walker, S. Substrate synthesis and activity assay for MurG. J. *Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120* (10), 2484-2485.
- 10 Ha, S.; Chang, E.; Lo, M. C.; Men, H.; Park, P.; Ge, M.; Walker, S. The kinetic characterization of Escherichia coli MurG using synthetic substrate analogues. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1999, *121* (37), 8415-8426.

- 11 Ye, X. Y.; Lo, M. C.; Brunner, L.; Walker, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Better substrates for bacterial transglycosylases. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123* (13), 3155-3156.
- 12 Lebar, M. D.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; May, J. M.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Forming cross-linked peptidoglycan from synthetic Gram-negative Lipid II. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135* (12), 4632-4635.
- 13 Lebar, M. D.; May, J. M.; Meeske, A. J.; Leiman, S. A.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; Losick, R.; Rudner, D. Z.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Reconstitution of peptidoglycan crosslinking leads to improved fluorescent probes of cell wall synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2014, *136* (31), 10874-10877.
- 14 Sieber, P.; Riniker, B. Protection of carboxamide functions by the trityl residue. Application to peptide synthesis. *Tet. Lett.* **1991**, *32* (6), 739-742.
- 15 Matsuhashi, M.; Dietrich, C. P.; Strominger, J. L. Incorporation of glycine into the cell wall glycopeptide in Staphylococcus aureus: role of sRNA and lipid intermediates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **1965**, *54* (2), 587-594.
- 16 Bumsted, R. M.; Dahl, J. L.; Söll, D.; Strominger, J. L. Biosynthesis of the peptidoglycan of bacterial cell walls X. Future study of the glycyl transfer ribonucleic acids active in peptidoglycan synthesis in Staphylococcus arueus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1968**, *243* (4), 779-782.
- 17 Qiao, Y.; Lebar, M. D.; Schirner, K.; Schaefer, K.; Tsukamoto, H.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Detection of lipid-Linked peptidoglycan precursors by exploiting an unexpected transpeptidase reaction. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (42), 14678-14681.
- 18 Rebets, Y.; Lupoli, T.; Qiao, Y.; Schirner, K.; Villet, R.; Hooper, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Moenomycin resistance mutations in Staphylococcus aureus reduce peptidoglycan chain length and cause aberrant cell division. *ACS Chem. Biol.* 2014, 9 (2), 459-467.
- 19 Baizman, E. R.; Branstrom, A. A.; Longley, C. B.; Allanson, N.; Sofia, M. J.; Gange, D.; Goldman, R. C. Antibacterial activity of synthetic analogues based on the disaccharide structure of moenomycin, an inhibitor of bacterial transglycosylase. *Microbiology* 2000, *12* 3129-3140.
- 20 Guan, Z.; Breazeale, S. D.; Raetz, C. R. H. Extraction and identification by mass spectrometry of undecaprenyl diphosphate-MurNAc-pentapeptide-GlcNAc from Escherichia coli. *Anal. Biochem.* 2005, 345 (2), 336-339.

- 21 Higashi, Y.; Strominger, J. L.; Sweeley, C. C. Structure of a lipid intermediate in cell wall peptidoglycan synthesis: a derivative of a C55 isoprenoid alcohol. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1967**, *57* (6), 1878-1884.
- 22 Mahapatra, S.; Yagi, T.; Belisle, J. T.; Espinosa, B. J.; Hill, P. J.; McNeil, M. R.; Brennan, P. J.; Crick, D. C. Mycobacterial Lipid II Is Composed of a Complex Mixture of Modified Muramyl and Peptide Moieties Linked to Decaprenyl Phosphate. *J. Bacteriol.* 2005, *187* (8), 2747-2757.
- 23 Park, J. T. Uridine-5'-pyrophosphate derivatives I. Isolation from Staphylococcus aureus. J. Biol. Chem. 1952, 194 (2), 877-884.
- 24 Kohlrausch, U.; Höltje, J. V. Analysis of murein and murein precursors during antibioticinduced lysis of Escherichia coli. *J. Bacteriol.* **1991**, *173* (11), 3425-3431.
- 25 Strominger, J. L.; Park, J. T.; Thompson, R. E. Composition of the cell wall of Staphylococcus aureus: its relation to the mechanism of action of penicillin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1959**, *234* (12), 3263-3268.
- 26 Anderson, J. S.; Matsuhashi, M.; Haskin, M. A.; Strominger, J. L. Lipidphosphoacetylmuramyl-pentapeptide and lipid-phosphodisaccharide-pentapeptide: presumed membrane transport intermdiates in cell wall synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 1965, 53 (4), 881-889.
- 27 Anderson, J. S.; Strominger, J. L. Isolation and utilization of phospholipid intermediates in cell wall glycopeptide synthesis. *Biochem. Biophy. Res. Comm.* **1965**, *21* (5), 516-521.
- 28 Butler, E. K.; Davis, R. M.; Bari, V.; Nicholson, P. A.; Ruiz, N. Structure-function analysis of MurJ reveals a solvent-exposed cavity containing residues essential for peptidoglycan biogenesis in Escherichia coli. *J. Bacteriol.* **2013**, *195* (20), 4639-4649.
- 29 Sham, L. T.; Butler, E. K.; Lebar, M. D.; Kahne, D.; Bernhardt, T. G.; Ruiz, N. MurJ is the flippase of lipid-linked precursors for peptidoglycan biogenesis. *Science* 2014, 345 (6193), 220-222.
- 30 Warth, A. D.; Strominger, J. L. Structure of the peptidoglycan of bacterial spores: occurrence of the lactam of muramic acid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1969**, *64* (2), 528-535.

Chapter Four: Reconstitution of peptidoglycan assembly by Staphylococcus aureus PBP2

4.1 Introduction

This chapter describes the reconstitution of the transpeptidase activity of *S. aureus* PBP2, the only essential Class A PBP in *S. aureus*.^a Access to useful quantities of native *S. aureus* Lipid II, as discussed in Chapter Two and Three, has enabled the development of *in vitro* TP assays. This allows us to characterize beta-lactam antibiotics by directly monitoring their inhibition of TP activity *in vitro* for the first time. The work in this chapter lays the groundwork for future discovery of novel classes of TP inhibitors such as non-covalent inhibitors.

4.1.1 PBP2 is the essential Class A PBP in S. aureus

S. aureus PBP2 is an essential bifunctional PBP (Class A) that has both a peptidoglycan glycosyltransferase (PGT) and a transpeptidase (TP) domain. The PGT domain couples Lipid II monomers to make glycan strands, while the TP domain crosslinks adjacent strands via a short peptide. The identity of PG crosslinks is distinct in different bacteria; in *S. aureus*, the peptide cross-link is a pentaglycine bridge (Figure 4.1).¹ The cellular importance of the PGT and TP domains of *S. aureus* PBP2 has been probed by genetic inactivation of each active site residue.^{2,3} Its TP domain was found essential for viability in methicillin-sensitive *S. aureus* (MSSA), and can only be replaced by PBP2a in methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) strains.² However, the PGT domain of PBP2 is required for the full expression of methicillin resistance in MRSA, suggesting a cooperation between the PBP2 PGT activity and PBP2a TP activity.³ In addition, the PBP2 TP domain has been suggested to cooperate with PBP4 to produce highly cross-linked PG in *S. aureus*.⁴

^a Class A PBP refers to bifunctional PBP, which has both PGT and TP domains.



Figure 4.1. Schematic depiction of *S. aureus* PG biosynthetic pathway. *S. aureus* Lipid II contains a unique peptide. The PGT and TP domains of penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) accomplish the final stages of PG assembly and are good antibiotic targets. PBP2 is the major PBP in *S. aureus*.

The PGT activity of *S. aureus* PBP2 was characterized *in vitro* by Barrett *et al.* (2005) using synthetic Lys-Lipid II substrate, which was the first reconstitution of a Gram-positive Class A HMW PBP.⁵ In this work, a full-length construct of *S. aureus* PBP2 was heterologously overexpressed and purified. This construct exhibited optimal activity at pH 4.5-5.5, while the activity decreased in the presence of any detergent and did not depend on the presence metal ions. Under such optimal condition, *S. aureus* PBP2 PGT had a catalytic efficiency (k_{cat}/K_m : 2.4 x 10³ M⁻¹s⁻¹) comparable to that of the well-characterized *E. coli* PBP1b (k_{cat}/K_m : 3.5 x 10⁴ M⁻¹s⁻¹).⁶ However, it was proposed that the native pentaglycine-containing Lipid II may enhance the catalytic efficiency of *S. aureus* PBP2. Wang *et al.* (2008) showed that purified PGTs from different organisms could produce PG polymers of variable lengths. The full-length *S. aureus* PBP2 produces glycan polymers of about 15 disaccharide units *in vitro*.⁷ PG polymers of proper lengths in *S. aureus* are thought to be important for the placement of the division plane to ensure

orthogonal divisions.⁸ A moenomycin-resistant *S. aureus* mutant, which contains a point mutation in the PGT domain of PBP2 protein (PBP2 Y196D), manifests aberrant cell divisions.⁸ Compared to wildtype PBP2 protein, PBP2 Y196D mutant protein displayed a distributive mechanism *in vitro* where short PG polymers were released after each coupling.⁸ Several crystal structures of different bacterial PGTs in complex with moenomycin have been reported, in which moneomycin binds in the extended PGT active site.⁹⁻¹¹ The Y196D mutation in PBP2 resides in the distal region of the PGT active site cleft, which is proximal to the A, B rings of moenomycin. The fact that a point mutation in the PGT domain of *S. aureus* PBP2 confers a 25-fold increase in the MICs of moenomycin (0.5 μ g/mL to 12.5 μ g/mL) establishes that PBP2 is the lethal target of moenomycin.⁸

While much is known about *S. aureus* PBP2 PGT activity, its TP activity remains to be demonstrated. In the crystal structure of *S. aureus* PBP2, the C-terminal TP domain is separated from the N-terminal PGT domain by a small linker region.¹¹ The active site of the TP domain contains the characteristic motifs (<u>S</u>XXK, SXX, KTG) with S398 (underlined) being the active site residue.¹² Several beta-lactam resistant *S. aureus* strains that bear mutations in the PBP2 TP domain have been isolated clinically or in laboratory conditions.^{4,13} However, despite its importance as the target of beta-lactams, *S. aureus* PBP2 TP activity has not been characterized due to the lack of an appropriate substrate. Notably, the Ac₂-L-Lys-D-Ala-D-Ala tripeptide substrate, which has been used for probing LMW PBPs, is not suitable for studying the TP activities of HMW PBPs, since the TP domain and the PGT domain are coupled in HMW PBPs.¹⁴ The TP activities of *E. coli* HMW PBPs (PBP1a and PBP1b) have been shown to require ongoing PGT activities.^{14,15}

In this chapter, we used native *S. aureus* Lipid II substrate to characterize PBP2 activity *in vitro*. The composition of PG assembled by PBP2 *in vitro* greatly resembles that of the isolated sacculus from *S. aureus*. This observation is in line with the fact that PBP2 is the major TP in *S. aureus*. In this work, we have developed a facile activity assay that directly reports on the TP-mediated cross-linking and D-amino acid exchange reaction, enabling studies of beta-lactam inhibition of transpeptidation.

4.1.2 Traditional competition binding assays to study beta-lactams

In the absence of a transpeptidase activity assay, competition binding assays have been the prevalent approach to study beta-lactam interaction with bacterial PBPs, in which the concentration of a beta-lactam of interest needed to prevent binding of a labeled penicillin is assessed.¹⁶ Different beta-lactams display greatly varied affinities to PBPs in a given organism. For instance, mecillinam, a broad-spectrum beta-lactam, demonstrates specific binding to E. coli PBP2, an essential enzyme involved in cell elongation of the rod-shaped E. coli.¹⁷ S. aureus PBP3, which has a high homology to E. coli PBP2, also demonstrates high affinity for mecillinam.¹⁸. Consistent with the fact of S. aureus PBP3 is non-essential, mecillinam exhibits poor antibacterial activity against S. aureus. Although competition binding assays have allowed one to delineate the possible target(s) for a beta-lactam drug in bacteria, such assays are not desirable for studying non-covalent PBP inhibitors or beta-lactams with a fast rate of release from the enzyme, since a large excess of penicillin is necessary for labeling in the experiment and may result in an underestimation of the inhibitor's binding affinity. For instance, the cefaclor-bound PBP2 species has a high deacylation rate at 37 °C, despite cefaclor having a high affinity for the enzyme.¹⁹ If the incubation time exceeds the half-life of the covalent adduct

(penicilloyl-PBP), *S. aureus* PBP2 can be labeled by the excess penicillin to result in a misleading readout.²⁰ Therefore, a direct activity assay to study beta-lactam inhibition of PBPs is needed.

Using the TP assays developed in this chapter, we characterized the inhibitory activities of a panel of beta-lactams on *S. aureus* PBP2. We showed that the TP activity assay is useful for studying inhibitors that show reversible binding, such as cefaclor. We also investigated the TP activities of PBP2 mutant proteins that are implicated antibiotic resistance and confirmed their resistance to be associated with specific beta-lactams. Furthermore, we analyzed the substrate specificity of *S. aureus* PBP2 and revealed that it required a certain length of glycine branch for transpeptidation *in vitro*. These results provide a platform for studying the activities of other bacterial PBPs and for the continuing search of new classes of TP inhibitors.

4.2 Purification of S. aureus PBP2

Like other HMW PBPs, *S. aureus* PBP2 is a transmembrane (TM) protein with an Nterminal TM helix that anchors it to the cytoplasmic membrane. We have previously cloned, overexpressed and purified a full-length construct of *S. aureus* PBP2, and reconstituted its PGT activity using synthetic Lys-Lipid II.⁵ However, an anionic detergent, sodium lauryoyl sarcosinate, was necessary to solubilize the full-length PBP2 from the membrane fraction during purification. The purified full-length protein appeared aggregated on size-exclusion chromatography (SEC) analysis. As a result, the observed activity may come from only a small percentage of the well-folded protein in the purification preparation. To obtain a soluble *S. aureus* PBP2 construct, we cloned a PBP2 [M59-S716] construct with its N-terminal TM helix truncated.^b To facilitate solubilization of *S. aureus* PBP2 protein, we added 40 mM of CHAPS detergent (CMC of CHAPS is about 8 mM) to the purification buffer. A significant amount PBP2 [M59-S716] was solubilized under this condition. During the Ni-NTA column chromatography step, we exchanged the detergent to 0.28 mM LDAO (CMC of LDAO is about 1 mM), a common zwitterionic detergent for membrane protein purification and crystallization.²¹ The PBP2 [M59-S716] appeared well-folded in this storage buffer at pH 8.0 based on SEC analysis. From 1 L of *E. coli* culture for protein expression, 5-10 mg of *S. aureus* PBP2 [M59-S716] was obtained after Ni-NTA and SEC purifications. This was a major improvement from the previous purification of the full-length construct, where only 1-2 mg PBP2 protein (that was aggregated) was obtained per liter of culture.⁵ Since the protein demonstrated desirable purity (Figure 4.2), we subjected it to biochemical studies without additional steps of purification.



Figure 4.2. Purification of *S. aureus* PBP2 [59-716] construct and mutants. Coomassie gel showing PBP2 was purified in homogeneity (left), size-exclusion chromatography (SEC) trace of *S. aureus* [59-716] wildtype. A small aggregated peak was eluted in the void volume, a small peak that represents the dimer and the predominant monomeric peak. The red dotted line indicated the fractions that were collected.

^b This work was done in collaboration with a graduate student, Jeep Veerasak Srisuknimit and two undergraduate students, Alan Yang and Akeem Pinnock. The purification protocol was modified from Lovering *et al.* (2007).

4.3 Reconstitution of the PGT and TP activities of S. aureus PBP2

To reconstitute the activities of S. aureus PBP2, we used native Lipid II substrate prepared by direct isolation from S. aureus (see Chapter Three). As mentioned earlier, the PGT activity of S. aureus PBP2 has been studied using model Lys-Lipid II substrate,⁵ but characterization of its TP activity has not been possible due to a lack of the appropriate Lipid II substrate. The presence of the pentaglycine branch on native Lipid II allows us to study S. aureus PBP2 TP activity for the first time. We adopted the LC/MS assay that was used to study PBP4 activity as described in Chapter two for investigating PBP2 PGT and TP activities.²² The purified S. aureus PBP2 protein was incubated with native Lipid II substrate at room temperature. After one hour of incubation, the product was digested with mutanolysin to give the disaccharide muropeptides, which were further reduced by NaBH₄ to prevent anomerization of the reducing end on MurNAc.^c The mixture was then subjected to LC/MS analysis (Figure 4.3a). We identified monomeric muropeptide (A), as well as dimeric (B) and trimeric (C) muropeptides. The presence of peak A indicated the PGT activity of S. aureus PBP2, while the presence of peak B and C suggested successful TP activity of PBP2. Incubation of S. aureus PBP2 TP active site mutant with Lipid II resulted in only monomeric muropeptide (A), identical to what was observed when the monofunctional PGT SgtB was used for Lipid II polymerization (Figure App3.1). The composition of muropeptides from PG produced by PBP2 in vitro closely resembles that produced by digestion of the isolated S. aureus sacculus (Figure 4.3b). Hence, using native Lipid II substrate, we have reconstituted both glycan polymerization and strand cross-linking by the essential enzyme S. aureus PBP2. It should be mentioned that acidic buffer condition (pH 5.5) that was used previously for the full-length PBP2 construct was not optimal

^c Reduction of the anomeric carbon on MurNAc increases its ionization on mass spectrometry.

for our studies here, since the truncated PBP2 demonstrated better *in vitro* activity at neutral pH and the acidic buffer interfered with the LC/MS analysis.



Figure 4.3. *S. aureus* PBP2 uses native Lipid II to make cross-linked PG *in vitro*. (a) Schematic of PBP2 reaction to produce PG and muropeptide fragments resulting from degradation. (b) LC/MS EICs of the degraded products from PBP2 reaction (top) and from degraded sacculus (bottom). Peak A, monomeric muropeptide; peaks **B** and **C**, cross-linked dimeric and trimeric muropeptides, respectively. The following ions were extracted: A: 1254.5856 (m+H); B: 1029.0617 ($[m+2H]^{2+}$); and C: 1194.2204 ($[m+3H]^{3+}$). (See materials and methods for detailed protocols).

We next sought to develop a faster assay to monitor PBP2 activity. The LC/MS analysis of transpeptidation relies on a high-resolution mass spectrometer to detect the cross-linked products, and the throughput is slow (i.e. each LC/MS run takes 50 min). We examined whether *S. aureus* PBP2 can incorporate exogenous D-amino acids during *in vitro* PG assembly. If so, D-amino acid incorporation can provide a facile assay to study *S. aureus* PBP2 TP activity *in vitro*. It is known that several HMW PBPs in *E. coli* and *B. subtilis* are capable of incorporating a variety of D-amino acids into PG *in vitro*.^{23,24} We recently demonstrated that the LMW *S. aureus* PBP4 can incorporate a variety of functionalized D-amino acid derivatives into either pre-formed

PG or monomeric Lipid II in vitro; in particular, the incorporation of biotinylated-D-lysine (BDL) has led to a simple and sensitive assay to detect the cellular pools of Lipid II in bacteria.²² Therefore, we chose BDL as a probe to investigate S. *aureus* PBP2 TP activity *in vitro*. Here, the purified PBP2 protein was incubated with native Lipid II and BDL at room temperature for one hour, and then the reaction was quenched and loaded onto an SDS-PAGE gel for separation, followed by Western blot analysis using a streptavidin-HRP conjugate. Surprisingly, the only signal detected was found at a location that corresponded to the loading well of the gel (Figure 4.4a, left lane), suggesting that the product was too highly cross-linked to enter the SDS-PAGE gel matrix.^{25,26} To resolve the cross-linked product, we added lysostaphin to the reaction mixture prior to analysis by gel electrophoresis. Lysostaphin is an endopeptidase that specifically cleaves cross-linked pentaglycine bridges in S. aureus PG.²⁷ In the lysostaphin-treated sample, we detected strong signals across a wide range of molecular weights on the blot (Figure 4.4a, right lane). When the reaction sequence was carried out using PBP2 TP active site mutant, no signal was observed in the presence or absence of lysostaphin, indicating that BDL labeling was specific to PBP2 TP activity (Figure App3.2). Therefore, we conclude that PG polymers produced by the PGT domain of S. aureus PBP2 undergo TP-mediated cross-linking as well as BDL incorporation, resulting in a cross-linked macromolecule labeled with BDL.

As *S. aureus* PBP2 mediate PG cross-linking and D-amino acid incorporation (into PG) via the same acyl-enzyme intermediate (i.e. the activation step is identical), the two reactions are competing reactions (Figure 1.6). Indeed, we observed that as the concentration of Lipid II increases from 5 μ M to 20 μ M in the reaction, while keeping the concentrations of PBP2 (1 μ M) and BDL (3 mM) constant, the signal of BDL-labled PG became fainter (data not shown). This implied that PG cross-linking was favored over BDL incorporation by *S. aureus* PBP2 when

higher concentration of Lipid II substrate was used in the reaction. Although the concentration of exogenous BDL used was orders of magnitude higher than that of the Lipid II substrate, we assume that the close proximity of the pentaglycine branch in PG to the donor peptide may dramatically enhance the effective concentration for cross-linking as the Lipid II substrate concentration increases in the reaction mixture. However, at a lower concentration of Lipid II substrate, cross-linking and BDL labeling of PG by PBP2 can both occur readily; lysostaphin treatment allows cleavage of PG cross-links to yield linear PG polymers labeled with BDL for the ease of analysis. In summary, BDL labeling of PG by *S. aureus* PBP2 provides a facile and qualitative readout for PBP2 transpeptidation reaction.

4.4 Assessing the inhibitory effects of beta-lactams

To demonstrate the utility of this activity assay, we investigated the inhibitory effects of a panel of beta-lactams. As mentioned earlier, studies of beta-lactams have relied on competition binding assays in which a radiolabeled or fluorescent penicillin is used as a probe.^{16,28,29} Beta-lactam inhibition of the TP enzymatic activity of PBPs, however, has not been directly demonstrated. Here, we briefly incubated *S. aureus* PBP2 with an increasing concentration of different beta-lactams prior to running the reactions (Figure 4.4 and Figure App3.2). Cefalor, a second-generation cephalosporin, has been considered to be a weak binder of *S. aureus* PBP2 in the competition binding assay.²⁰ It was subsequently determined that cefaclor actually has a high affinity for PBP2 but undergoes rapid deacylation,¹⁹ resulting in a misleading readout by this. The half-life of cefaclor acyl-PBP2 was approximately 10 min at 37 °C.¹⁹ Therefore, the incubation time and the temperature of the reaction are important variables in the binding assay. If the time of radiolabeling exceeds the half-time of the acyl-enzyme intermediate, the binding of

the antibiotic to PBP will be significantly underestimated. In our activity assay, we found that cefaclor potently inhibited PBP2 activity at a concentration 5x that of the enzyme (5 μ M of cefaclor versus 1 μ M of PBP2). We did not observe significant differences in cefaclor inhibitory activities with either shorter (10 min) or longer (60 min) incubation time, but the amount of cefaclor required to inhibit *S. aureus* PBP2 activity *in vitro* varies with the concentration of PBP2 used in the reaction. In addition, mecillinam, an extended spectrum beta-lactam, which demonstrates poor antibacterial activity against *S. arueus*, has been reported to have poor affinity for *S. aureus* PBP2.²⁰ Indeed in our assay, it showed no detectable inhibition of PBP2 activity up to 20-fold excess of PBP2 concentration. Other beta-lactams including penicillin G, methicillin, and imipenem also demonstrate potent inhibitory activities in line with their binding data (Figure App3.2).^{20,30,31} The direct *in vitro* activity assay allows us to evaluate the inhibitory activities of beta-lactams in a purified system conviently.

We next examined whether the TP activity assay would be useful for assessing the activities of resistance mutations upon beta-lactam inhibition. Several laboratory and clinical isolates of *S. aureus* strains that display resistance to certain beta-lactams have been identified, and the mutations are mapped to the *pbp2* gene.^{4,13} In the case of a ceftizoxime-resistant *S. aureus* strain, a PBP2 P458L substitution has been shown to be responsible for resistance. The P458L mutation occurs in the TP cleft of *S. aureus* PBP2 (which is close to the TP active site residue). The mutant protein demonstrates a lower binding affinity for ceftizoxime than the wildtype enzyme.⁴ However, it is not known if the P458 residue in PBP2 specifically interacts with ceftizoxime, due to a lack of the crystal structure of *S. aureus* PBP2 in complex with ceftizoxime. Moreover, the TP activity of PBP2 P458L mutant has not been characterized previously. We overexpressed and purified the *S. aureus* PBP2 P458L mutant protein, and

analyzed its activity. We found that the TP domain of PBP2 P458L variant active and its tolerance to ceftizoxime was about ten fold higher than the wildtype enzyme (Figure 4.4d). The mutant enzyme remained susceptible to oxacillin inhibition, consistent with the observation that the strain containing this mutation was more susceptible to oxacillin killing (Figure App3.2).⁴ In contrast, a PBP2 D606V variant, found in several borderline oxacillin resistant *S. aureus* isolates,¹³ tolerated more oxacillin than the wildtype enzyme did in the activity assay (Figure App3.2). Our observation establishes the mechanistic basis of the observed resistance.



Figure 4.4. Beta-lactams inhibit *S. aureus* PBP2 TP activity. (a) Lysostaphin allows entrance of the BDLlabeled PG into the gel. (b) Structures of beta-lactams examined in c-d. (c) Cefaclor has potent inhibitory activity against PBP2, while mecillinam does not. The signal at 25 kD derives from non-specific binding of the conjugate to lysostaphin. (d) PBP2 resistant mutant P458L TP variant shows TP activity in the presence of higher doses of ceftizoxime. (See materials and methods for detailed protocols).

Given bacterial TP is an important antibiotic target, it is surprising that beta-lactams represent the only class of TP inhibitors in the clinic. Discovery of non-covalent TP inhibitors has not been possible with the current competition binding assays. We showed that our activity assay is compatible with inhibitors that have a fast rate of release from the enzyme, such as cefaclor.¹⁹ Therefore, we expect the assay to greatly facilitate the discovery of novel non-covalent TP inhibitors.

4.5 Investigating the substrate specificity of S. aureus PBP2

We also analyzed the substrate specificity of S. aureus PBP2 with Gly- and Gly₃-Lipid II variants that were isolated from the S. aureus $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutant respectively (see Chapter Three). As introduced in Chapter One, FemA and FemB are enzymes involved in the synthesis of the pentaglycine branch in Lipid II in S. aureus, where FemA attaches the second and third glycines, FemB attaches the last two glycines.³² Analysis of PG structures in $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutants revealed a dramatic reduction in the level of PG cross-linking, with monoglycine bridges in the $\Delta femA$ mutant and triglycine bridges in the $\Delta femB$ mutant.³³ This observation suggests that one or more PBPs in S. arueus must be able to cross-link the shorter glycine branches in both mutants. Using similar reaction conditions to those described in Chapter 4.3, we incubated Gly- or Gly₃-Lipid II with purified S. aureus PBP2 protein, followed by mutanolysin/NaBH₄ treatment and LC/MS analysis (Figure 4.5). With Gly-Lipid II, the un-crosslinked Gly muropeptide peak $(A_{x=1})$ was observed predominantly, while a small peak corresponding to the dimer product was found. However, with Gly₃-Lipid II, both monomeric $(A_{x=3})$ and dimeric muropeptides $(B_{x=3})$ were present. This indicates that S. aureus PBP2 can use triglycine branch as a nucleophile for cross-linking, but not the monoglycine branch under the in vitro experimental condition. Whether S. aureus PBP2 is responsible for PG cross-linking in $\Delta femA$ and $\Delta femB$ mutants *in vivo* remains to be answered. In addition, we observed S. *aureus*

PBP2 could incorporate D-amino acids during PG assembly with Gly- or Gly₃-Lipid II substrate. Taken together, *S. aureus* PBP2 demonstrates stringent substrate requirement for acceptors in cross-linking, where Gly-Lipid II substrate cannot be used efficiently *in vitro*. Nevertheless, the identity of the glycine branch on Lipid II does not affect its suitability as a donor substrate for *S. aureus* PBP2 TP activity.



Figure 4.5. *S. aureus* PBP2 demonstrates substrate specificity in transpeptidation. (a) Schematic of PBP2 reaction to produce PG and muropeptide fragments resulting from degradation. (b) LC/MS EICs of the degraded products from PBP2 reaction with Gly-Lipid II (top) and with Gly₃-Lipid II (bottom). Peak **A**, monomeric muropeptide; peak **B**, cross-linked dimeric muropeptide. The following ions were extracted: A(x=1): 1205.4997 (m+H); B(x=1): 1960.9445 ([m+H]⁺); and A(x=3): 1139.5426 (m+H); B(x=3): 1095.0188 ([m+2H]²⁺). (See methods and materials for detailed protocols).

4.6 Conclusion and future studies

In summary, we have reconstituted the TP activity of *S. aureus* PBP2 for the first time using native Lipid II substrate and developed a facile activity assay to study beta-lactam inhibition *in vitro*. The availability of a TP activity assay opens up the possibility to screen for novel classes of PBP inhibitors. TPs are important antibiotic targets; however, beta-lactams represent the only class of antibiotics that target these enzymes. Although there were several

attempts to identify new classes of TP inhibitors using computational docking methods recently,³⁴ a systematic approach to discover potential TP inhibitors is lacking. We are currently working towards adopting our Western blot-based TP activity assay into a high-throughput screening assay to enable systematic discovery of new classes of PBP inhibitors. The fact that practical quantities of native Lipid II substrate can be readily accumulated and isolated from bacteria makes its cost-effective to develop a high-throughput screening assay.

In our efforts to reconstitute *S. aureus* PBP2 activity, we have established a reliable and generalizable route to obtain native Lipid II substrate (see Chapter Three), which provided important foundations for future *in vitro* studies of other bacterial TPs. We are currently continuing the investigation of the substrate specificity of *S. aureus* PBPs. If *S. aureus* PBP2 has an intrinsic preference for Gly₅- and Gly₃- over Gly-Lipid II, there must be another *S. aureus* PBP that can cross-link the Gly-Lipid II, since the *S. aureus* Δ*femA* mutant is still viable and its PG contains monoglycine cross-bridges. Moreover, the TP activities of Class B HMW PBPs, such as *S. aureus* PBP1, PBP2a and PBP3, are not well understood. Banzhaf *et al.* (2012) showed that the presence of *E. coli* PBP2 (a Class B HMW PBP) stimulates the TP activity of *E. coli* PBP1a (a Class A HMW PBP), as measured by the attachment of *in vitro* radiolabeled PG to sacculi.³⁵ However, *E. coli* PBP2 did not demonstrate any TP activity alone or with a PBP1a TP mutant. Therefore, characterization of Class B HMW PBPs still awaits, and understanding their activities may enable better strategies to target them.

4.7 Materials and Methods

4.7.1 General Methods

S. aureus strain was grown at 37 °C in Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) media under aeration with shaking. Native *S. aureus* Lipid II was obtained by direct isolation from *S. aureus* culture as described in Chapter Three. LC/MS chromatograms were obtained on an Agilent Technologies 1100 series LC-MSD instrument using electrospray ionization (ESI). HRMS data was obtained on a Bruker Maxis Impact LC-q-TOF Mass Spectrometer using ESI. Western blots were developed using Biomax Light Film (Kodak) or imaged using Azure C400 imaging systems. ImageJ was used to quantify blots.

4.7.2 Cloning of S. aureus PBP2[M59-S716] and mutants

The *S. aureus pbp2*[M59-S716] construct was cloned into pET42a(+) plasmid using Gibson assembly protocol. Briefly, the nucleotide region of *S. aureus pbp2* gene encoding amino acid 59 to 716 was amplified using the following primer pair:

5'- TTTTGTTTAACTTTAAGAAGGAGATATACATA<u>TGAAAGCACCTGCTTTTACCGA</u>-3' and 5'- TGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGCTCGA<u>GAGATTGTTGAGATCTAGTATTGTTATTTGAT</u>-3', where the underlined regions indicate sequences annealing to the PBP2 gene, and the W59 was mutated to become the new N-terminal methionine. The PCR product was analyzed and purified using agarose gel electrophoresis. The pET42a(+) plasmid was double-digested using restriction endonucleases NdeI and XhoI in the CutSmart buffer, followed by heat inactivation of the restriction endonucleases. The purified PCR product and the linearized vector were assembled using Gibson assembly protocol. The inserted *pbp2*[M59-S716] gene was confirmed by sequencing (Beckman Coulter Sequencing Facility). *E. coli* NovaBlue strain was used for cloning. Point mutants of *pbp*2[M59-S716] were made with the appropriate in the parent plasmid using QuickChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene). The constructs were confirmed by sequencing.

pbp2[M59-S716] S398G mutant was made using the following primer pair:

5'-CAACAGATCCTCACCCTACTGGT<u>GGA</u>TCTTTAAAACCTTTCTTAGCGTAT-3' and 5'-ATACGCTAAGAAAGGTTTTAAAGA<u>TCC</u>ACCAGTAGGGTGAGGATCTGTTG-3' *pbp2*[M59-S716] P458L mutant was made using the following primer pair: 5'-GACAAAGTTTCAATATC<u>CTA</u>GCTTTAAAAG-3' and 5'-CTTTTAAAGC<u>TAG</u>GATATTGAAACTTTGTC-3' *pbp2*[M59-S716] mutant was made using the following primer pair:

5'-AATGCAGCGAAAGTCGTGTGG-3' and

5'-CCACACGACTTTCGCTGCATT-3' (Mutagenized codon is underlined).

4.7.3 Overexpression and purification of *S. aureus* PBP2 and mutants.

The plasmid encoding *S. aureus* PBP2[M59-S716] collected from the NovaBlue cloning strain was transformed into *E. coli* BL21(DE3) culture for overexpression and purification. A 15 mL culture of *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) harboring the plasmid encoding for *S. aureus* PBP2[M59-S716] grown in LB supplemented with 50 μ g/ mL kanamycin was grown overnight, which was then used to inoculate 1.5 L LB medium (1:100) supplemented with 50 μ g/mL kanamycin. The culture was grown at 37 °C with shaking until OD₆₀₀ reached 0.4-0.5, and then cooled down to 17 °C before induction with 0.5 mM IPTG for 17 h with shaking. Cells were harvested by centrifugation (5250 x g, 20 min, 4 °C) and pellets were resuspended on ice with 30 mL of lysis buffer (10 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1M NaCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 10% v/v glycerol and 40 mM CHAPs) supplemented with 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) and 100 μ g/mL DNase

inhibitor. The resuspended cells were passed through a cell disrupter (3 x 10,000 psi, 4 °C) for three times. The cell lysate was then pelleted by ultracentrifugation (100,000 x g, 30 min, 4 °C). The resulting supernatant containing PBP2[M59-S716] protein was applied to 1.5 mL prewashed Ni-NTA resin (Qiagen) at 4 °C (the Ni-NTA resin was washed with dH₂O and equilibrated with lysis buffer). After collecting flow through (FT), the resin was washed with buffer A (10 mM Tris pH 8.0, 0.2 M NaCl, and 0.28 mM LDAO) to facilitate detergent exchange (20 mL, W1). The resin was then washed with buffer A containing 60 mM imidazole (20 mL, W2). The protein was eluted with buffer A containing increasing imidazole concentrations (10 mL of 100 mM, 200 mM and 500 mM each, E1-E3). The fractions were analyzed on SDS-PAGE electrophoresis. The fractions containing PBP2 protein (E1-E3) were combined and concentrated to ~ 10mg/mL using a 50 kD MWCO Amicon Ultra Centrifuge Filter Device (Millipore). The concentrated PBP2 sample was further purified using size-exclusion chromatography with a Superdex S200 column equilibrated in buffer A. The fractions indicating monomeric protein were combined and concentrated using the 50 kD MWCO Amicon Ultra Centrifuge Filter Device, while the concentration was measured on nanodrop using the calculated extinction coefficient of PBP2 [M59-S716]. The final yield was approximately 10 mg per 1.5 L culture. S. aureus PBP2 [M59-S716] is referred to PBP2 subsequently. PBP2 S398G, PBP2 D606V, PBP2 P458L were purified using the same protocol. Coomassie stained gel and FPLC spectra of purified PBP2 are shown in Figure 4.2.

4.7.4 LC/MS assay analysis of PBP2 TP activity in vitro.

The procedure was modified from our previous report.³⁶ Native *S. aureus* Lipid II in DMSO (40 μ M) was incubated with purified PBP2 (1 μ M) in 1x reaction buffer (50 mM HEPES,

pH 7.5, 10 mM CaCl₂) in a total of 10 μ L reaction volume for 1 h at 25 °C. The reaction was quenched at 95 °C for 5 min, and then treated with mutanolysin (from *Streptomyces globisporus*, Sigma, 1 U) for 1.5 h at 37 °C followed by another 1 U aliquot for 1.5 h. The resulting disaccharides were reduced with sodium borohydride (10 μ L of 10 mg/mL solution, 30 min) to resolve the MurNAc anomers. Phosphoric acid (20%, 1.2 μ L) was then added to adjust the pH to ~4. The reaction mixture was the lyophilized, redissolved in 12 μ L H₂O and subjected to LC/HRMS analysis, conducted with ESI-MS operating in positive mode on a Bruker qTOF mass spectrometer. The instrument was equipped with a Waters Symmetry Shield RP18 column (5 μ M, 3.9 x 150 mm) with a matching column guard. The fragments were separated using the following method: 0.5 mL/min H₂O (0.1% formic acid) for 5 min followed by a gradient of 0% acetonitrile (ACN) (0.1% formic acid)/H₂O (0.1% formic acid) to 40% ACN (0.1% formic acid)/H₂O (0.1% formic acid) over 25 min. Molecular ions corresponding to the expected disaccharide fragments were extracted from chromatograms. The reactions with PBP2 S398G or SgtB were carried out using identical conditions (Figure App3.1).

For substrate specificity studies, the reaction was performed similarly except for native Lipid II replaced by either Gly-Lipid II or Gly₃-Lipid II (Figure 4.5).

4.7.5 Degradation of isolated S. aureus sacculi

Isolation and degradation of *S. aureus* sacculi were modified from a previous reported procedure.³⁷ Briefly, an overnight culture of *S. aureus* (2 mL) was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 5 min. The pellet was resuspended in 1 mL 0.25% SDS in 0.1 M Tris/HCl, pH~7.0, and boiled at 100 °C for 20 min. The suspension was spun down at 10,000 rpm for 5 min, and the pellet was washed with 1.5 mL H₂O for at least three times to remove SDS. The washed pellet was

resuspended in 1 mL H₂O and let to sonicate in a water bath for 30 min, after which, 500 μ L of a solution containing 15 μ g/mL DNase, 60 μ g/mL RNase in 0.1 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8 was added. After shaking at 37 °C for 2 h, the mixture was boiled at 100 °C for 3 min to inactivate enzymes, spun down (5 min, 10,000 rpm) and washed with water once (1 mL). To release wall teichoic acid (WTA), the pellet was suspended in 500 μ L of 1 M HCl and allowed to shake at 37 °C for 4 h. The pellet was spun down (5 min, 10,000 rpm) and washed with water until pH is 5~6. The pellet was resuspended in a 100 μ L digestion buffer of 12.5 mM NaH₂PO₄, pH 5.5, and treated with 10 μ L of mutanolysin (5 U/mL in dH₂O), and allowed to shake at 37 °C for 16 h. After digestion, the sample was boiled at 100 °C for 3 min to inactivate enzymes. The sample was spun down (5 min, 10,000 rpm), and added 50 μ L NaBH₄ (10 mg/mL) at room temperature for 30 min. The sample was adjusted to pH ~4 with 20% phosphoric acid, and lyophilized. The lyophilized materials were resuspended in 500 μ L H₂O, and 20 μ L was used for LC/MS analysis of the muropeptides. The LC/MS condition is the same as above for PBP2 *in vitro* reaction (Figure 4.3).

4.7.6 Western blot analysis of S. aureus PBP2 TP activity

The procedure is similar to the Western blot analysis of Lipid II described in Chapter Two,²² but PBP4 is replaced by PBP2. Briefly, Lipid II (1 μ L of 100 μ M stock in DMSO) was incubated with PBP2 (1 μ L of 10 μ M), BDL (1.5 μ L of 20 mM) and 10x reaction buffer (1 μ L of 500 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 100 mM CaCl₂) to reach a total volume of 10 μ L. The reaction was incubated at room temperature for 15 min, and heat quenched briefly at 100 °C for 1 min. Lysostaphin (0.5 μ L of 1 mg/mL) was added to the reaction mixture to resolve the cross-linked product. The reaction was incubated at 37 °C with shaking for 3 h. To quench the reaction, 10 μ L

of 2x SDS loading buffer was added. 3 μ L of the final mixture was loaded onto a 4-20% gradient polyacrylamide gel and let run at 200 V for 40 min. The products were transferred to Immuno-Blot PVDF membrane (BioRad) at 25V fixed 1.3A variable for 15 min, detected by blotting with streptavidin-HRP (1:10000 dilution, Pierce), and visualized using ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Ambersham) and Biomax Light Film (Kodak). The same reaction sequence was carried out using PBP2 S398G with or without lysostaphin treatment (Figure 4.4 and Figure App3.2a).

4.7.7 Studies on beta-lactam inhibition of PBP2 TP activity

The above gel-based assay for PBP2 TP activity was modified slightly to enable study of beta-lactam inhibition. Briefly, PBP2 (1 μ L of 10 μ M) was pre-incubated with varying concentrations of beta-lactams (0 - 50 μ M) in a reaction mixture containing BDL (1.5 μ L of 20 mM) and 10x reaction buffer (1 μ L of 500 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 100 mM CaCl₂) for 5 min (unless otherwise noted). Lipid extract (1 μ L of 100 μ M stock in DMSO) was then added to the reaction and let to incubate at room temperature for 15 min (unless otherwise noted), and heat quenched briefly at 100 °C for 1 min. Lysostaphin (0.5 μ L of 1 mg/mL) was added to the reaction mixture to resolve the cross-linked product. The reaction was incubated at 37 °C with shaking for 3 h. To quench the reaction, 10 μ L of 2x SDS loading buffer was added. Western blot analysis was performed as described above (Figure 4.4 and Figure App3.2).

4.8 References:

- 1 Vollmer, W.; Blanot, D.; Pedro, M. A. De. Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. *FEMS Microb. Rev.* **2008**, *32* (2), 149-167.
- 2 Pinho, M. G.; Filipe, S. R.; Lencastre, H.; Tomasz, A. Complementation of the essential peptidoglycan transpeptidase function of penicillin-binding protein 2 (PBP2) by the drug resistance protein PBP2A in Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* 2001, *183* (22), 6525-6531.
- 3 Pinho, M. G.; Lencastre, H.; Tomasz, A. An acquired and a native penicillin-binding protein cooperate in building the cell wall of drug-resistant staphylococci. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2001**, *98* (19), 10886-10891.
- 4 Leski, Tomasz A.; Tomasz, Alexander. Role of Penicillin-Binding Protein 2 (PBP2) in the Antibiotic Susceptibility and Cell Wall Cross-Linking of Staphylococcus aureus: Evidence for the Cooperative Functioning of PBP2, PBP4, and PBP2A. *J. Bacteriol.* **2005**, *187* (5), 1815-1824.
- 5 Barrett, D.; Leimkuhler, C.; Chen, L.; Walker, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Kinetic characterization of the glycosyltransferase module of Staphylococcus aureus PBP2. *J. Bacteriol.* **2005**, *187* (6), 2215-2217.
- 6 Barrett, D. S.; Chen, L.; Litterman, N. K.; Walker, S. Expression and characterization of the isolated glycosyltransferase module of Escherichia coli PBP1b. *Biochemistry* **2004**, *43* (38), 12375-12381.
- Wang, T. A.; Manning, S.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Isolated peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases from different organisms produce different glycan chain lengths. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2008, *130* (43), 14068-14069.
- 8 Rebets, Y.; Lupoli, T.; Qiao, Y.; Schirner, K.; Villet, R.; Hooper, D.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Moenomycin resistance mutations in Staphylococcus aureus reduce peptidoglycan chain length and cause aberrant cell division. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *9* (2), 459-467.
- 9 Yuan, Y.; Barrett, D.; Zhang, Y.; Kahne, D.; Sliz, P.; Walker, S. Crystal structure of a peptidoglycan glycosyltransferase suggests a model for processive glycan chain synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2007**, *104* (13), 5348-5353.

- 10 Yuan, Y.; Fuse, S. ; Ostash, B.; Sliz, P.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Structural analysis of the contacts anchoring moenomycin to peptidoglycan glycosyltransferases and implications for antibiotic design. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2008**, *3* (7), 429-436.
- 11 Lovering, A. L.; Castro, L.; Lim, D.; Strynadka, N. C. J. Structural insight into the transglycosylation step of bacterial cell-wall biosynthesis. *Science* 2007, *315* (5817), 1402-1405.
- 12 Massova, I.; Mobashery, S. Kinship and diversification of bacterial penicillin-binding proteins and beta-lactamases. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1998**, *42* (1), 1-17.
- 13 Nadarajah, J.; Lee, M. J.; Louie, L.; Jacob, L.; Simor, A. E.; Louie, M.; McGavin, M. J. Identification of different clonal complexes and diverse amino acid substitutions in penicillin-binding protein 2 (PBP2) associated with borderline oxacillin resistance in Canadian Staphylococcus aureus isolates. *J. Med. Microbiol.* 2006, 55 (12), 1675-1683.
- 14 Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; Doud, E. H.; Wang, T. A.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Transpeptidase-mediated incorporation of D-amino acids into bacterial peptidoglycan. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133 (28), 10748-10751.
- 15 Born, P.; Breukink, E.; Vollmer, W. In vitro synthesis of cross-linked murein and its attachment to sacculi by PBP1A from Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281* (37), 26985-26993.
- 16 Waxman, D. J.; Strominger, J. L. Penicillin-binding proteins and the mechanism of action of beta-lactam antibiotics. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **1983**, *52* (1), 825-869.
- 17 Spratt, B. G. The mechanism of action of mecillinam. *J. Antimcrob. Chemother.* **1977**, *3* (suppl B), 13-19.
- 18 Okonog, K.; Noji, Y.; Nakao, M.; Imada, A. The possible physiological roles of penicillinbinding proteins of methicillin-susceptible and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *J Infect. Chemother.* **1995**, *1* (1), 50-58.
- 19 Chambers, H. F.; Miick, C. Characterization of penicillin-binding protein 2 of Staphylococcus aureus: deacylation reaction and identification of two penicillin-binding peptides. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1992**, *36* (3), 656-661.

- 20 Georgopapadakou, N. H.; Liu, F. Y. Binding of beta-lactam antibiotics to penicillin-binding proteins of Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus faecalis: relation to antibacterial activity. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1980**, *18* (5), 834-836.
- 21 Sonoda, Y.; Newstead, S.; Hu, N.; Alguel, Y.; Nji, E.; Beis, K.; Yashiro, S.; Lee, C.; Leung, J.; Cameron, A. D.; Byrne, B.; Iwata, S.; Drew, D. Benchmarking membrane protein detergent stability for improving throughput of high-resolution X-ray structures. *Structure* 2011, 19 (1), 17-25.
- 22 Qiao, Y.; Lebar, M. D.; Schirner, K.; Schaefer, K.; Tsukamoto, H.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. Detection of lipid-Linked peptidoglycan precursors by exploiting an unexpected transpeptidase reaction. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (42), 14678-14681.
- 23 Lebar, M. D.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; May, J. M.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Forming cross-linked peptidoglycan from synthetic Gram-negative Lipid II. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135* (12), 4632-4635.
- 24 Lebar, M. D.; May, J. M.; Meeske, A. J.; Leiman, S. A.; Lupoli, T. J.; Tsukamoto, H.; Losick, R.; Rudner, D. Z.; Walker, S.; Kahne, D. Reconstitution of peptidoglycan crosslinking leads to improved fluorescent probes of cell wall synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2014, *136* (31), 10874-10877.
- 25 Helassa, N.; Vollmer, W.; Breukink, E.; Vernet, T.; Zapun, A. The membrane anchor of penicillin-binding protein PBP2a from Streptococcus pneumoniae influences peptidoglycan chain length. *FEBS J.* **2012**, *279* (11), 2071-2081.
- 26 Zapun, A.; Philippe, J.; Abrahams, K. A.; Signor, L.; Roper, D. I.; Breukink, E.; Vernet, T. In vitro reconstitution of peptidoglycan assembly from the Gram-positive pathogen Streptococcus pneumoniae. ACS Chem. Biol. 2013, 8 (12), 2688-2696.
- 27 Sabala, I.; Jagielska, E.; Bardelang, P. T.; Czapinska, H.; Dahms, S. O.; Sharpe, J. A.; James, R.; Than, M. E.; Thomas, N. R.; Bochtler, M. Crystal structure of the antimicrobial peptidase lysostaphin from Staphylococcus simulans. *FEBS J.* **2014**, *281* (18), 4112-4122.
- 28 Spratt, B. G. Properties of the penicillin-binding proteins of Escherichia coli K12. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1977**, *72* (2), 341-352.
- 29 Roychoudhury, S.; Kaiser, R. E.; Brems, D. N.; Yeh, W. K. Specific interactions between beta-lactams and soluble penicillin-binding proteins 2a from methicillin-resistant
Staphylococcus aureus: development of a chromogenic assay. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1996**, *40* (9), 2075-2079.

- 30 Moisan, Hélène; Pruneau, Mireille; Malouin, François. Binding of ceftaroline to penicillinbinding proteins of Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J. Antimicrob. Chemo.* **2010**, *65* (4), 713-716.
- 31 Hashizume, T.; Park, W.; Matsuhashi, M. The affinity of imipenem (N-formimidoylthienamycin) for the penicillin-binding proteins of Staphylococcus aureus-binding and release. *J. Antibiot. (Tokyo)* **1984**, *37* (9), 1049-1053.
- 32 Schneider, T.; Senn, M. M.; Berger-Bächi, B.; Tossi, A.; Sahl, H. G.; Wiedemann, I. In vitro assembly of a complete, pentaglycine interpeptide bridge containing cell wall precursor (lipid II-Gly5) of Staphylococcus aureus. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2004**, *53* (2), 675-685.
- 33 Strandén, A. M.; Ehlert, K.; Labischinski, H.; Berger-Bächi, B. Cell wall monoglycine cross-bridges and methicillin hypersusceptibility in a femAB null mutant of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *J. Bacteriol.* **1997**, *179* (1), 9-16.
- 34 Bouley, R.; Kumarasiri, M.; Peng, Z.; Otero, L. H.; Song, W.; Suckow, M. A.; Schroeder, V. A.; Wolter, W. R.; Lastochkin, E.; Antunes, N. T.; Pi, H.; Vakulenko, S.; Hermoso, J. A.; Chang, M.; Mobashery, S. Discovery of antibiotic (E)-3-(3-carboxyphenyl)-2-(4-cyanostyryl)quinazolin-4(3H)-one. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2015, *137* (5), 1738-1741.
- Banzhaf, M; van den Berg, V.; Saparoea, B.; Terrak, M.; Fraipont, C.; Egan, A. J.; Philippe, J.; Zapun, A.; Breukink, E.; Nguyen-Distèhe, M.; den Blaauwen, T.; Vollmer, W. Cooperativity of peptidoglycan synthases active in bacterial cell elongation. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2012, *85* (1), 179-194.
- 36 Lebar, Matthew D.; Lupoli, Tania J.; Tsukamoto, Hirokazu; May, Janine M.; Walker, Suzanne; Kahne, Daniel. Forming Cross-Linked Peptidoglycan from Synthetic Gram-Negative Lipid II. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2013**, 135 (12), 4632-4635.
- 37 Kühner, Daniel; Stahl, Mark; Demircioglu, Dogan D.; Bertsche, Ute. From cells to muropeptide structures in 24 h: Peptidoglycan mapping by UPLC-MS. *Sci Rep* 2014, *4*

Appendix One: Mass spectrometry (MS) analysis for studies in Chapter Two



Figure App1.1. S. arureus PBP4 shows TP activity in vitro. LC/MS chromatograms showing oligoglycine incorporation by S. aureus PBP4.



Figure App1.2. *S. arureus* PBP4 shows TP activity *in vitro*. LC/MS chromatograms showing D-amino acid incorporation by *S. ausreus* PBP4.



Figure App1.3. Analysis of *S. aureus* PBP4 activities at varying concentrations of D-Tyr nucleophile.



Figure App1.4. *S. aureus* PBP4 efficiently incorporates D-amino acids into *m*-Dap-Lipid II and Lys-Lipid II *in vitro*.



Figure App.1.5. *S. aureus* PBP4 incorporates functionalized D-amino acids into Lys-Lipid I and Lys-Lipid II *in vitro*.

Appendix Two: NMR and MS data for compounds in Chapter Three



Figure App2.1. ¹H NMR of Boc-L-Ala-D-isoGln-OH.



Figure App2.2. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (1).



Figure App2.3. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (**3**).



Figure App2.4. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (**4**).



Figure App2.5. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (**5**).



Figure App2.6. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (**6**).



Figure App2.7. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (**7**).



Figure App2.8. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Cbz-D-isoGln(Trt)-OH.



Figure App2.9. ¹H NMR of Boc-L-Ala-D-*iso*Gln(Trt)-L-Lys(Cbz)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (9).



Figure App2.10. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-NH₂)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (**10**).



Figure App2.11. ¹H NMR (top) and LRMS (bottom) of Boc-L-Lys(-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-Gly-TFA)-D-Ala-D-Ala-OMe (11).



Figure App2.12. LRMS of protected Gly-Lipid I.



Figure App2.13. LRMS of Gly-Lipid I (12).







lon	Theoretical	Observed	Relative Error ppm
[M-H]-	1454.7610	1454.7603	0.48
[M-2H]2-	726.8769	726.8769	0

Figure App2.14. HRMS of Gly-Lipid I (12).



Figure App2.15. LRMS of protected Gly₃-Lipid I.



Figure App2.16. LRMS of Gly₃-Lipid I (13).



lon	Theoretical	Observed	Relative Error ppm
[M-H]-	1568.8039	1568.8019	1.2 ppm
[M-2H]2-	783.8983	783.8987	0.5 ppm

Figure App2.17. HRMS of Gly₃-Lipid I (13).



Figure App2.18. LRMS of protected Gly₅-Lipid I (14).



lon	Theoretical	Observed	Relative Error
[M-2H]2-	828.4165	828.4146	2.29 ppm



Figure App2.19. HRMS of Gly-Lipid II (15).



lon	Theoretical	Observed	Relative Error
[M-2H]2-	885.4380	885.4347	3.72 ppm



Figure App2.20. HRMS of Gly₃-Lipid II (16).



Figure App2.21. LC/MS/MS of delipidated *S. aureus* Lipid II.



Figure App2.22. Estimation of the amount of *S. aureus* Lipid II isolated from cells. Synthetic Lys-Lipid was used as a standard. **a)** Known amount of Lys-Lipid II was mixed with the *S. aureus* Lipid II sample for lipid cleavage and LC/MS analysis. A Lys-Lipid II standard curve was used to calculate *S. aureus* Lipid II concentration. The following equation was used: amount of *S. aureus* Lipid II = concentration x volume x Mw of *S. aureus* Lipid II. In this manner, 300 µg *S. aureus* Lipid II (from 1 L culture) was estimated. **b)** Serial dilutions of *S. aureus* Lipid II and Lys-Lipid II samples were prepared, biotinylated, and subjected to Western blot analysis. The band intensity was quantified on ImageJ. The standard curve of Lys-Lipid II was used to calculate the concentration of *S. aureus* Lipid II sample. 800 µg Lipid II (from 1 L culture) was estimated. **c)** *S. aureus* Lipid II appeared to contain predominant one species on TLC. Cerium Ammonium Molybdate (CAM) stain was used.



Figure App2.23. LC/MS analysis of delipidated Lipid II from different bacteria: Δ*femA S. aureus*; Δ*femB S. aureus*; *B. subtilis*; *E. faecalis*

Appendix Three: MS and Western blots data for studies in Chapter Four



Figure App3.1. The TP domain of *S. aureus* PBP2 is responsible for PG cross-linking. *S. aureus* PBP2 TP inactive mutant (S398G) and SgtB, a monofunctional glycosyltransferase, do not produce dimer muropeptide products.



Figure App3.2. Beta-lactams inhibit *S. aureus* PBP2 TP activity *in vitro*. (a) The cross-linking and BDLlabeling are both specific to the TP activity of PBP2. PBP2 S398G (TP inactive mutant) shows no activity in the presence or absence of lysostaphin. (b-c) Structures of beta-lactams and their inhibitory activities of PBP2. (d) PBP2 mutants demonstrate altered TP activities in the presence of specific beta-lactams.